Public Document Pack

A Meeting of the PLANNING COMMITTEE will be held
virtually on WEDNESDAY 8 JULY 2020 AT 7.00 PM

Susan Parsonage
Chief Executive
Published on 30 June 2020
This meeting will be filmed for inclusion on the Council’s
website.
Note: The Council has made arrangements under the
Coronavirus Act 2020 to hold the meeting virtually via Team
Meetings, the meeting can be watched live at the following
link: https://youtu.be/s4ya2MZPxxk
Please note that other people may film, record, tweet or blog
from this meeting. The use of these images or recordings is
not under the Council’s control.

Our Vision
A great place to live, learn, work and grow and a great place to do business

Enriching Lives







Champion outstanding education and enable our children and young people to achieve their full
potential, regardless of their background.
Support our residents to lead happy, healthy lives and provide access to good leisure facilities to
complement an active lifestyle.
Engage and involve our communities through arts and culture and create a sense of identity which
people feel part of.
Support growth in our local economy and help to build business.
Safe, Strong, Communities
Protect and safeguard our children, young and vulnerable people.
Offer quality care and support, at the right time, to prevent the need for long term care.
Nurture communities and help them to thrive.
Ensure our borough and communities remain safe for all.






Do all we can to become carbon neutral and sustainable for the future.
Protect our borough, keep it clean and enhance our green areas.
Reduce our waste, improve biodiversity and increase recycling.
Connect our parks and open spaces with green cycleways.




Offer quality, affordable, sustainable homes fit for the future.
Build our fair share of housing with the right infrastructure to support and enable our borough to
grow.
Protect our unique places and preserve our natural environment.
Help with your housing needs and support people to live independently in their own homes.





A Clean and Green Borough

Right Homes, Right Places




Keeping the Borough Moving





Maintain and improve our roads, footpaths and cycleways.
Tackle traffic congestion, minimise delays and disruptions.
Enable safe and sustainable travel around the borough with good transport infrastructure.
Promote healthy alternative travel options and support our partners to offer affordable, accessible
public transport with good network links.

Changing the Way We Work for You





Be relentlessly customer focussed.
Work with our partners to provide efficient, effective, joined up services which are focussed around
you.
Communicate better with you, owning issues, updating on progress and responding appropriately
as well as promoting what is happening in our Borough.
Drive innovative digital ways of working that will connect our communities, businesses and
customers to our services in a way that suits their needs.

MEMBERSHIP OF THE PLANNING COMMITTEE
Councillors
Simon Weeks (Chairman)
Gary Cowan
Abdul Loyes
Angus Ross

ITEM
NO.

WARD

Chris Bowring (ViceChairman)
Carl Doran
Andrew Mickleburgh
Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey

Stephen Conway
Pauline Jorgensen
Malcolm Richards

SUBJECT

1.

APOLOGIES
To receive any apologies for absence.

2.

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
To confirm the Minutes of the Meeting held on 13 May
2020, and the minutes of the extraordinary meeting
held on 21 May 2020.

3.

DECLARATION OF INTEREST
To receive any declaration of interest

4.

APPLICATIONS TO BE DEFERRED AND
WITHDRAWN ITEMS
To consider any recommendations to defer
applications from the schedule and to note any
applications that may have been withdrawn.

PAGE
NO.

5 - 30

5.

Bulmershe and
Whitegates

APPLICATION NO.200893 - 15 THE DRIVE,
EARLEY, RG6 1EG
Recommendation: Conditional approval

31 - 54

6.

Swallowfield

APPLICATION NO.200888 - LAMBS FARM
BUSINESS PARK, BASINGSTOKE ROAD,
SWALLOWFIELD
Recommendation: Conditional approval

55 - 86

7.

Remenham,
Wargrave and
Ruscombe

APPLICATION NO.193392 - STAR WORKS, STAR
LANE, KNOWL HILL
Recommendation: Conditional approval

87 - 118

8.

Winnersh

APPLICATION NO.200856 - WINNERSH TRIANGLE
CAR PARK, WHARFDALE ROAD, WINNERSH
Recommendation: Conditional approval

119 - 146

9.

Norreys

APPLICATION NO.200985 - CANTLEY PARK
RECREATION GROUND, NORREYS
Recommendation: Conditional approval

147 - 184

10.

Wescott

APPLICATION NO.201050 - ALEXANDRA HOUSE,
ALEXANDRA COURT, WOKINGHAM
Recommendation: Conditional approval

185 - 204

Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent
A Supplementary Agenda will be issued by the Chief Executive if there are any
other items to consider under this heading.

GLOSSARY OF TERMS
The following abbreviations were used in the above Index and in reports.
C/A
CIL
R
LB
S106
F
MU
RM
VAR
PS
Category

Conditional Approval (grant planning permission)
Community Infrastructure Levy
Refuse (planning permission)
(application for) Listed Building Consent
Section 106 legal agreement between Council and applicant in accordance
with the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
(application for) Full Planning Permission
Members’ Update circulated at the meeting
Reserved Matters not approved when Outline Permission previously granted
Variation of a condition/conditions attached to a previous approval
Performance Statistic Code for the Planning Application

Callum Wernham
Tel
Email
Postal Address

CONTACT OFFICER
Democratic & Electoral Services Specialist
0118 974 6059
democratic.services@wokingham.gov.uk
Civic Offices, Shute End, Wokingham, RG40 1BN

Agenda Item 2.
MINUTES OF A VIRTUAL MEETING OF THE
PLANNING COMMITTEE
HELD ON 13 MAY 2020 FROM 7.00 PM TO 9.37 PM
Committee Members Present
Councillors: Simon Weeks (Chairman), Chris Bowring (Vice-Chairman), Stephen Conway,
Gary Cowan, Carl Doran, Pauline Jorgensen, Abdul Loyes, Andrew Mickleburgh,
Malcolm Richards, Angus Ross and Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey
Officers Present
Judy Kelly, Highways Development Manager
Mary Severin, Borough Solicitor
Justin Turvey, Operational Manager – Development Management
Callum Wernham, Democratic & Electoral Services Specialist
Case Officers Present
Mark Croucher
Andrew Fletcher
Natalie Jarman
Senjuti Manna
Brian O'Donovan
101. APOLOGIES
There were no apologies for absence.
102. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
The Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 11 March 2020 were confirmed as a
correct record, to be signed physically at a later date, subject to the following minor
clarification:
Item 95: RESOLVED That application number 193059 be approved, subject to conditions
and informatives as set out in agenda pages 16 to 22, and additional three conditions as
resolved by the Committee (delegating officers to assess a reasonable vehicle weight
limit and condition it to the subject application site; 2m boundary fence; and an 8am
opening time).
103. DECLARATION OF INTEREST
There were no declarations of interest.
104. APPLICATIONS TO BE DEFERRED AND WITHDRAWN ITEMS
There were no applications recommended for deferral, or withdrawn.
105.

APPLICATION NO.192280 - LAND TO THE REAR OF 20 & 22 STATION ROAD,
TWYFORD, BERKSHIRE, RG10 9NT
Proposal: Full application for the erection of a 1No bed two storey dwelling following
demolition of existing workshop
Applicant: Mr Ray Cook
The Committee received and reviewed a report, set out in agenda pages 17 to 56.

5

The Committee were advised that there were no Members’ Updates.
In line with the given deadlines, two public written submissions were received for this item.
These submissions were circulated to Members in advance, and noted on the evening. A
summary of the submissions can be found below.
Selena Durrant, neighbour, provided a submission objecting to the application. Selena
stated that the subject application was situated towards the rear of her property, alongside
her garden. Selena added that her personal view, and the view of her family, had not
changed since the subject application was first submitted. Selena stated that the Twyford
conservation area was unique, and included special architectural and historical aspects.
Selena was of the opinion that the development of the garages was completely wrong for
the conservation area, which residents and the Council should be working together to
protect and maintain. Selena added that the modern design of the proposals were not in
keeping with conservation area, and did not enhance the conservation area. Selena stated
that any loss of parking spaces would only add to the existing poor situation in the area,
creating further friction within the community which would lead to anti-social behaviour.
Selena added that the close proximity of the development would encroach on her family’s
right to privacy, with any owner or occupier of the proposed development being able to see
directly into the rooms at the rear of her house, particularly affecting the privacy of her
young son whose bedroom is at the rear of the property. Selena concluded by stating that
the proposals would result in a life changing impact on her family’s lives.
Thomas Rumble, agent, provided a statement in support of the application. Thomas stated
that at the March Committee, he mentioned a previous Inspector’s decision that
established important parameters for how this application should be considered. Thomas
added that the Inspector referred to the site’s existing negative contribution to the Twyford
Station Conservation Area (‘CA’) and this brownfield site’s highly accessible and
sustainable location. Thomas commented that the Inspector also identified that a
contemporary design forms an approach that would be far better than a pastiche of the
existing nearby buildings. Thomas stated that the Inspector had previously found two
revisions that should be made to the scheme’s design, namely a glazed first floor and the
first floor being realigned by half a metre to be in line with its neighbour. Thomas stated
that both of these revisions were included within the scheme before the Committee.
Thomas added that the Inspector did not consider the amenity space to be in conflict with
the development plan or design guide. Thomas stated that the development would release
a new property appropriate, for example, to a first-time buyer and removed an existing
workshop use inappropriate to its surrounding residential environment. Thomas was of the
opinion that refusal of this would unduly delay a scheme that is development plan
compliant and appropriate in its overall design, having made revisions as suggested by the
previous planning Inspector. Thomas concluded that the scheme before the Committee
was a sensitive, contemporary dwelling on a brownfield site; a new property in a
sustainable location; was wholly consistent with the clear advice of the Inspector; and was
supported by the Borough’s planning officers.
Justin Turvey, Operational Manager – Development Management, reminded the
Committee that a previous scheme was refused by the Inspector, however the Inspector
had offered advice to the appellant which had now been followed. Given how clear the
guidance from the Inspector had been, it would be difficult to refuse the application.
Judy Kelly, Highways Development Manager, stated that a small portion of the brick wall
was proposed to be removed to improve manoeuvrability for car parking. Judy added that

6

there were no highways concerns with this application and access would be made easier
as a result of the proposals.
Members were asked in turn for any comments or queries on this application. Specific
comments or queries are summarised below.
Stephen Conway commented that Wokingham Borough Council’s (WBC’s) own
conservation Officer had consistently objected to all versions of this application. On that
basis, having the expert advice to refer to, Stephen proposed that the application be
refused on two grounds, firstly on the basis that the proposed dwelling would overlook the
neighbouring dwelling, and secondly that the proposal would disturb the harmony of the
street scene and would not enhance or protect the historic Twyford conservation area.
Pauline Jorgensen commented that she would second this proposal.
Justin Turvey stated that the separation distance was 11.7m, where 12m was required by
guidance. However, the separation distance had not changed from the previous
application and it was not considered an issue by the Inspector. The flank window could be
conditioned to be obscure glazed, and therefore the first proposed reason for refusal could
be overcome by condition. With regards to the second proposed refusal reason, the
conservation officer had objected to the previous scheme and these comments had been
dismissed by the Inspector. If refused, it could be seen as unreasonable behaviour at a
future appeal.
Mary Severin, Borough Solicitor, stated that officers were trying to avoid what could be
seen as an unreasonable behaviour by refusing this scheme when the applicant had met
the alterations to the scheme as suggested by the Inspector. It was possible that a costs
application could be made against WBC in this scenario.
Pauline Jorgensen commented that it was strange to have a conservation officer’s
professional opinion seemingly ignored. Pauline added that a considerable amount of
obscure glass would be needed to overcome the overlooking element. Pauline queried
whether the parking spaces were currently used, and whether they met WBC standards.
Judy Kelly stated that the spaces were used currently, and the removal of part of the wall
would help with manoeuvrability. The spaces met WBC parking standards.
Gary Cowan commented that the Inspector had made comments based on the scheme’s
design, and not on policy elements. Gary added that the WBC conservation officer had
made many comments which could not be ignored. Gary stated that if approved, the
scheme would destroy the fabric of the conservation area. Gary was of the opinion that the
scheme was completely unacceptable.
Carl Doran commented that the conservation officer opposed the scheme, as did the Ward
Members, as did WBC planning officers on the original scheme. Carl added that the
amenity space was also under standard, and the amount of obscure glazing required
would only make the proposal more out of keeping with the conservation area.
Abdul Loyes commented that it was difficult to refuse the scheme as it was very likely that
WBC would get challenged by the Inspector.
Andrew Mickleburgh commented that he could not see how the proposals would not harm
the conservation area in addition to being contrary to planning policies. Andrew sought
clarification as to whether the building line issue had been fully addressed. Justin Turvey

7

stated that the first floor level was now proposed to be set back by a further 0.5m. The
ground level building line was no different to the line of the current garages.
Malcolm Richards commented that on balance, he was minded to refuse this application.
Malcolm added that the parking issues had been addressed in addition to the two points
raised by the Inspector, however the designs were still out of keeping with the
conservation area, as referred to by the conservation officer.
Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey commented that the Inspector was happy with the design, and
WBC were very likely to lose this case at appeal given the applicant had addressed the
Inspector’s concerns.
Stephen Conway queried how the obscure glazing flank could be added as a condition
should the scheme be refused and subsequently be sent to appeal. Justin Turvey stated
that officers would ask that the flank windows, from 1.8m, be obscure glazed at appeal.
Justin added that if officers thought there was a reasonable chance of a successful
defence at appeal, this scheme would have been refused under delegated powers.
Stephen Conway withdrew the overlooking reason for refusal, and proposed that the
scheme be refused for the following reason (the wording was advised by the Operational
Manager – Development Management): The proposed development by reason of its stark
form, siting and discordant design within the street scene would result in significant
harmful impact on the character of the area, failing to preserve or enhance the special
architectural and historic character and appearance of the Conservation Area. The
proposed development is contrary to Policy CP1, CP3 of the Core Strategy and TB24 of
the MDD Local Plan, the Borough Design Guide SPD and the NPPF. This was seconded
by Pauline Jorgensen and put to the vote.
RESOLVED That application number 192280 be refused, as the proposed development
by reason of its stark form, siting and discordant design within the street scene would
result in significant harmful impact on the character of the area, failing to preserve or
enhance the special architectural and historic character and appearance of the
Conservation Area; the proposed development is contrary to Policy CP1, CP3 of the Core
Strategy and TB24 of the MDD Local Plan, the Borough Design Guide SPD and the NPPF.
106.

APPLICATION NO.193047 - GTO HOUSE, FLORAL MILE, BATH ROAD, HARE
HATCH, RG10 9ES
Proposal: Full application for the proposed erection of a workshop including associated
office accommodation and storage following demolition of existing outbuildings
Applicant: Mr Lyon
The Committee received and reviewed a report, set out in agenda pages 57 to 78.
The Committee were advised that the Members’ Update included:



Confirmation that the overall volume increase on site would be net zero, as the other
buildings on site were due to be demolished;
The previous appeal decision.

Simon Weeks commented that some Committee Members would have visited this site
previously. Simon added that the current proposals were now single storey, well set back

8

from the road, and there was clear guidance from the Inspector’s report with regards to
this application.
Members were asked in turn for any comments or queries on this application. Specific
comments or queries are summarised below.
Carl Doran queried whether additional landscaping would be required on site, and whether
condition 2 would restrict the usage of the outside area of the site. Mark Croucher, case
officer, stated that additional landscaping would not be required as there was already
sufficient screening from the Bath Road and the standard landscape plan would suffice.
With regards to usage of the outside area of the building, Mark stated that the previous
owners had used this area for storage, however it would not be appropriate for the outside
areas to be used for more general B2.
Abdul Loyes asked for clarification as to whether car breaking could be allowed on site
under the proposed B2 classification. Justin Turvey, Team Manager (Development &
Regeneration), stated that car breaking would solely be a suis generis use which would
not be covered under B2. In addition, the owner restored classic cars in a forensic and
calculated operation, and it was very unlikely that any car breaking would be considered
within this operation.
Andrew Mickleburgh whether any additional parking spaces would be required on site, and
whether additional screening would be required on parts of the site away from the
entrance. Mark Croucher stated that the proposed 20 additional staff would be
accommodated by the existing car parking on site, which currently had a good amount of
extra capacity above 20 spaces. Mark stated that the proposals amounted to a relatively
discreet development and it was felt that additional landscaping would not be required.
Malcolm Richards asked for further clarification with regards to the demolition condition.
Mark Croucher clarified that occupation of the proposed building could not take place until
the other building had been demolished.
RESOLVED That application number 193047 be approved, subject to conditions and
informatives as set out in agenda pages 57 to 62, and subject to completion of a legal
agreement.
107.

APPLICATION NO.193356 - BALCOMBE NURSERIES, BASINGSTOKE ROAD,
SWALLOWFIELD, RG7 1PY
Proposal: Full application for the erection of 5 No detached dwellings, one with separate
garage and four dwellings with internal garages. Associated landscaping works including
one balancing pond. 2 No accesses with entrance gates and 1.2m post and rail fencing
Applicant: Woodridge Developments
The Committee received and reviewed a report about this application, set out in agenda
pages 79 to 114.
The Committee were advised that there were no Members’ Updates.
Members were asked in turn for any comments or queries on this application. Specific
comments or queries are summarised below.

9

Gary Cowan queried whether this specific application had taken into account the
comments of the current AWE leadership, or the comments of the former AWE leadership.
Justin Turvey, Operational Manager – Development Management, stated that further
consultation may be required in the future, however based on current legislation it was
unlikely that the scheme was unacceptable. The scheme before Members had taken into
account the consultation responses previously received relating to this scheme.
Simon Weeks proposed that the legal agreement have a timescale of three months
imposed upon it, unless agreed by the head of development management and the Chair of
the Planning Committee. This was put to Committee Members and agreed.
RESOLVED That application number 193356 be approved, subject to conditions and
informatives as set out in agenda pages 80 to 87, subject to satisfactory completion of a
legal agreement within three months unless agreed by the head of development
management and the Chair of the Planning Committee.
108. APPLICATION NO.193422 - LAKE LODGE, WARGRAVE ROAD, WARGRAVE
Proposal: Full planning application for the proposed change of use from
agricultural to personal leisure use including erection of summer
house. (retrospective)
Applicant: Mr Justin Fletcher
The Committee received and reviewed a report, set out in agenda pages 115 to 132.
The Committee were advised that there were no Members’ Update.
Members were asked in turn for any comments or queries on this application. Specific
comments or queries are summarised below.
Pauline Jorgensen queried whether the summer house could be used as a form of
permanent or semi-permanent residential accommodation. Brian O’Donovan, case officer,
clarified that the proposals did not include permission for residential accommodation. The
applicant would be required to apply for a change of use permission if they wished to use
the dwelling as residential accommodation.
A number of Members commented that it was regrettable that this application had come to
Committee as a retrospective application.
RESOLVED That application number 193422 be approved, subject to conditions and
informatives as set out in agenda pages 116 to 117.
109. APPLICATION NO.200323 - ASHRIDGE MANOR GARDEN CENTRE, BINFIELD
Proposal: Full planning application for the erection of a single storey
extension to the sales area to include 2No roller doors and 2No security doors
Applicant: Ashridge Manor Garden Centre
The Committee received and reviewed a report, set out in agenda pages 133 to 152.
The Committee were advised that there were no Members’ Updates.

10

Members were asked in turn for any comments or queries on this application. Specific
comments or queries are summarised below.
Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey queried where the proposed extension would be situated on
the site. Brian O’Donovan, case officer, stated that the extension was to be located on the
southernmost point of the site.
RESOLVED That application number 200323 be approved, subject to conditions and
informatives as set out in agenda pages 133 to 134.
110. FOOTPATH 20 HURST DIVERSION
Proposal: Diversion Order Hurst Footpath 20
Applicant: St. Nicholas Hurst C of E Primary School
The Committee received and reviewed a report, set out in agenda pages 153 to 160.
The Committee were advised that the Members’ Update included:



Clarification that Wokingham Borough Council (WBC) were the landowners of the
playing field where the footpath ran, and the WBC commercial property team were in
support of the proposals;
The stile at Point E on Plan No. 1 had now been removed by the School.

Members were asked in turn for any comments or queries on this application. Specific
comments or queries are summarised below.
Simon Weeks queried whether all gates could accommodate wheelchairs and buggies.
Andrew Fletcher, case officer, clarified that the proposals were compliant to accommodate
both wheelchairs and buggies.
Andrew Mickleburgh queried whether the school was happy with the removal of the top
fence rail, with regards to safeguarding. Andrew Fletcher stated that the removal of the top
fence rail had been proposed by the open spaces society. These proposals had been
agreed in conjunction with the school.
Malcolm Richards queried whether approval of this footpath would nullify the existing
footpath. Andrew Fletcher confirmed that if approved, the existing rights would be removed
and the new lines would be officially added.
A number of Members commented that they were pleased that the proposals increased
the safety of children at the school and safeguarding measures.
RESOLVED That the diversion order be made, subject to the points contained within the
recommendation set out in agenda pages 153 to 154.

11

This page is intentionally left blank

MINUTES OF A VIRTUAL MEETING OF THE
PLANNING COMMITTEE
HELD ON 21 MAY 2020 FROM 7.00 PM TO 10.08 PM
Committee Members Present
Councillors: Simon Weeks (Chairman), Chris Bowring (Vice-Chairman), Stephen Conway,
Gary Cowan, Carl Doran, Pauline Jorgensen, Abdul Loyes, Andrew Mickleburgh,
Malcolm Richards, Angus Ross and Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey
Officers Present
Judy Kelly, Highways Development Manager
Mary Severin, Borough Solicitor
Justin Turvey, Operational Manager – Development Management
Callum Wernham, Democratic & Electoral Services Specialist
Case Officers Present
Adriana Gonzalez
Kayleigh Mansfield
Brian O'Donovan
Baldeep Pulahi
Simon Taylor
111. APOLOGIES
There were no apologies.
MEMBERS' UPDATE
There are a number of references to the Members’ Update within these minutes. The
Members’ Update was made available to Members prior to the meeting via email, and
placed on the website for the public to view. A copy is available on the website.
112. DECLARATION OF INTEREST
Gary Cowan declared a prejudicial interest in item number 114, application number
193339, on the basis that he may have made a predetermination with regards to this
application. Gary stated that he would take no part in the discussion or vote for this item.
Chris Bowring declared a prejudicial interest in item number 114, application number
193339, on the basis that his wife was a Member of the spa. Chris stated that he would
take no part in the discussion or vote for this item.
Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey declared a prejudicial interest in item number 114, application
number 193339, on the basis that she was a Member of the spa. Rachelle stated that she
would take no part in the discussion or vote for this item.
113. APPLICATIONS TO BE DEFERRED AND WITHDRAWN ITEMS
No applications were recommended for deferral, or withdrawn.

13

114.

APPLICATION NO.193339 - NIRVANA SPA MOLE ROAD, SINDLESHAM,
WOKINGHAM, RG41 5DJ
Councillors Chris Bowring, Gary Cowan and Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey declared
prejudicial interests relating to this item and took no part in the discussion or vote.
Proposal: Full application for the proposed erection of a two storey detached building to
provide 70 no. bedroom hotel accommodation ancillary to spa (Use Class C1)
incorporating replacement gym, ancillary facilities and outside swimming pool, with
associated car parking and soft landscaping, following demolition of existing 'Pulse 8' gym
building.
Applicant: Mr S Barley
The Committee received and reviewed a report, set out in agenda pages 5 to 42.
The Committee were advised that the Members’ Update included:



Various amendments to conditions 3, 14, 20, 21, 22 and 25;
A verbal update, not included within the published Members’ Update, to state that
recommendation A be amended to: A) Completion of a legal agreement within three
months, unless a longer date is agreed by the Planning Service Manager and
Chairman of Planning Committee, to secure an Employment Skills Plan, and……

In line with the given deadlines, two public written submissions were received for this item.
These submissions were circulated to Members in advance, and noted on the evening.
The submissions as provided can be found below.
Emily Temple Agent, provided the following submission in support of the application.
“Thank you Chairman, and good evening.
The application before you seeks ancillary overnight accommodation to serve the existing
Nirvana Spa. The proposal comes as a result of a few factors; 1) combining on site gym
facilities with the spa to ensure ongoing viability, as the existing ‘Pulse 8’ gym membership
was not sufficient to sustain the enterprise. 2) Widening the market appeal of the very
successful spa, especially the bespoke salt water treatments and rehabilitation
programmes, and 3) retain and increase local employment opportunities.
The current proposals are the result of extensive pre-application discussions with planning
officers, responding to their advice in both the design and suite of technical and
environment reports submitted. This includes replacement gym floor area so there is no
net reduction from ‘Pulse 8’; a two storey height (plus basement) to better reflect the lower
ridge of the existing spa complex, and design detailing such as the arched windows, to
reflect existing.
To be clear, this is not a stand-alone ‘hotel’ development. It is not for independent
weddings or conferences, and the proposed floorplans should provide reassurance of this.
The existing spa already provides ancillary dining to members, and the proposed café and
restaurant are an extension of these facilities for those who book to stay overnight to use
the spa facilities.
Parking layouts have been revised to accommodate increased numbers, whilst
maintaining safe flow and pedestrian safety around the site. Deliveries are now accessed
from an existing entrance off Harrow Way, eliminating turning and waiting in front of

14

existing residential properties. This, combined with the movement of built development
away from the boundary fence, and an enhanced building design when compared with the
existing gym, offers an enhancement to local residential amenity.
A suite of technical and environmental reports address a range of policy requirements. A
series of conditions as recommended by officers is agreed to, and will ensure the proper
management of the site as well as health, safety and residential amenity during the
demolition and construction phases. A legal agreement will secure the applicant’s
commitment to an employment skills plan.
I hope this is reassuring. We trust that the scheme presented reflects officer advice and
guidance and addresses development plan policy requirements. It’s therefore respectfully
requested your officer’s recommendation be supported today.
Thank you.”
Prue Bray, Ward Member, provided the following statement which sought clarification on
aspects of the proposed scheme. “This application is a marked improvement over the
previous one which was refused, especially with the reduction in height and the less
monolithic design of the building. I see that officers are now satisfied that the application
will not result in increased light or noise pollution for residents.
Given the information provided with the application and the changes made in response to
the previous refusal, it is hard to see that there are grounds for refusal. However, I would
like to raise 3 things.
Condition 17 governs the use of the rooftop garden and makes it clear that it cannot be
accessed between 9 pm and 11 am. Is it possible to change the wording of the condition
slightly so that it also prevents any lighting being on in the rooftop garden between those
times?
There is reference to a Construction Plan. I am fairly confident the plan will not allow
construction traffic to use Harrow Way for access, but please could I have reassurance
that that lorries will not be parking in Harrow Way either.
Is it possible to get clarification on who will be able to use the gym facilities in the hotel?
These are significantly bigger than what was proposed in the last application, when the
gym appeared to be only for the use of hotel guests. This report says in paragraph 16 that
the gym would not be open to the general public, but that it would be “private member
facilities”. I have looked at the planning application but I can’t find an explanation of what
that means. Please could we have some clarity: will local people be able to join that gym
and use the facilities, as they did with Pulse8, whose loss is greatly mourned in the
community, or will its use be confined to hotel guests and members of Nirvana?”
Members were asked in turn for any comments or queries on this application. Specific
comments or queries are summarised below.
Simon Weeks commented that this application was a revised scheme for a previously
refused application, and this application sought to address the previous reasons for
refusal. Simon queried whether the current access arrangements off of Harrow Way would
be maintained under the proposed scheme. Kayleigh Mansfield, case officer, confirmed
that the current access arrangements would be maintained, whereby these access point
would only be used by staff, delivery vehicles and emergency vehicles.

15

Stephen Conway commented that he was grateful that condition 17 had been amended,
and queried who would be able to use the gym facilities from the local area. Kayleigh
Mansfield stated that those who wished to use the gym facilities would be required to join
the spa membership, as the gym was exclusive to spa members and hotel users.
Stephen Conway asked for officer comment on the possibility of a terracing effect,
compared to the current buildings, from the given proposals. Kayleigh Mansfield stated
that there had been amendments to the design proposals from the previously refused
scheme, including reductions of the heights of the buildings. In addition, the designs would
now appear more broken up and less monolithic. Officers felt that the design proposals
were suitable.
Pauline Jorgensen asked for clarification that the sequential test relating to hotels and
gyms had taken into account all local town centres. Kayleigh Mansfield stated that the
report had meant to refer to centres, and not a singular centre. The proposals would attract
customers from outside of the Wokingham Borough to come and use the facilities, thereby
reducing any impact on hotels and gyms in the local area. As a result, the planning policy
team was now in support of the proposals.
Abdul Loyes sought confirmation that the proposals were suitable and sustainable in terms
of flood negation, and whether the transport statement was fully compliant with policy.
Kayleigh Mansfield confirmed that the proposals were sustainable against flooding. Judy
Kelly, Highways Development Manager, stated that the transport statement was fully up to
date and in accordance with policy.
Andrew Mickleburgh queried whether the parking proposals were sufficient to cope with
the increased number of new staff, whether it could be conditioned to state the exact
amount of trees to be planted on site, and whether the site was intending to use an
environmentally friendly alternative to gas. Judy Kelly stated that the car parking condition
was primarily due to securing provision of electric vehicle charging bays on site. The
number of parking spaces met the standards for hotel and gym use. The car park
accumulation survey had estimated that approximately 135 spaces were not currently in
use at the busiest time, and therefore the proposed 81 additional spaces would provide
ample parking. Kayleigh Mansfield clarified that there was due to be a net increase of
trees, and additional details would be provided within the landscaping plans. Justin Turvey,
Operational Manager – Development Management, stated that restricting the use of gas
on site would be unreasonable, as there was no specific planning policy to make such
provisions.
Malcolm Richards queried whether staff and other workers would be able to use the roof in
the evening, for example to undertake repairs. Kayleigh Mansfield stated that the wording
would be changed to include the restriction of staff and contract workers from the roof area
during the evening time. Any maintenance work would have to be carried out during
normal business hours.
RESOLVED That application number 193339 be approved, subject to conditions and
informatives as set out in agenda pages 6 to 14, various amendments to conditions 3, 14,
20, 21, 22 and 25 as set out in the Members’ Update, rewording of recommendation A as
verbally updated by the case officer, and clarification that staff and contractors were not to
use the roof area outside of business hours.

16

115.

APPLICATION NO.192852 - SORBUS HOUSE, MULBERRY BUSINESS PARK,
FISHPONDS ROAD, WOKINGHAM, RG41 2GY
Proposal: Outline application with for the proposed erection of 38 dwellings to include one
and two bedroom dwellings, landscaping, bike store and bin store (access to be
considered)
Applicant: Mr P Smith
The Committee received and reviewed a report, set out in agenda pages 43 to 90.
The Committee were advised that the Members’ Update included an amendment to
recommendation A to read: A completed legal agreement secured within three months of
the date of the Planning Committee to secure the provision of a minimum of nine on site
affordable housing units (in shared ownership with two x 1-bed units and seven x 2-bed
units) and an Employment Skills Plan.
In line with the given deadlines, two public written submissions were received for this item.
These submissions were circulated to Members in advance, and noted on the evening.
The submissions as provided can be found below.
Paul Smith provided the following submission in support of the application. “Since the
January planning committee meeting which granted outline planning permission for 38
units at Sorbus House subject to the signing of a legal agreement (S106), we have been
working hard to fulfil our offer to provide on-site affordable housing. This followed the
proactive and collaborative work we did with Simon Taylor before the January meeting to
ensure the proposals we submitted were both compliant and acceptable.
We embarked on a series of protracted with Wokingham Council’s Registered Provider
(RP) with a view to them taking on the site for Affordable Housing (AH). We also continued
to work proactively with the planning case officer to agree the S106 agreement and funded
the Council’s viability study to advise those discussions. As you can see from Simon’s
report, the final conclusion of that agreement is that the S106 provision of 9 shared
ownership dwellings should be approved.
Unfortunately WBC’s AH team couldn’t progress and therefore we looked for an alternative
HA to deliver the 38 units as fully affordable dwellings. We have worked hard to find that
partner and are close to securing an agreement with another RP. The intention is for them
to develop the whole site (38 units) for affordable housing. 38 is considerably more than
the number requested under the local policies and, if our agreement is successfully
concluded, means that Wokingham Borough Council will benefit from a significant uplift in
affordable homes on this site. Better than the 9 units (which we can deliver and still
commercially build and sell the remaining 29 units as private housing) or paying the
commuted payment for offsite affordable housing provision (£714k) which the Housing
team first requested. We have further agreed to a viability review at a stage when 70% of
the homes are occupied so the Council can confirm they have best value in AH. Contracts
have not yet been exchanged with the RP in question which is why the S106 is in its
present form.
So, in summary, we have done what was asked of us at the January Committee meeting.
This will result in a minimum of 9 AH dwellings on-site, but more likely 38 new AH units for
the Borough. I hope you all agree that this is a fantastic outcome and I look forward to
ratification of our outline planning proposal.”

17

Sarah Kerr, Ward Member, provided the following submission commenting on aspects of
the application. “You will remember at the planning committee meeting in January when I
spoke against this development and the reasons why. There were many, not least, that
this is a core employment area, and there are a now hundreds of residential conversions
taking place through permitted development laws – laws that desperately need revising.
As such, the committee agreed that this development would be allowed as it at least
provided CIL money, unlike the other units in the area which I hope will go some way to
making this a nicer place to live than an employment area would. One of the other
objections I had was due to the lack of onsite affordable housing (zero). I thank the
committee for insisting that onsite affordable housing was included, but am subsequently
disappointed that the applicant is now trying to lessen their commitment, hence the
decision before you tonight. Affordable housing has many meanings, and Wokingham has
a distinct lack of truly affordable housing. Please may I remind the committee that you are
here tonight not to help developers increase their profit margins. Your commitment is to
the people of Wokingham Borough, and as a local planning authority, it has been
determined what level of affordable housing is required for developments. Your job tonight
is to uphold that requirement.”
Members were asked in turn for any comments or queries on this application. Specific
comments or queries are summarised below.
Simon Weeks commented that policy requirements for this application required 11.4
affordable housing units, however the applicant had subsequently agreed 9 on site units
which had been independently assessed via a viability assessment. The applicant had
been in contact with a housing management company in order to provide all units as
affordable housing in future. The provision of all units as affordable housing was outside of
the legal agreement.
Chris Bowring commented that the Committee had previously sought to get affordable
housing on-site. The reduction from 11.4 units to 9 units was adequate in his opinion.
Gary Cowan commented that it may be appropriate to ask the relevant Executive Member
whether these types of development were appropriate within the Thames Valley Heath
SPA.
Andrew Mickleburgh asked that the amended recommendation A be agreed in conjunction
with the Chairman of the Planning Committee. Justin Turvey, Operational Manager –
Development Management, stated that this could be referred to specifically.
All Committee Members present were positive about the prospect of provision of 38 on-site
affordable housing units, which would be an asset within the Borough.
RESOLVED That application number 192852 to approved, subject to conditions and
informatives as set out in agenda pages 44 to 50, and amended recommendation A as set
out in the Members Update which is to be agreed in conjunction with the Chairman of the
Planning Committee.

18

116.

APPLICATION NO.200475 - WOKINGHAM FAMILY GOLF, FINCHAMPSTEAD
ROAD, WOKINGHAM, RG40 3HG
Proposal: Application to vary conditions 2, 6 and 9 and remove conditions 3 and 7 of
planning consent 172979 for the full application for the proposed erection of a single storey
extension to existing driving range building to provide catering/bar and toilet facilities,
erection of covered bike store and alterations to existing parking layout. Condition 2
(approved details) is varied to include an enlarged southern terrace, new lighting and
changes to the building, car park and cycle parking (retrospective); Condition 6
(landscaping) is varied to discharge landscaping details; Conditions 3 (drainage) and 7
(protection of trees during construction) are removed and Condition 9 (opening hours) is
varied allow extended trading hours between 07:30 to 23:30 Mon to Sat and 08:00 to
22:30 Sun and Bank Holidays and until 22:00 within external terrace areas, 7 days a week
between the months of April and September inclusive.
Applicant: Mr A Williams
The Committee received and reviewed a report, set out in agenda pages 91 to 112.
The Committee were advised that the Members’ Update included:





Clarification that the recommendation commencing on page 92 did not include the
conditions in number order. The conditions being varied or removed were included first
and were followed by the conditions remaining unchanged. Condition 1 (three year
period to commence works) and Condition 7 (protection of trees during construction)
had been removed as they were no longer relevant as the works had been completed;
3 further public submissions in support of the application had been received since the
publication of the officer report;
A submission from Cllr Maria Gee reiterating her opposition to the proposal was also
received, specifically outlining concerns about the enlargement of the terrace and
additional lighting. These matters had been addressed within the officer report.

In line with the given deadlines, two public written submissions were received for this item.
These submissions were circulated to Members in advance, and noted on the evening.
The submissions as provided can be found below.
Mr and Mrs Williams, applicants, provided the following submission in support of the
application. “Since opening in April 2015, Wokingham Family Golf (WFG) has become
extremely popular with local people and is undoubtedly one of the town’s most valued
recreational facilities. Our success derives from our wide customer base and the strong
appeal we have to families with young children, friends celebrating special occasions,
grandparents with grandchildren and dedicated golfers of all ages.
In terms of outreach work we have an attachment with 8 local schools, providing 180
children from each school the opportunity to play golf whilst running after school clubs in
each school and our academy currently coaches around 100 children a week. We are
particularly proud of our work with disabled and special needs individuals from
Ravenswood.
We have a loyalty to all our customers and knew there was strong demand for a food and
beverage operation which is why we embarked on the new clubhouse project. We believe
that this is the next step in making WFG the complete experience for our customers whilst

19

simultaneously also creating 5 x full time and 7 x part time employment opportunities for
local people.
As a small family-run business, the clubhouse operation has been a significant investment
and its success is vital to the longevity of the business. This service comes at an increased
cost to the business through additional staff wages, increased business rates and higher
operational expenses. For these reasons, it is imperative our operating hours are extended
so as to help us cover these costs but, as at present, we will ensure that our activities do
not give rise to justified objections from our neighbours (the nearest house being more
than 80m away from the clubhouse with intervening fencing and mature planting).
In summary, the extended opening hours will provide us with an extra 20% revenue
according to our business plans. We believe this is of paramount importance to our ability
to continue to provide our invaluable services (driving range, pitch and putt, adventure golf
and footgolf) to Wokingham families.
Now more than ever we are seeing the unquestionable importance of outside spaces for
the public to enjoy and the physical and mental health benefits of recreation. As
Wokingham continues to expand, the need for businesses like ourselves has never been
stronger. We look forward to growing and providing our community with our unique service
for many years to come.”
Maria Gee, Ward Member, provided the following statement in objection to the application.
“The application to vary condition 9 of PA172979 is to align the opening hours of the bar
and terrace with the licensing hours. However, the licensing hours application was made in
the knowledge that condition 9 did not allow for this alignment; therefore a more logical
approach would have been to align the licensing application hours with the planning
conditions. I cannot see why there is a need now to align opening hours, when in
September 2019, the date of the premises licence application, there was no need for
alignment.
The reason given for condition 9 is to protect residential amenity, and the draft decision
notice, in respect of noise, stated that hours of operation were not changed. Arguing that
there were no objections to the premises licensing hours is missing the point that residents
were at that point protected by condition 9. The need to protect residential amenity has not
changed and thus the extended opening hours should be denied.
Extending the opening hours will also have effects on the environment, most specifically
(a) vehicles traversing the drive late at night, with accompanying noise and (b) the lighting
and noise on the extended terrace. Both will have some detrimental impact on wildlife,
especially insects, birds and foraging bats. These effects were not considered in
PA172979 with its restricted opening hours and therefore should be considered now,
before the application proceeds. The draft decision notice for PA172979 stated that there
were no ecological effects and that it was unlikely that there would be any effect on the
Thames Basin Heaths SPA. I would respectfully ask the committee to consider if, in the
round, these statements are still likely to hold with respect the current application? If not,
then how should this application proceed.
Undoubtedly, Wokingham Family Golf is an asset to Wokingham residents, providing
outdoor and indoor family activities. However, the benefits to Wokingham residents, in
general, have to be weighed against the impact that such a facility has on residents
closest to it, and on the countryside location. Maintaining a family element does not require

20

extended opening times to a bar and terrace; that extension would, in fact, go against the
‘family’ focus of the facility.”
Members were asked in turn for any comments or queries on this application. Specific
comments or queries are summarised below.
Simon Weeks commented that that this business was approximately 350m away from the
nearest residential property, bar those immediately adjacent to the business property.
Simon added that this was an existing facility which was looking to extend the hours of
business for its bar facilities.
Chris Bowring commented that under the Licensing Act 2003, the premises licence could
be reviewed should any issues arise. As such, Chris felt that it would be wrong to refuse
the application on these grounds.
Carl Doran queried which parts of the application were retrospective. Simon Taylor, case
officer, stated that this application was lodged as the applicant wished to seek an
amendment to the trading hours. Upon an officer site visit, various discrepancies were
identified such as the external terrace, cycle storage, and outside and inside areas. These
discrepancies were then addressed as a retrospective element of this application.
Malcolm Richards sought clarification regarding the drainage discharge of conditions.
Simon Taylor stated that officers noted that there was no discharge of conditions relating
to drainage, and it was possible to discharge this retrospectively if the condition was
amended. Drainage was already installed on site, however the business could not operate
without the drainage details being discharged.
Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey queried why condition 16 did not suggest that glass waste
would be recycled. Simon Taylor clarified that this was not the intention, and the wording
would be edited to reflect this.
A number of Members noted their disapproval for the retrospective element of the
application, and asked that the applicant endeavour to make all future applications in good
time.
RESOLVED That application number 200475 be approved, subject to conditions and
informatives as set out in agenda pages 92 to 97, removal of condition 1 and 7 as set out
in the Members’ Update, and amendment of the wording of condition 16 to reflect that
glass waste would be recycled.

21

117.

APPLICATION NO.200312 - GRAVELLY BRIDGE FARM, GRAZELEY GREEN
ROAD, GRAZELEY, RG7 1LG
Proposal: Full application for the temporary change of use of the agricultural land to soil
and aggregate production with a single storey site office and bunds (retrospective)
Applicant: Mr Fleetwood
The Committee received and reviewed a report, set out in agenda pages 113 to 136.
The Committee were advised that there were no Members’ Updates.
In line with the given deadlines, one public written submission was received for this item.
This submissions was circulated to Members in advance, and noted on the evening. The
submission as provided can be found below.
Alison Crooks, agent, provided a submission in support of the application. “Dear Mr
Chairman
My name is Alison Crooks and I represent the applicant. I trust that you and the committee
are keeping safe and well.
I would like to start by thanking the planning officer for his report and assistance
throughout this application. This has been a positive process, even during these unusual
working conditions.
Fleetwood Grab Services is a local company. They have been based at Gravelly Bridge
Farm for many years and work in the local area. They specialize in the management of
soils generated from construction projects which can include foundations from household
extensions. Fleetwood Grab process clean soils to produce a British Standard quality soil.
The soils are returned for landscaping projects and the stones are used in drainage or
laying tracks. This helps to achieve 100% diversion from landfill and ensures that the soils
are used for beneficial uses.
During this lockdown period, Fleetwood Grabs has continued to serve customers, in line
with Government guidance, to help ensure that waste continues to be managed in an
environmentally sound manner. No staff have been made redundant or furloughed. The
continued use of the application site is paramount to the survival of this business.
We note in the officer’s report that there are no local or statutory objections to the
development. We fully support the officer’s recommendations and thank you for your time.”
Members were asked in turn for any comments or queries on this application. Specific
comments or queries are summarised below.
Simon Weeks commented that this site had been operational for three years with no
planning permission. Should the Committee be minded to grant planning permission, this
would give the Council more control via conditions. Simon added that the site was obliged
to keep waste transfer licences, which detailed what material was entering the site. Simon
stated that this site would allow for material to be recycled and used for construction
purposes instead of being turned into landfill waste.

22

Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey queried whether this site had any relation to the potential
development site at Grazeley. Simon Weeks stated that the Committee could only
determine this application based on what was present currently.
Gary Cowan queried whether the site could be restricted to using materials within a five
mile radius, as per Shinfield Parish Council’s request. Justin Turvey, Operational Manager
– Development Management, stated that conditions were required to be reasonable. In
this case, it would not be reasonable to restrict materials to a five mile radius. Gary Cowan
added that records would be required to be kept, via the waste transfer licences. Simon
Taylor, case officer, clarified that a radial restriction of materials would be unnecessary as
movements were restricted to six in and six out per day.
A number of Members stated their disappointment of the retrospective nature of this
application, and urged the applicant to endeavour to make all future planning applications
in good time.
RESOLVED That application number 200312 be approved, subject to conditions and
informatives as in agenda pages 114 to 116.
118.

APPLICATION NO.193248 - LAND NORTH OF CHURCH LANE, CHURCH LANE,
THREE MILE CROSS
Proposal: Full application for the proposed erection of a temporary compound to facilitate
infrastructure works, including hardstanding, parking, fencing and gates, cabins and
storage units. (Part retrospective)
Applicant: Southern Electric Power Distribution
The Committee received and reviewed a report, set out in agenda pages 137 to 158.
The Committee were advised that the Members’ Update included an updated description
of the proposal to include mention of lighting and CCTV towers.
In line with the given deadlines, one public written submission was received for this item.
This submissions was circulated to Members in advance, and noted on the evening. The
submission as provided can be found below.
Rory Hollings, agent, provided the following submission in support of the application.
“Southern Electric Power Distribution (SEPD) is in the process of replacing its end of life
Reading Main to Reading Town 132 kilovolt underground circuits running between the
London Road and Vastern Road sub-stations, part of a multi-million pound investment to
Reading’s electricity infrastructure. To enable these works to be undertaken several
temporary compounds have been established for the siting of materials, equipment,
machinery and welfare facilities.
The planning application before you today is for one such compound located in land to the
north of Church Lane near Shinfield, opposite the Pulleyn Transport depot. The compound
was first established in July 2019 under the assumption that it constituted permitted
development. It has since been highlighted that this may not be the case. Following
dialogue with the planning team it was agreed that an application would be submitted in
order to regularise the use of the site as a temporary compound.

23

Permission is sought to continue the use of the site as a temporary compound up until the
end of Summer 2021. The compound enables SEPD and its contractors to continue
working safely and help ensure that future electricity supplies are secured for those served
by this key power line. The site has been successfully and safely operated to date with no
known issues or complaints from local residents.
Following the completion of these infrastructure works, the compound will be demobilised,
and the site will be returned to its original state as a grazed pasture field.
SEPD is committed to undertaking the infrastructure works and operation of the compound
site safely and as a ‘responsible neighbour’ and any issues that are raised will be dealt
with quickly and appropriately and to the satisfaction of all affected parties.
During the course of the application SEPD has liaised with the case officer to provide the
required information to assist in reaching the recommendation before you today. Where
the possibility of harm has been identified, every effort has been made to mitigate this
through design and collaboration with the Council. SEPD has worked to reach a suitable
outcome to the satisfaction of all.
We respectfully request that the planning committee, in accordance with the case officer’s
recommendation, approve the continued use of this site as a temporary compound to allow
these essential infrastructure works to be completed in a safe, timely and economic
manner.”
Brian O’Donovan, case officer, provided the following verbal updates with regards to
conditions. Highways had visited the site and confirmed that they are happy with the
visibility splay subject to some shrub clearance to one side, which would be required to be
completed within the next 2 weeks. They were also happy with the suggested routing, and
therefore they don’t require a further plan to be submitted. Therefore conditions 4 and 6
are suggested to change to a wording along these lines:
 C4 - Within 2 weeks of the date of this decision visibility splays shall be provided for
the access of the approved development measuring 2.4m by 120m, and shall be so
designed that there is no obstruction to vision above 0.6 metre in height relative to the
nearside edge of the adjacent carriageway over the whole of each vision splay area.
Such splays thereafter shall be maintained free of obstruction to vision.
 C6 - All traffic above 7.5T serving the development hereby permitted shall enter and
leave the site only from the east via Church Lane and Brookers Hill and not via Church
Lane to the west.
Members were asked in turn for any comments or queries on this application. Specific
comments or queries are summarised below.
Simon Weeks commented that this application was in part retrospective, as the applicant
believed that alterations were covered under permitted development rights. Simon added
that permission was sought for 24 months temporary use by Southern Electric, and the
use was expected to cease in the summer of 2021. The application was only before the
Committee as the site was larger than 1 hectare.
Angus Ross queried why there was no application for a change of use, and how would the
restoration of the site be managed. Brian O’Donovan stated that there was an associated
change of use for the requested temporary period. Detailed comments had been received
from the Wokingham Borough Council (WBC) landscape and tee officer, which had

24

concluded that the land was of relatively low value. Using previous satellite images and the
like, the site would be restored to as close to its original value as possible at the end of the
temporary period.
RESOLVED That application number 193248 be approved, subject to conditions and
informatives as set out in agenda pages 138 to 140, and amendments to condition 4 and 6
as verbally updated by the case officer.
119. APPLICATION NO.200863 - 75 LONDON ROAD, WOKINGHAM, RG40 1YA
Proposal: Full application for the proposed change of use from HMO (Use Class C4) to
supported living (Use Class C2), plus erection of two storey rear extension with 3 no.
rooflights and solar panels and erection of detached rear outbuilding to form a meeting
room following demolition of existing outbuilding, with associated parking, cycle and bin
storage.
Applicant: Wokingham Borough Council
The Committee received and reviewed a report, set out in agenda pages 159 to 184.
The Committee were advised that the Members’ Update included:







Clarification of the floor areas;
Clarification that Wokingham Borough Council (WBC) purchased this property as a
house of multiple occupancy (HMO) in 2017, and had been vacant since;
Clarification that notification Letters were sent on 8 April 2020. However, in response
to objections received from neighbours and in the interest of openness, a site notice
was also posted by the applicant on 30 April 2020;
Clarification that on agenda page 170, paragraph 22, R23 of the Borough Design
Guide refers to alterations and extensions to buildings;
Since publication of the report, 5 additional public letters of objection had been
received. The points raised by these letter have been addressed within the officer
report;
Clarification that the applicant had provided details of the proposed surface water
drainage strategy. The WBC Drainage Officer was satisfied with these details, and so
has determined that Condition (10) is no longer necessary.

In line with the given deadlines, one public written submission was received for this item.
This submissions was circulated to Members in advance, and noted on the evening. The
submission as provided can be found below.
Maria Gee, Ward Member, provided the following submission in objection to the
application. “I wish to object to the application in its current form (revised). I objected
initially to the extent of the new build on site, the parking and access to London Road, and
to the building in the garden, while acknowledging the need for local accommodation for
care leavers. It is also good that measures have been taken for sustainability and that the
building will be brought back into use.
In my original objection I observed that three parking spaces did not allow safe access to
and from the site on a bend in a very busy road. I suggested that reducing the size of the
accommodation proposed would solve this problem because fewer parking spaces would
be required. I am very pleased to see that the number of parking spaces has been
reduced and reserved for residents or visitors with disability permits. However, reducing

25

the car parking spaces does not overcome the problem that led to the need for the original
proposal to have three spaces. That problem is that the application is overdevelopment of
the site. The application almost doubles the footprint of the main dwelling and the
percentage of the site occupied by buildings has more than doubled from 25% to 53%.
I cannot see the need for a very sizeable meeting room separated from the main building.
The meeting room would be better placed within the footprint of the main building; this
would also avoid any problems with noise, especially at night, from residents travelling to
and fro between the meeting room and the main building. Perhaps the sitting room/staff
sleep-in area could be reconfigured to put the meeting room on the ground floor and the
staff sleep-in on the first floor? Relocation of the meeting room would also preserve the
green corridor of back gardens. If that is not possible, then some form of restriction on
hours of usage would seem appropriate.
I therefore recommend to the committee that they reject this application. If that is the
outcome, then the council, as developer, could engage more with the local community. So
far there has been no community involvement other than an informal chat with the
residents at number 77. It is better that the council take residents with them when
developing its own sites.”
Members were asked in turn for any comments or queries on this application. Specific
comments or queries are summarised below.
Rachelle Shepherd-Dubey asked for officer clarification regarding any overlooking and
massing as a result of proposals. Adriana Gonzalez, case officer, stated that the
neighbouring property had no 1st floor windows except non-habitable rooms, which were
high level windows. The sunlight and daylight assessment had determined that there
would be no loss of light in the neighbouring dwellings as a result of proposals.
Angus Ross queried whether a bat survey should be required prior to the application being
determined, and sought clarification regarding the harvester within the plans. Adriana
Gonzalez clarified that the site was not located within a bat survey area, and it was
therefore not required to be completed within the validation period. Justin Turvey,
Operational Manager – Development Management, clarified that the harvester was likely a
rain water collector located underneath the grass.
Angus Ross asked for clarification regarding the parking at the front of the property, which
appeared constrained. Angus added whether there would be sufficient provision for
deliveries, and queried whether the proposals would be intrusive towards the garden
amenity of property number 71. Judy Kelly, Highways Development Manager, stated that
there were two existing dropped curbs, which allowed quite a wide area at the front for
deliveries. Adriana Gonzalez stated that there would be no adverse impact on number 71
in terms of overshadowing, and there was a separation distance of 2.7m along the side
boundary which was policy compliant.
Malcolm Richards queried whether the disabled space at the front of the property could be
used by another resident, should no disabled residents be present at the property. Simon
Weeks clarified that the space was designated to be used as a disabled space, however
as it was not on a highway it was not a legal requirement.
Andrew Mickleburgh queried whether the parking on site was sufficient, being only 1
space, when there were already on-street parking issues. Judy Kelly stated that the

26

property parking was suitable given the demographic in this case. Judy added that there
was a bus stop with a good service nearby.
Andrew Mickleburgh asked for clarification regarding the proposed meeting room. Justin
Turvey stated that the meeting room was of ancillary usage, and therefore its hours should
not be restricted.
Abdul Loyes queried whether there would be any additional trees planted, as the site was
located on a green route. Adriana Gonzalez stated that there would be no loss of trees,
and further landscaping details were to be submitted via condition.
Pauline Jorgensen sought clarification regarding the rear boundary. Adriana Gonzalez
stated that there would be 16.1m of the rear garden remaining, which was policy
compliant. Pauline reiterated other Member concerns regarding parking, and stated that
she was minded to refuse the application on those grounds.
Carl Doran commented that agenda page 169 noted that extension would be subservient.
Carl was of the opinion that this could be seen as a case of overdevelopment. Simon
Weeks stated that WBC could rent out the property as a HMO immediately, with 8
occupants and 8 cars with no modernisations to the property. This application gave more
control to the management of the site and allowed a staff member on sit to manage the
property.
Gary Cowan asked how many car parking spaces would be required for an eight bedroom
house. Judy Kelly stated that a maximum of 2.3 spaces, plus an additional 0.2 visitor
spaces, would be required for an eight bedroom house. Gary added that he would not
support this application until the parking provided was equivalent to that of an equivalent
private application. Judy reiterated that parking was policy compliant, given the sustainable
location, proximity to town centre car parks and the specific usage of the property.
Stephen Conway commented that the highways officer had made a clear judgement with
regards to this application, and Members would need a clear technical reason to oppose
the application on these grounds. On balance, Stephen stated that he was minded to
approve the application.
Chris Bowring queried whether a change of use and change of parking standards would
be required should the property be sold to a private family. Justin Turvey confirmed this to
be correct. Chris Bowring added that in his opinion the parking on the Easthampstead
Road was sufficient, the proposals were not out of keeping with other houses in the area
and the extension could not be seen from the front of the property.
RESOLVED That application number 200863 be approved, subject to conditions and
informatives as set out in agenda pages 160 to 163, and removal of condition 10 as set out
in the Members’ Update.

27

120. APPLICATION NO.200753 - 2 WALNUT TREE CLOSE, RUSCOMBE, RG10 9PF
Proposal: Householder application for the proposed erection of a single storey rear
extension with 5no. rooflights including interior alterations and changes to fenestration,
plus first floor front extension with 3no. rooflights
Applicant: Mr and Mrs D Kinnersley
The Committee received and reviewed a report, set out in agenda pages 185 to 200.
The Committee were advised that the Members’ Update included the existing and
proposed side elevation plans.
In line with the given deadlines, one public written submission was received for this item.
This submissions was circulated to Members in advance, and noted on the evening. The
submission as provided can be found below.
Anne Owen, agent, provided the following submission in support of the application. “The
design of the renovations has been carefully considered and developed in keeping with the
character of the existing buildings in the Close. The pre-application consultation with
Wokingham Planning Department enabled us to establish an acceptable approach, in size
and style. The Department’s preapplication report highlighted the unique nature of the
corner plot, which is relatively secluded, minimizing impact on the street scene.
The corner plot is unique in the Close, being set back from the street scene. It does not set
a precedent for future development of any other dwellings in the Close, because they are
all sited closer to the roadway.
The extended house will have 5 bedrooms plus kitchen-diner, living room, playroom and
study. This is reasonable and proportionate provision for a family home in the area.
The new roof design complements the existing building, using exactly the same form with
a ridge height increase of only 1.9m – less than a full second storey.
The study window of Number 3 is already visible from the existing ground floor windows of
the playroom at Number 2 and is the only window of a habitable room on this side of
Number 3. The new first floor windows are positioned directly above the existing ground
floor windows. The top sections of these windows are rooflights, set obliquely in relation to
the neighbour’s windows. They follow the profile of the roof, being set at the same angle.
This design reflects the character of the existing house and neighbouring buildings.
There is a distance of 13.1m between the extension and Number 3, exceeding the
minimum recommendation of the Borough Design Guide.
The single storey garage is retained, creating a step down in form from the first floor
extension. There is a 15.8m visible gap to the next house from the first floor extension. It
does not create additional enclosure.
The first floor extension meets all Building Research Establishment (BRE) guidelines on
daylight provision, with 45 degree and 25 degree daylight lines shown correctly on the
drawings.
My clients fully appreciate the spacious and pleasant character of the Close and its
community, which they enjoy. Their brief was to design a sympathetic extension in this
context, to meet the needs of their growing family. We have enacted this with great care.”

28

Members were asked in turn for any comments or queries on this application. Specific
comments or queries are summarised below.
Stephen Conway commented that separation distances complied with guidelines, and
although sympathetic to neighbour concerns, there were no planning reasons for refusal.
Stephen asked for clarification relating to overlooking of the neighbouring study. Baldeep
Pulahi, case officer, stated that there was no perceived overlooking of the neighbouring
study that would harm the use of the room. There was a distance of at least 13m from the
proposed extension to the study, which was in excess of the required 10m front to front
elevation separation distance. Justin Turvey, Operational Manager – Development
Management, stated that any perceived overlooking was into the front garden space,
which was already publically viewable.
Simon Weeks commented that if refused, this would go against the Council’s own
residential design guide, which would result in a loss should the decision be appealed by
the applicant.
Carl Doran commented that a site visit would have been useful, but it was fully
understandable why one could not be conducted at this current time. Simon Weeks added
that the case officer had provided many photos to enable Members to gauge the
relationship between the neighbouring properties.
Abdul Loyes queried whether the neighbouring properties would experience daylight loss
as a result of the proposals. Baldeep Pulahi stated that the proposals were setback 6.3m
from the property boundary, and there was a compliant 45 degree line. As such, there was
no anticipated loss of light for property number 3.
Simon Weeks commented that much of the discussions were focussed not on subjective
issues, but whether distances met guidelines, which they appeared to in this case.
RESOLVED That application number 200753 be approved, subject to conditions and
informatives as set out in agenda pages 186 to 187.

29

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5.
Application
Number
200893

Expiry Date

Parish

Ward

10/07/2020

Earley

Hurst;

Applicant
Site Address
Proposal

Mrs Noor Khan
15 The Drive, Earley, RG6 1EG
Householder application for the proposed first floor side and rear
extension to existing dwelling and single storey rear extension
(part-retrospective).
Full
21
Stefan Fludger
for Listed by Councillor Shirley Boyt in the event of recommendation
by for approval.

Type
PS Category
Officer
Reason
determination
committee

FOR CONSIDERATION BY
REPORT PREPARED BY

Planning Committee on Wednesday, 08 July 2020
Assistant Director – Place

SUMMARY
This application includes the provision of a two storey rear and side extension. It also
seeks to regularise an existing single storey rear extension and as a result is partretrospective.
Comments have been received which relate to an existing rear dormer and hip to gable
enlargement. This application does not relate to these and the applicant has indicated
that these were carried out under permitted development and this is supported by the
Officer’s own assessment.
It is not considered that the scheme results in harm to the character of the area or
neighbouring amenities. Sufficient parking is provided. The application is therefore
recommended for approval.
PLANNING STATUS
 Major development location
 Sand and gravel extraction
 Minerals consultation zone
RECOMMENDATION
That the committee authorise the GRANT OF PLANNING PERMISSION subject to
the following:
Conditions and informatives:
Conditions:
1. This permission is in respect of the submitted application plans and drawings
numbered TDE: 001, TDE 002, TDE 003, TDE 004, TDE 005 and TDE 006 received
by the local planning authority on 06/04/2020 and revised plan and drawing
numbered TDE 007 REV A, received by the Local Planning Authority on 25/05/2020.
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details unless

31

otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is carried out in
accordance with the application form and associated details hereby approved.
2. The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the extension
hereby permitted shall be of a similar appearance to those used in the existing
building unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the building is satisfactory. Relevant
policy: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3
3. The en-suite window in the west elevation of the development hereby permitted shall
be fitted with obscured glass and shall be permanently so-retained. The window shall
be non-opening unless the parts of the window which can be opened are more than
1.7 metres above the finished floor level of the room in which the window is installed
and shall be permanently so-retained.
Reason: To safeguard the residential amenities of neighbouring properties. Relevant
policy: Core Strategy policy CP3
Informatives:
1. The development hereby permitted is liable to pay the Community Infrastructure Levy.
As an affordable housing development a claim for relief can be made. This is a matter
for the developer. The Liability Notice issued by Wokingham Borough Council will
state the current chargeable amount. Anyone can formally assume liability to pay, but
if no one does so then liability will rest with the landowner. There are certain legal
requirements that must be complied with. For instance, whoever will pay the levy
must submit an Assumption of Liability form and a Commencement Notice to
Wokingham Borough Council prior to commencement of development. For more
information
see
http://www.wokingham.gov.uk/planning/developers/cil/cilprocesses/.
2. The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this
application by assessing the proposal against all material considerations, including
planning policies and any representations that may have been received and
subsequently determining to grant planning permission in accordance with the
presumption in favour of sustainable development as set out in the NPPF.
PLANNING HISTORY
Application Number Proposal
Decision
F/2010/2564
Proposed erection of a single storey Approved – 13/01/2011
side extension to dwelling.
152245
Householder
prior
approval Approved – 16/09/2015
application for the erection of a single
storey rear extension which would
extend beyond the rear wall of the
original house by 6.0 metres, for
which the maximum height would be
2.8 metres and the height of the
eaves 2.4 metres.

32

SUMMARY INFORMATION
For Residential
Site Area
Existing parking spaces
Proposed parking spaces

0.0394 ha
3
3

CONSULTATION RESPONSES
WBC Highways

No objection.

REPRESENTATIONS
Town/Parish Council: No objection.
Local Members: Requests listing of this application for the following reasons:
-

First floor side extension is too close to the boundary with number 13.
The side extension should have a hip rather than a gable.
The proposal is harmful to the privacy of neighbours.
This application should not be considered until enforcement investigations are
completed.

Neighbours: 2 objections received regarding:
-

The proposal is overdevelopment. The proposals are harmful to the character of
the area. The roof should be hipped.
The ‘existing’ ground floor does not reflect that which was approved under 152245.
Does the dormer fall under permitted development?

ACER – Whitegate Residents Association:
-

The existing elevations show development which is not authorised.
No objection to single storey rear extension.
Object to ‘unauthorised’ dormer extension due to overlooking and impact on
character of the area.
The side extension would cause a terracing effect.
There is insufficient parking.
There is no soft landscaping proposed.

Officer Note: Issues relating to neighbour amenity and the character of the area are
addressed in the relevant sections of this report. It is not considered that the proposals
would result in harm to the character of the area, or to neighbouring amenity. With regards
enforcement investigations, the situation on the site is explained in the ‘Description of
Development’ section of this report. The application seeks to regularise an aspect of
unauthorised development within the site, it being unauthorised cannot prevent
assessment of the application. The parking is considered acceptable and this is
addressed in the relevant section of this report.

APPLICANTS POINTS
 None made.

33

PLANNING POLICY
National Policy

NPPF

National Planning Policy Framework

Adopted Core Strategy DPD 2010

CP1

Sustainable Development

CP2

Inclusive Communities

CP3

General Principles for Development

CP4

Infrastructure Requirements

CP5

Housing mix, density and affordability

CP6

Managing Travel Demand

CP7

Biodiversity

CP9

Scale and Location of Development
Proposals

Adopted Managing Development CC01
Delivery Local Plan 2014

Supplementary
Documents
(SPD)

Presumption in Favour of Sustainable
Development

CC02

Development Limits

CC03

Green
Infrastructure,
Landscaping

CC04

Sustainable Design and Construction

CC05

Renewable energy and decentralised
energy networks

CC06

Noise

CC07

Parking

CC09

Development and Flood Risk (from all
sources)

CC10

Sustainable Drainage

TB21

Landscape Character

TB23

Biodiversity and Development

Planning BDG

Trees

and

Borough Design Guide – Section 4

PLANNING ISSUES
Description of Development:
1. This planning application involves the construction of a first floor rear and side
extension. The application is part-retrospective as it also involves the regularisation
of an already present single storey rear extension. The property benefitted from a
larger home extension prior approval for a 6 metre rear extension in 2015. The single
storey rear extension which has been constructed is over 6 metres in length and
therefore would not be permitted development. Neither does it match that previously
approved. For this reason it has been included in this application.
2. Comments have been received from neighbours and Cllr Shirley Boyt regarding
potential unauthorised development on site. This extends to the single storey rear
extension (which is unauthorised) but also a hip to gable extension and roof dormer
which have already been constructed. The roof alterations have not been applied for
under this application, however the proposed two storey side extension links into this
and therefore is reliant on its presence. Separate enforcement investigations are

34

being carried out with regards the single storey rear extension and the roof works.
This planning application does not relate to the roof works and they are not included
in the description and therefore this application would not regularise these should
they be unlawful. However, a full assessment has been undertaken and these appear
to be permitted development and have been carried out in recent years. No certificate
of lawfulness has been sort. However, there is no legal requirement for the developer
to apply for planning permission or for a certificate of lawfulness for such works and
they are entitled to carry out permitted development without prior consultation with
the Local Planning Authority. For these reasons, while the received comments are
taken into consideration, the assessment of this application is limited to the
assessment of the proposed two storey rear and side extension only, along with the
existing single storey rear extension.
3. The proposed plans show the completion of the interior of the dormer extension. As
has been discussed, this permission does not relate to the construction of the dormer
extension and the drawing relates to internal works only. Should permission be
granted this would not relate to the completion of the interior of the dormer extension.
Principle of Development:
4. The National Planning Policy Framework has an underlying presumption in favour of
sustainable development which is carried through to the local Development Plan. The
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan (MDD) Policy CC01 states that planning
applications that accord with the policies in the Development Plan for Wokingham
Borough will be approved without delay, unless material considerations indicate
otherwise.
5. Policy CC02 of the MDD sets out the development limits for each settlement as
defined on the policies map and therefore replaces the proposals map adopted
through the Core Strategy, as per the requirement of policy CP9. Policy CP9 sets out
that development proposals located within development limits will be acceptable in
principle, having regard to the service provisions associated with the major, modest
and limited categories. As the site is within a major development location, the
proposal is acceptable in principle.
Character of the Area:
6. Policy CP1 of the Core Strategy states that planning permission will be granted for
development proposals that ‘maintain or enhance the high quality of the
environment’. Policy CP3 of the Core Strategy states planning permission will be
granted if development is ‘of an appropriate scale of activity, mass, layout, built form,
height, materials and character to the area, together with a high quality of design,
without detriment to the amenities of adjoining land users including open spaces or
occupiers and their quality of life’.
7. The application site is within an area of formal suburbia. The Borough Design Guide
states that in formal suburbia, the rhythm of buildings and the gaps in between them
along the street frontage is often important to the character of the area. As is typical
for an area of formal suburbia, the properties in this row are characterised by a
regimented design and layout, with gaps between them forming a significant part of
the character of the area.
8. The guidance contained in section 4.11 of the Borough Design Guide outlines a
number of key considerations in relation to the design of extensions. Amongst others,

35

these include consideration to be given to the built form, scale and mass of
extensions (i.e. the design of proposed extensions must be well considered and
should complement the existing building). Overall, extensions and alterations should
respond positively to the context, maintaining or enhancing the street scene and local
character. Extensions should usually be subservient to the host dwelling. Additionally,
it is noted that the design guide indicates that side extensions should be set in by 1
metre from the front of the dwelling and the roof ridge should be set down.
9. The proposed rear and side extension has been set in from the side boundary by
900mm. This is very minimally short of the 1 metre recommendation and is
considered acceptable – despite comments received relating to this. The front wall of
the side extension is at least 1 metre from the front wall of the existing dwelling,
additionally the roof ridge is set down. The proposal is therefore clearly subservient
and is considered acceptable on these grounds and in line with guidance.
10. Cllr Shirley Boyt and neighbours have indicated that the roof form of the extension
should be hipped, not gabled as houses on this street have hipped roofs. There is
some merit in this opinion as the original houses have hipped roofs. However, there
are a number of dwellings in the area which have carried out hip to gable
enlargements, including the immediately adjacent neighbour and the existing
dwelling (under permitted development). While other side extensions in the area are
hipped, the provision of a gabled side extension would not be out of keeping with the
character of the host dwelling or the area and is acceptable. Given that the dwelling
is now gabled, a hipped roof extension to it would be less in keeping than the gabled
extension as proposed.
11. The two storey rear extension would be 4 metres in depth, which is not excessive
and is in line with the guidance contained in the Borough Design Guide. The single
storey rear extension is approximately 6.5 metres in length and would largely be
hidden from the street.
12. For the above reasons, it is considered that the proposal and existing development
would not/does not cause harm to the character of the area and the scheme is
therefore in accordance with CP1 and CP3 of the Core Strategy and is acceptable.
Residential Amenities:
13. The Borough Design Guide recommends that a gap of 1 metre should be maintained
between development and side boundaries. A gap of 900mm would be retained
between the two storey side/rear extension and the neighbour. This is only marginally
short of the requirement. It would run alongside the side wall of the neighbour to the
north-west, number 13. A site visit has confirmed that there are 5 windows in the main
side wall of that property, three upstairs and three downstairs. The three upstairs
windows are the bathroom and landing. The two downstairs windows are the hallway
and the toilet. None of these are habitable rooms and therefore any overbearing
impact/loss of light to these windows would not substantiate a reason to refuse this
application. There is also a conservatory to the rear of that property. This is a light
and open room and, while the presence of the extension would be felt, the extension
would be some 3.8 metres away and there would not be a harmful overbearing impact
or harmful loss of light. Reference to the plans indicates that a 45 degree line
measured from the extension would intersect the conservatory, however this is a light
room made of glass and therefore it is considered that any loss of light to this room
would be modest and not sufficiently harmful to warrant refusal of this application.

36

Other rear facing windows at that property, either downstairs (inside the conservatory)
or upstairs would not be intersected by a 45 degree line. Therefore, no harmful loss
of light would occur.
14. The single storey rear extension is largely screened from this neighbour by the
existing garage and does not lead to a harmful overbearing impact or loss of light.
15. With regards the attached neighbour, the two storey rear extension is located some
3.7 metres from the side boundary. It is also not more than 4 metres in length, which
is in accordance with the advice contained in the Borough Design Guide. The single
storey rear extension is 6.4 metres long and abuts the boundary. It is also 3.4 metres
high at the intersection with the rear wall and 2.7 metres high to the eaves. This eaves
height is below the maximum 3 metre height recommended in the Borough Design
Guide. However, the length is significantly longer than the 4 metres recommended.
A larger home extension prior approval was approved in 2015, which would have had
a maximum height of 2.8 metres, an eaves height of 2.4 metres and a length of 6
metres. The proposal is a different scheme to this and this does not offer a fall-back
position, although that approval is material in determination of this application.
16. The above being said, the extension remains single storey, while the attached
neighbours garden is enclosed on the opposite side by another wall (meaning that
they are now enclosed on both sides) it is noted that no objection has been received
from this neighbour. It is considered that while some impact is occurring on the
neighbour’s amenity space, any overbearing impact is modest due to the single storey
nature of the extension. Additionally, for the same reason and due to the aspect of
the site, any loss of light would be minimal and would not substantiate a reason to
refuse this application. A site visit has confirmed that the closest rear facing window
to the extension serves the living room, but this runs all the way through the house
and is also served by a large window to the front. While this window has become
relatively enclosed, for this reason any loss of light or overbearing impact towards this
window would not substantiate a reason to refuse this application,
17. For the above reasons, while the single storey extension is two metres longer than
recommended by the Borough Design Guide, and 0.5m longer than would be
permitted under the householder prior approval scheme, it is not harmfully
overbearing and would not cause a significant loss of light. Both the single storey and
two storey aspects of the proposal are therefore acceptable in this regard.
18. With regards overlooking impacts, the new upstairs windows would have similar
views into neighbouring gardens as existing windows. New ground floor windows are
screened from neighbouring properties by existing boundary treatments and a
garage.
Access and Movement:
19. CP6 of the Core Strategy relates to Highway Safety issues. CC07 of the MDD Local
Plan relates to parking standards. Comments have been received from neighbours
regarding parking. The Council’s Highways Officer has indicated that the parking
requirement at this property is 3 spaces. The current driveway provides for three
parking spaces and therefore the scheme is acceptable in this regard.

37

Amenity Space for future occupiers:
20. The Borough Design Guide recommends a rear amenity space of a minimum of 11
metres to serve dwellings. The remaining amenity space would be approximately 23
metres in length and therefore this is acceptable.

The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010)
In determining this application the Council is required to have due regard to its obligations
under the Equality Act 2010. The key equalities protected characteristics include age,
disability, gender, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and
maternity, race, religion or belief. There is no indication or evidence (including from
consultation on the application) that the protected groups identified by the Act have or will
have different needs, experiences, issues and priorities in relation to this particular
planning application and there would be no significant adverse impacts upon protected
groups as a result of the development.

CONCLUSION
It is not considered that the scheme results in harm to the character of the area or
neighbouring amenities. Sufficient parking is provided. The application is therefore
recommended for approval.

38

39

This page is intentionally left blank

41

This page is intentionally left blank

43

This page is intentionally left blank

45

This page is intentionally left blank

47

This page is intentionally left blank

PLANNING REF
: 200893
PROPERTY ADDRESS : Radstock House
: Radstock Lane, Earley, Wokingham
: RG6 5UL
SUBMITTED BY
: Earley Town Council
DATE SUBMITTED
: 28/04/2020
COMMENTS:
No Objection

49

This page is intentionally left blank

51

This page is intentionally left blank

53

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6.
Application
Number
200888

Expiry Date

Parish

Ward

10/07/2020

Swallowfield

Swallowfield;

Applicant
Site Address

J P Winkworth Limited
Lambs Farm Business Park, Basingstoke Road, Swallowfield,
RG7 1PQ
Full application for the proposed erection of 3 no. buildings (units
R1, R2 and R3) for business use (Use Classes B1(a), (b), (c) and
B8) with ancillary office space, parking and associated works.
Full
18
Stefan Fludger
for Listed by Councillor Stuart Munro
by

Proposal

Type
PS Category
Officer
Reason
determination
committee

FOR CONSIDERATION BY
REPORT PREPARED BY

Planning Committee on Wednesday, 8 July 2020
Assistant Director – Place

SUMMARY
The proposal involves the construction of three new business units within Lambs Farm
Business Park. Objections have been received from neighbours which largely relate to
the continued expansion of the business park over time, impacts on the local highway
network, impact on neighbouring amenity and flooding issues.
The proposal would not lead to harm to the character of the Countryside or the wider area
and based on a thorough assessment against national and local planning policy, the
proposal is acceptable in principle.
All other material planning considerations have been assessed and no harm has been
found. No objection has been received from the Council’s Highways Officer relating to
local Highway issues. Issues relating to flood risk are dealt with by condition and no issue
has been raised by the Environmental Health Officer relating to increased disturbance.
The proposal is recommended for approval.

PLANNING STATUS
 Countryside
 Wind turbine safeguarding zone
 Farnborough Aerodrome consultation zone
 Sand and gravel extraction
 Special Protection Area – 5 km
 Groundwater protection zone
 Landfill consultation zone
 Minerals consultation zone
 Nuclear consultation zone
 Contaminated land consultation zone
 Archaeological Site

55

RECOMMENDATION
That the committee authorise the GRANT OF PLANNING PERMISSION subject to
the following:
A. Conditions and informatives:
Conditions:
1.

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three
years from the date of this permission.
Reason: In pursuance of s.91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended by s.51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).

2. This permission is in respect of the submitted application plans and drawings
numbered XXXX-RDJWL-R-XX-DR-A-0015 and 0583- RDJWL-R-XX-DR-A-0025,
received by the local planning authority on 06/04/2020 and plans numbered 0583RDJWL-R-XX-DR-A-0016 and 0583-RDJWL-R-XX-DR-A-0027, received by the
Local Planning Authority on 15/06/2020. The development shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved details unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local
planning authority
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is carried
out in accordance with the application form and associated details hereby approved.
3.

Before the development hereby permitted is commenced above damp proof level,
samples and details of the materials to be used in the construction of the external
surfaces of the building/s shall have first been submitted to and approved in writing
by the local planning authority. Development shall not be carried out other than in
accordance with the so-approved details.
Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the building is satisfactory.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3.

4.

Before the development hereby permitted is commenced above foundation level, a
drainage strategy plan shall be submitted, which shows how the business units will
connect to the existing drainage system and any additional drainage features which
are required. The details shall include:



(i)
(ii)
(iii)

A drainage strategy (including SuDS) drawing indicating the location and sizing of
all drainage features with pipe connections from the proposed development to the
discharge points.
Details to show that the existing drainage system and any new features are able
to cater for the increased runoff, including the following:
evidence that infiltration is possible (to BRE 365 standard or similar).
groundwater data confirming seasonal high groundwater levels, including a
40% betterment recommended in terms of runoff
calculations to demonstrate that any SuDS features have been sized to cater
for runoff generated by the 1 in 100 year flood event with a 40% allowance for
climate change.

56

(iv)
(v)

(vi)

Details to confirm that the base of any SuDS located at least 1m above the
seasonal high water table level.
Calculations to show how surface water runoff rates will be constrained to
existing rates across all of the relevant return periods, i.e. Qbar, Q1, Q30 and
Q100 with climate change.
Details as to how SuDS for this development would be managed throughout
the lifespan of the development and who will be responsible for maintenance.

The scheme shall be implemented prior to occupation of the building and thereafter
managed and maintained in accordance with the approved details, unless otherwise
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To prevent increased flood risk from surface water run-off. Relevant policy:
NPPF Section 10 (Meeting the Challenge of Climate Change, Flooding and Coastal
Change), Core Strategy policy CP1 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan
policies CC09 and CC10.
5.

No part of any building(s) hereby permitted shall be occupied or used until the vehicle
parking and turning spaces have been provided in accordance with the approved
plans. The vehicle parking and turning spaces shall be retained and maintained in
accordance with the approved details and the parking spaces shall remain available
for the parking of vehicles at all times and the turning space shall not be used for any
other purpose other than vehicle turning.
Reason: To provide adequate off-street vehicle parking and turning space and to
allow vehicles to enter and leave the site in a forward gear in the interests of road
safety and convenience and providing a functional, accessible and safe development
and in the interests of amenity. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP3 & CP6
and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC07.

6. No building shall be occupied until secure and covered parking for cycles has been
provided in accordance with the approved drawing(s)/details. The cycle parking/
storage shall be permanently so-retained for the parking of bicycles and used for no
other purpose.
Reason: In order to ensure that secure weather-proof bicycle parking facilities are
provided so as to encourage the use of sustainable modes of travel. Relevant policy:
NPPF Section 4 (Sustainable Transport) and Core Strategy policies CP1, CP3 & CP6
and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC07.
7.

Prior to first occupation of the business units, details of an Electric Vehicle Charging
Strategy serving the development shall be submitted for approval in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. This strategy should include details relating to on-site
infrastructure, installation of charging points and future proofing of the site unless
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In order to ensure that secure electric vehicle charging facilities are provided
so as to encourage the use of sustainable modes of travel. Relevant policy: NPPF
Section 9 (Sustainable Transport) and Core Strategy policies CP1, CP3 & CP6 and
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC07 and Appendix 2 and the
Council’s Parking Standards Study Report (2011).

57

8.

Prior to the installation of any external lighting, a report detailing the lighting scheme
and how this will not adversely affect wildlife shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the LPA. The report shall include the following figures and appendices:
• A layout plan with beam orientation
• A schedule of equipment
• Measures to avoid glare
• An isolux contour map showing light spillage to 1 lux both vertically and horizontally
and areas identified as being of importance for commuting and foraging bats.
The approved lighting plan shall thereafter be implemented as agreed.
Reason: To limit the impact of light pollution from artificial light on nature conservation
in accordance with para 180 of the NPPF.

Informatives:
1. The development hereby permitted is liable to pay the Community Infrastructure Levy.
As an affordable housing development a claim for relief can be made. This is a matter
for the developer. The Liability Notice issued by Wokingham Borough Council will
state the current chargeable amount. Anyone can formally assume liability to pay, but
if no one does so then liability will rest with the landowner. There are certain legal
requirements that must be complied with. For instance, whoever will pay the levy
must submit an Assumption of Liability form and a Commencement Notice to
Wokingham Borough Council prior to commencement of development. For more
information
see
http://www.wokingham.gov.uk/planning/developers/cil/cilprocesses/.
EXTENSIVE PLANNING HISTORY – Relevant since 2010
Application Number Proposal
Decision
F/2012/2535
Proposed erection of new business Approved - 06/03/2013
unit K for use classes B1(b) and
B1(c) (light industrial and research
and development) and B8 use
(storage and distribution) and
business unit L for use classes B1(a),
B1(b) and B1(c) (offices, light
industrial
and
research
and
development) with car and lorry
parking and ancillary works within
existing business park
C/2013/1148

Application for submission of details Replied - 18/09/2013
to comply with conditions 2,4,6,8 &12
of planning consent F/2012/2535. 2.
Samples and details of materials. 4.
Travel Plan. 6. Surface Water
Drainage Scheme. 8. Arboricultural
Method Statement. 12. Employment
Skills Plan.

F/2013/2472

Proposed erection of an extension to Approved - 14/02/2014
existing unit B.

58

C/2014/0460

Application for submission of details Replied - 02/12/2014
to comply with conditions 3,4, & 6 of
planning consent F/2013/2472. 3.
Travel Plan. 4. Secure bicycle
parking. 6. Landscape plan.

F/2014/0658

Proposed erection of building for use Approved – 24/07/2018
classes B1 (b) & (c) light industrial
and research and development and
B8 (storage and distribution) with
ancillary office space and car and
lorry parking.

C/2014/1848

Application for submission of details Approved – 19/06/2018
to comply with the following
conditions of planning consent
F/2014/0658: 3 Details of external
materials 5 Details of cycle parking 6
Travel plan 7 Sustainable drainage
system 8 Arborcultaral method
statement.

F/2014/2653

Proposed erection of building for Use
Classes B1 (b) & (c) (light industrial
and research and development) and
Use Class B8 (storage and
distribution) with ancillary office
space and car and lorry parking and
ancillary works within existing
Business Park.
Application for submission of details
to comply with the following
conditions of planning consent
F/2014/2653: 3. External materials.
5. Cycle Parking. 6. Travel Plan. 7.
Sustainable
Drainage.
8.
Landscaping Scheme.
Full application for the proposed
erection of new business unit for use
classes B1(b)and(c))light industrial
and research and development) and
B8 ( storage and dsitribution )use,
with ancillary office space as well as
car and lorry parking and ancillary
works within existing Business park.
Conditions application for the
submission of details to comply with
the following conditions of planning
consent 152528 (dated 11/11/15): 3.
Samples and details of materials. 6.
Cycle Parking. 7. Travel Plan. 8.

C/2015/0356

152528

153313

59

Approved – 21/01/2015

Replied – 11/03/2015

Approved – 11/11/2015

Split
decision
01/03/2016

–

Sustainable Drainage Scheme. 9.
Landscaping Scheme.
160013

Full planning application for the Approved – 01/03/2018
change of use of existing garage into
a office space plus a single storey
side extension to form construction of
new attached garage.

160512

Full application for the proposed
extension of Unit N to provide
additional space for Business Use
Classes B1(b) & (c) (Light Industrial
and Research and Development)
and
B8
Use
(Storage
and
Distribution) with Ancillary Offices,
Car and Lorry Parking and ancillary
works within existing Business Park.
Full planning application for the
proposed erection of new business
unit for use classes B1 (b) and (c)
(Light industrial and research and
development) and B8 (Storage and
Distribution) is with ancillary office
space as well as car and lorry
parking with ancillary works within
existing business park.
Full application for the proposed
erection of a new business unit for
use class B1(b) and (c) (Light,
Industrial,
Research
and
Development) and B8 (Storage and
Distribution) use with ancillary office
space as well as car and lorry
parking with ancillary works adjoining
existing Business Park.
Application for submission of details
to comply with the following
conditions of planning consent
161668 (23/08/2016). 3. Details of
materials for external surfaces. 6.
Cycle parking details. 7. Travel Plan.
8. Sustainable Drainage Scheme. 9.
Landscaping Scheme.

161668

162594

162908

Approved – 18/04/2016

Approved – 23/08/2016

Refused- 12/12/2016 –
Dismissed at appeal.

Split
decision
15/12/2016

172291

Full application for the proposed Refused – 23/11/2017
change of use including Engineering
works to provide HGV parking area
(Retrospective).

173684

Full application for the proposed Approved – 04/05/2018
erection of new business unit for Use

60

–

Classes B1(b) and (c) (Light
Industrial
and
Research
and
Development) and B8 (Storage and
Distribution) use with ancillary office
space as well as car and commercial
vehicle parking with ancillary works
within existing Business Park.
180683

180629
181619

181995

181939

182536

181986

182564

182720

Full application for the proposed
erection
of
2no
light
industrial/storage units H3 and H4
(use classes B1(a, (B), (c) and B8
with vehicle parking and ancillary
works following demolition of existing
buildings ( part retrospective ).
Full application for the proposed
erection of replacement stable block.
Application for submission of details
to comply with following conditions of
planning consent 173684 (dated
4/5/18)- 3. External materials 6.
Cycle parking 8. Sustainable
drainage scheme 9. Landscaping
Application for submission of details
to comply with the following
conditions of planning consent
173684 (dated 04/5/18)- 5. Travel
Plan
Full application for the proposed
erection of replacement stable block
for private use.
Application for submission of details
to comply with condition 9
(Landscaping) of planning consent
173684 (dated 4/5/18).
Application for submission of details
to comply with the following
conditions of planning consent
180683 (dated 26/6/18)- 3. External
materials 6. Details of cycle parking
8.
Sustainable
drainage
9.
Landscaping
Full planning application for the
erection of 2 new B1 (a), (b), (c)/B8
buildings with vehicle parking.
Application for submission of details
to comply with the following
conditions of planning consent
181939 (Dated 06/09/2018) 2.
External materials 3. Boundary
Treatments 4. Drainage Strategy 5.
Programme of Archaeology Works

61

Approved – 21/06/2018

Refused – 09/05/2018
Appeal withdrawn.
Split
Decision
–
06/07/2018

Approved – 02/10/2018

Approved – 06/09/2018
Approved – 26/10/2018

Approved – 22/01/2019

Approved – 03/12/2018
Approved – 20/11/2018

182808

182360

190189

190882

191500

200144

Full planning application for the Approved – 21/11/2018
proposed erection of light
industrial units M2 and M3 with
vehicle parking and ancillary works
within existing Business Park.
Full planning permission for the Approved – 14/12/2018
change of use of land including
engineering works to provide HGV
parking area for Lambs Farm
Business Park. (Part retrospective).
Application for submission of details
to comply with the following
conditions of planning consent
182564 (03/12/2018)
3. External Material
4. Drainage Strategy
6. Cycle parking
Application for the submission of
details to comply with the following
condition of planning consent
182564 (03/12/2018). 7. Travel Plan.
Application to vary condition 2 of
planning consent 182808 for the
Full planning application for the
proposed erection of light
industrial units M2 and M3 with
vehicle parking and ancillary works
within existing Business Park.
Condition 2 relates to approved plans
to allow improved access to adjacent
units.
Application for submission of details
to comply with the following condition
of planning consent 182360 dated
14/12/2018.
Condition
4.
Landscaping.

SUMMARY INFORMATION
For Commercial
Site Area
Previous land use(s) and floorspace(s)
Proposed floorspace of each use
Change in floorspace (+/-)
Number of jobs created/lost
Existing parking spaces
Proposed parking spaces

Approved – 15/03/2019

Approved – 08/05/2019

Approved – 23/07/2019

Approved – 23/03/2020

0.5 ha
Land for HGV Parking. Floorspace N/A
N/A
+429 m2
16 (estimated).
N/A
17

62

CONSULTATION RESPONSES
WBC Biodiversity
WBC Planning Policy

No objection, subject to conditions.
No objection, providing there is no
unacceptable impact on the character of the
Countryside.
Request additional information.
No objection.
Recommend approval with conditions.
No objection.
No comments received
No objection.

WBC Drainage
WBC Environmental Health
WBC Highways
WBC Tree & Landscape
WBC Public Rights of Way
Berkshire Archaeology

REPRESENTATIONS
Town/Parish Council: Object to this application for the following reasons:


The three units would take away parking and turning spaces. The HGV parking
and turning area is critical to the use of the site and prevents spillage onto Back
Lane.
(Officer note: the applicant has provided a plan which demonstrates that HGV’s
will be able to park and turn within the site.





The proposal may be followed by another attempt to construct new parking in the
Countryside.
The units are densely packed in the business park which leads to an urbanising
impact and restricted service areas. This is especially inappropriate on the edge
of the business park in this more rural southern location.
Request a condition requiring a hedge to be planted to the west of the existing
service road.
(Officer note: This application must be assessed on its own merits and the Council
cannot speculate as to what further applications may be made in the future. The
proposal is not considered harmful to the character of the area as addressed in
the relevant section of this report. Some landscaping is already present close to
the building and no additional landscaping is required).




The entrance to the business park is inadequate and was last improved in 2009.
The proposal leads to surface water runoff onto the main road. The drainage
system is inadequate.
(Officer note: The Council’s Highways Officer has no objection to the use of the
existing access, nor have they indicated that they object in terms of impacts on the
local or wider highway network. Drainage on the site can be dealt with by
condition).

Local Members: Cllr Stuart Munro has listed the application and believes that it
represents encroachment into the Countryside.

63

Neighbours:
12 objections received which state the following:








The application is on land which was never part of the business park, it was a field
which belonged to a neighbour. There will be encroachment into the Countryside.
There has been significant development at the business park over time (since
1997) and this needs to be reviewed. The original area of the site was 0.75
hectares but the total floorspace on the site is now 3750 m 2.
The inspector examining the Core Strategy in 2010 only identified scope for limited
development on the site. In the period 2012 to 2016, around 2300 square metres
has been created for business units.
The proposal is contrary to the decision of an inspector in 2017 (ref:162594). The
lorry park on which the proposal sits was recently agricultural land and this has
been necessitated by the construction of further business units on the lorry park.
If the current application is approved, one fifth of the covered space within the
business park has been built since 2017. The proposal will create a hard edge to
the countryside, almost a kilometre from the entrance and this has an urbanising
effect. There is no policy basis to support further development at this site. An
inspector has considered this site unsuitable for further employment development.
The site is not a core employment area.
The development would be visible from Lambs Lane and also a nearby public
footpath.
(Officer note: It is acknowledged that there has been expansion of the business
park over time. The proposal would sit on an existing HGV parking area which was
recently approved by the Council. The principle of the development is discussed
in detail in the relevant section of this report.)







There has been an incremental impact on the local road network, environment and
local amenity value. There are Highway safety issues at the entrance in Back Lane.
There is a school nearby and there are residential properties opposite. The
proposal will lead to pollution (water and air) and lead to loss of wildlife. Increased
activity will disturb neighbours.
The application fails to mention the residential properties opposite the entrance to
the site on Back Lane. Recent development on the site has led to a significant
increase in journeys made to and from the site, leading to increased noise and a
deterioration in the amenity value of the area. Photographic evidence of an HGV
parked on Back Lane and congestion on the same road.
The business units will become crowded together and this will create congestion
and affect circulation in this part of the site.

(Officer note: The Council’s Highways Officer has raised no objection to this incremental
increase in business units, including in relation to impact on the nearby road network and
a plan has shown that HGV’s can still circulate within thesite. It is noted that a photograph
of an HGV parked on the adjacent road has been submitted, along with photos showing
congestion. The entrance to the site is also near a school. However, there are no
objections on these grounds and illegal parking be occurring, this is a civil matter).


The business park cannot be drained by soakaway, surface water flooding already
occurs onto the nearby main road and further down the slope. Climate change will
make this worse and the proposal involves another area of impermeable surface.

64

(Officer note: Drainage on the site can be dealt with by condition. It is noted that
the proposal would be placed on an existing man-made surface).


The placement of the units directly adjacent other commercial units will block light
from the first floor window and impede the rear facing fire exist route.

(Officer note: The impact of the proposal on light reaching a window of an adjacent
commercial unit would not substantiate a reason to refuse this application. The impact of
the proposal on the fire escape of a modest neighbouring unit is not a material planning
consideration).
APPLICANTS POINTS
 The business park is popular and provides local business with high quality space.
 The business park is well kept and well located. There is strong demand for such
employment space.
 The government supports economic growth. The proposed buildings lie within an
established Business Park and the proposed development will provide rural
employment and contribute to enhancing the rural economy and the local economy
as a whole.
 The site is currently well screened and new landscaping has been recently planted.
The buildings are designed to reflect the existing character, scale and materials of
the Business Park. The external materials are consistent with those used throughout
the Business Park.
 Parking for HGV’s is retained.
PLANNING POLICY
National Policy

NPPF

National Planning Policy Framework

Adopted Core Strategy DPD 2010

CP1

Sustainable Development

CP2

Inclusive Communities

CP3

General Principles for Development

CP4

Infrastructure Requirements

CP6

Managing Travel Demand

CP7

Biodiversity

CP8

Thames
Basin
Protection Area

CP9

Scale and Location of Development
Proposals

CP11

Proposals outside development limits
(including countryside)

CP15

Employment Development

Adopted Managing Development CC01
Delivery Local Plan 2014

Heaths

Special

Presumption in Favour of Sustainable
Development

CC02

Development Limits

CC03

Green
Infrastructure,
Landscaping

CC04

Sustainable Design and Construction

65

Trees

and

Supplementary
Documents
(SPD)

CC05

Renewable energy and decentralised
energy networks

CC06

Noise

CC07

Parking

CC09

Development and Flood Risk (from all
sources)

CC10

Sustainable Drainage

TB11

Core Employment Areas

TB12

Employment Skills Plan

TB21

Landscape Character

TB23

Biodiversity and Development

TB24

Designated Heritage Assets

TB25

Archaeology

Planning BDG

Borough Design Guide – Section 4
DCLG –
Standards

National

Internal

Space

PLANNING ISSUES
Description of Development:
1. The planning application involves the construction of 3 new business units on an area
currently used for HGV parking, within Lambs Farm Business Park. Like other units
in the business park, they would be constructed of a brick base, with profiled metal
cladding and a pitched roof.
2. The history of the site is important in this case as there have been numerous recent
applications. The area upon which it is proposed to construct the units was previously
outside the historic boundary of the business park. However, the use of the land for
parking of HGV’s was approved under permission ref 182360. This required the
removal of part of the unauthorised hardstanding and this appears to have been
carried out.
Principle of Development:
3. The National Planning Policy Framework has an underlying presumption in favour of
sustainable development which is carried through to the local Development Plan. The
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan (MDD) Policy CC01 states that planning
applications that accord with the policies in the Development Plan for Wokingham
Borough will be approved without delay, unless material considerations indicate
otherwise.
4. The application site is located to the south of the settlement of Spencers Wood,
outside of development limits as defined by Core Strategy policy CP9 and updated
by MDD policy CC02. The site is therefore located in the countryside in policy terms
and Core Strategy policy CP11 applies. In accordance with CP11, development
proposals will not normally be permitted except where one or more of the specified

66

exceptions apply. The site has an extensive planning history, with a number of
planning permissions allowing the growth of the business park over recent years.
5. The proposal relates to the erection of 3 additional business units at Lambs Farm
Business Park comprising a total additional floorspace of 465m 2. The units are to
comprise light industrial (B1(a), (b), (c)) and storage (B8) business uses. The
proposals would extend the built form of the site southwards into a tarmacked area,
which is understood to currently be used for parking of HGVs. Lambs Farm was
originally a farmstead within open countryside with associated farm buildings in close
proximity to the original farmhouse. Over a number of years these farm buildings have
been demolished and rebuilt and diversified for business use creating Lambs Farm
Business Park. In recent years the number of units and associated parking has
significantly increased on the eastern side of the site.
6. The exception set out in part 1) of CP11, is where development contributes to “diverse
and sustainable rural enterprises within the Borough”. Any exceptions must also then
comply with part 2), that the development should not lead to excessive encroachment
or expansion beyond the original buildings, and also part 3), that the development is
contained within suitably located buildings that are appropriate for conversion.
7. The key consideration would be whether the proposals contribute to a ‘rural
enterprise’, for which no further definition is given in policy or supporting text.
Likewise, ‘rural enterprise’ is not specifically defined in national policy, however, as
discussed below, the NPPF supports the principle of all types of employment
development in countryside locations. Therefore, it would be reasonable to interpret
‘rural enterprise’ as including existing enterprises which are in rural locations, and as
such there would be no direct conflict with this aspect of CP11. The Planning Policy
Officer has given the following advice:
Compliance or conflict with policy CP11 would then hinge on an assessment of
whether the development represents excessive encroachment away from original
buildings and whether it is contained within a suitably located building. With regard to
encroachment, consideration should be had to the scale of the new units proposed
and their location within the site in relation to existing built form and previously
developed land. Consideration should also be given to the extent of recent
development at the site and whether or not this represents an unreasonable
proliferation of development into the countryside away from original buildings. With
regard to being contained within an existing building, the proposal clearly does not
meet this criterion, however regard should be had in the planning balance to the fact
the proposal is on an area of tarmac.
8. The plan below is the earliest plan of the site in the council’s possession (from 1966):

67

9. The above plan shows that there has been considerable expansion of development
into the countryside over time, away from the original buildings (those which were
present in 1948 or when they were first built if built since). However, in line with the
advice from the Planning Policy Officer, whether new buildings constitute excessive
development away from the original buildings will require consideration of the scale
of the new units proposed and their location within the site in relation to existing built
form and previously developed land. Consideration should also be given to the extent
of recent development at the site and whether or not this represents an unreasonable
proliferation of development into the countryside away from original buildings.
10. It is noted that there has been significant recent development on the site, including
beyond its historic boundaries. It is also noted that an application for a new building
in the fields to the west of the site was dismissed by a planning inspector (ref:
162594), for reasons relating to encroachment into the Countryside. However the
new buildings are located on existing hardstanding, which was considered
acceptable development in the Countryside recently and could at any point be
reasonably home to many large HGV’s (which have considerable bulk and therefore
impact on the Countryside). The proposed new buildings are tucked very close to
existing buildings on the site and therefore would be viewed against their existing
bulk. The new buildings would not result in an increase in the amount of hardstanding
beyond the existing built up envelope and would be entirely contained on existing
hardstanding. For these reasons, it is not considered that the buildings would
encroach excessively away from the original buildings. The building considered by
the inspector would have protruded significantly into the fields to the west of the site
and the impact on the countryside would have been more apparent.

68

11. The application site is not a Core Employment Area (CEA) as designated by Core
Strategy Policy CP15. The development plan approach to development for
employment use is to provide for future employment needs in the borough through
retaining the CEAs and encouraging their continued intensification by supporting
development for B uses. The supporting text to Policy TB11 of the MDD confirms that
the majority of employment growth will take place within the identified CEAs.
However, the Planning Policy Officer has advised that CP15 also has a qualitative
element and states that ‘Provision will be made for a range of sizes, types, quality
and locations of premises and sites in order to meet incubator/start up, move on,
expansion and investment accommodation needs and having regard to the needs of
specific sectors of the business community.
12. The site is not a CEA and therefore the development plan does not specifically
envisage that employment growth will occur in this location, beyond the limited
support of policy CP11. However, the Planning Policy Officer has further advised that
as the site is currently a viable business park and as it is located in Spencers Wood
outside a CEA, it offers an alternative location / site / size of employment land within
the Borough. The relatively modest additional floorspace proposed could continue to
assist the site in providing for this qualitative aspect of CP15. In any case, the
inspector involved in the assessment of application 162594 described policy CP15
as ‘rigid’ and ‘prescriptive’ in its approach compared with the NPPF and therefore
only afforded the policy limited weight. The NPF is discussed in more details below.
13. The NPPF is a material consideration in the planning balance. Section 6 of the NPPF
relates to building a strong, competitive economy and makes specific reference to
supporting a prosperous rural economy. Paragraph 83 states that “Planning policies
and decisions should enable: a) the sustainable growth and expansion of all types of
business in rural areas, both through conversion of existing buildings and welldesigned new buildings;…”
14. Paragraph 84 further clarifies that:
“Planning policies and decisions should recognise that sites to meet local
business and community needs in rural areas may have to be found adjacent
to or beyond existing settlements, and in locations that are not well served by
public transport. In these circumstances it will be important to ensure that
development is sensitive to its surroundings, does not have an unacceptable
impact on local roads and exploits any opportunities to make a location more
sustainable (for example by improving the scope for access on foot, by cycling or
by public transport). The use of previously developed land, and sites that are
physically well-related to existing settlements, should be encouraged where
suitable opportunities exist.” (Officer emphasis).
15. The NPPF defines previously developed land (PDL) as “Land which is or was
occupied by a permanent structure, including the curtilage of the developed land
(although it should not be assumed that the whole of the curtilage should be
developed) and any associated fixed surface infrastructure…” The Planning Policy
Officer is of the view that the application site appears to satisfy this definition, being,
as a minimum, within the curtilage of the developed land. It is noted that this land has
only been recently developed, however as previously discussed, the construction of
hardstanding and its use for parking of HGV’s has already been accepted by the local

69

planning authority. The proposal may result in an intensification of the use of the
business park as a whole, but it would not result in further expansion.
16. The Local Plan Update (LPU) is at a fairly early stage of preparation. At the time of
writing, the LPU has limited weight in the decision making process. Notwithstanding,
land to the west of Lambs Lane Business Park (reference 5SW013) has been
promoted through the Local Plan Update process for B1a, B1b and B8. This is
proposed as an extension to the existing business park site. The Housing and
Economic Land Availability Assessment (HELAA) published alongside the Draft Plan
provides an assessment of each of the roughly 300 promoted sites. The assessment
for site 5SW013 (see HELAA Appendix D page 39) concluded the site to be
potentially suitable for development. While considered potentially suitable, the Draft
Plan does not propose to allocate site 5SW013 for future development. The current
application site is materially different to that assessed through the HELAA, being
located to the east of the business park’s access road, adjacent to the existing built
up area of the site, and therefore its protrusion into open countryside is less
pronounced than the promoted site.
17. Policy ER4 of the Draft Plan relates to ‘Supporting the rural economy’. ER4 states
that:
“The rural economy will be supported by small scale development within the
countryside, where it is demonstrated that the proposal:
a) Is genuinely required to support an existing or new rural business or
enterprise;…
18. Criterion 2 of draft policy ER4 further requires that all development be contained
within appropriately converted existing buildings or in well-designed new buildings
which are proportionate to the use and respect the character of the rural setting. The
Housing Policy officer has indicated that this approach is arguably more permissive
than the existing CP11. They have also indicated that there is broadly a need for
industrial floorspace over the longer term plan period to 2036, however this is based
on evidence not yet tested through Examination in Public and therefore holds limited
weight.
19. Overall, the NPPF offers support for all types of employment development within rural
locations. The principle of development is supported by national policy subject to
there being no unacceptable impacts and when weighed against other national policy
aims, principally recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside.
Some limited weight can be given to support of the scheme from the Local Plan
Update and other evidence as put forward by the Planning Policy Officer. There has
been expansion of the business park in the recent past and there has been
considerable expansion when considered against the original buildings, numerous
neighbour objections have also been received relating to the incremental expansions
at this site. Due to their position within the site and on already developed land, it is
not considered that the additional buildings would result in significant harm to the
intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside and therefore the proposal is
acceptable in principle.

70

Character of the Area:
20. Policy CP1 of the Core Strategy states that planning permission will be granted for
development proposals that ‘maintain or enhance the high quality of the
environment’. Policy CP3 of the Core Strategy states planning permission will be
granted if development is ‘of an appropriate scale of activity, mass, layout, built form,
height, materials and character to the area together with a high quality of design
without detriment to the amenities of adjoining land users including open spaces or
occupiers and their quality of life’
21. MDD policy CC03 outlines states that: Development proposals should demonstrate
how they have considered and achieved the following criteria within scheme
proposals:
a) Provide new or protect and enhance the Borough’s Green Infrastructure networks,
including the need to mitigate potential impacts of new development
b) Promote accessibility, linkages and permeability between and within existing green
corridors including public rights of way such as footpaths, cycleways and bridleways
c) Promote the integration of the scheme with any adjoining public open space or
countryside
d) Protect and retain existing trees, hedges and other landscape features
e) Incorporate high quality, ideally, native planting and landscaping as an integral part
of the scheme.
22. MDD TB21 states that:
Proposals must demonstrate how they have addressed the requirements of the
Council’s Landscape Character Assessment, including the landscape quality;
landscape strategy; landscape sensitivity and key issues.
Proposals shall retain or enhance the condition, character and features that
contribute to the landscape.
23. The site is located outside the settlement boundary of Spencers Wood within the
Countryside therefore Core Strategy Policy CP11 and MDD Local Plan Policy TB21
will apply. Basingstoke Road adjacent to the application site is designated as a
Green Route Enhancement Area within the MDD Local Plan. The landscape in
which the site is located is identified within the Wokingham District Landscape
Character Assessment as being within landscape character area J3 – Spencers
Wood Settled and Farmed Clay. The main characteristics of the landscape outside
the settlements of Spencers Wood, Shinfield and Three Mile Cross is that of an
elevated rural landscape which mainly consists of pasture with the increasing
presence of horse-keeping and some arable farmland. Field sizes vary and are
usually enclosed by a network of hedgerows and field Oaks. Woodland blocks and
copses are also frequent and are often found around traditional farmsteads. The
landscape is of a moderate quality and sensitivity with ancient woodlands and
historic field boundaries being most sensitive. One of the key issues for this
landscape character area is the demand for large scale agricultural buildings (or in

71

this case business units) leading to the visual intrusion of these elements within the
landscape.
24. The site currently consists of HGV parking allowed under planning application
182360 on what was until recently an open paddock used for grazing horses and
which has now extended the business park beyond the original defined boundary
into a greenfield area to the south.The majority of views towards the application
site are from; Basingstoke Road, Lambs Lane, and the footpath to the south of the
site, and are restricted by trees and hedgerows growing on the land outside of the
application site, although views of the rooftop of the existing buildings from the Mill
House to the south at Swallowfield are apparent.
25. The proposed units are 6.7m high and set to the south side of a staggered
arrangement of buildings on the SE side of the site that is significant in length.
Whereas the new units are slightly shorter. The impact of the buildings will be felt
on the east facing side and where they meet the existing building. The positioning
of the new buildings creates a triangle of space for additional parking areas and
wouldn’t be suitable for tree planting, however this is not considered unacceptable
due to nearby trees outside the application site and the staggered relationship with
the existing buildings. The impact on southerly views will be mitigated by locating
the new units hard against the existing so that from the south the view of built form
will not significantly change. Screening to the southern boundary of this part of the
site has been provided under a recent planning application 200144 which consists
of native hedgerow and hedgerow Oaks, although the effectiveness of the screen
will take some time to be realised the buildings are not excessive in height.
26. The Trees and Landscapes Officer has not objected to the proposal. Overall it is
considered that the new buildings would not lead to harm to the character of the
area when viewed against the backdrop of existing buildings. The proposal is
therefore acceptable in this regard.
Residential Amenities:
27. The proposal would be situated a significant distance from neighbours to the south
west and even further from neighbours to the east however there are residents closer
to the access at Back Lane. The closest residents being The Shieling and Arckley to
the west of the access and two dwellings directly opposite. Concerns have been
raised by neighbours regarding the cumulative impact of approved developments on
the land and the expansion of the business use and increased disturbance from use
of the entrance to the site. Neither the Highways Officer nor the Environmental Health
Officer have raised any issues relating to these points. Given the distance from
neighbours to the development it is not considered that the development would result
in unacceptable harm to neighbouring amenity.
Access and Movement:
28. Core Strategy Policy CP6 indicates that proposals should allow for transport choice,
improve infrastructure, provide appropriate parking, mitigate adverse effects,
enhance road safety and not cause highway problems. CC07 of the MDD Local Plan
contains the Borough parking Standards. The NPPF advises at paragraph 109 that
development should only be prevented or refused on highway grounds if there would

72

be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on
the road network would be severe.
29. The Council’s Highways Officer does not consider that the proposal would have a
significant impact on the highway network. They also consider that the existing,
established access road into the business park is suitable to accommodate vehicles
associated with the proposed use. While neighbouring objections are taken into
consideration and it is acknowledged that there have been incremental increases to
the size of the business park, the proposals are therefore acceptable with regards
impacts on the highway network and the access is suitable.
30. The applicant has provided tracking drawings which demonstrate that the rest of the
HGV parking area will be unaffected. They have also provided a revised parking plan
which demonstrates 17 spaces, which are in accordance with the Borough
Standards. It is noted that a number of these spaces are currently present and that
therefore they are likely to be used for neighbouring units – meaning a loss of parking
for some neighbouring units. The Highway’s Officer has indicated that due to a lack
of parking issues on the site overall and the likelihood that this will effect on-street
parking being minimal, they have no objection to the overall level of parking being
provided. 2 electric vehicle charging points have also been provided in accordance
with the Highways Design Guide. A revised travel plan for the business park has been
provided. At the time of writing, this has not yet been reviewed by the relevant
consultee within the Council. An update with regards the acceptability of the travel
plan will be provided to members at the Planning Committee. Should the travel plan
be unacceptable, it would not be unreasonable to require a revised plan by condition
and this would be required to make the application acceptable.
31. For the above reasons, the proposal is in accordance with the National Planning
Policy Framework, CP6 of the Core Strategy and CC07 of the MDD Local Plan and
is acceptable.
Flooding and Drainage:
32. CC09 of the Core Strategy relates to flood risk. CC10 relates to sustainable drainage.
The site is situated in flood zone 1.
CC10 indicates:
All development proposals must ensure surface water arising from the proposed
development including taking into account climate change is managed in a
sustainable manner. This must be demonstrated through:
a) A Flood Risk Assessment, or
b) Through a Surface Water Drainage Strategy.
All development proposals must
a) Reproduce greenfield runoff characteristics and return run-off rates and volumes
back to the original greenfield levels, for greenfield sites and for brownfield sites both
run-off rates and volumes be reduced to as near greenfield as practicably possible.

73

b) Incorporate Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS), where practicable, which must
be of an appropriate design to meet the long term needs of the development and
which achieve wider social and environmental benefits
c) Provide clear details of proposed SuDS including the adoption arrangements and
how they will be maintained to the satisfaction of the Council [as the Lead Local Flood
Authority (LLFA)]
d) Not cause adverse impacts to the public sewerage network serving the
development where discharging surface water to a public sewer.
33. The NPPF states:
When determining any planning applications, local planning authorities should
ensure that flood risk is not increased elsewhere. Where appropriate, applications
should be supported by a site-specific flood-risk assessment. Development should
only be allowed in areas at risk of flooding where, in the light of this assessment (and
the sequential and exception tests, as applicable) it can be demonstrated that:
a) within the site, the most vulnerable development is located in areas of lowest flood
risk, unless there are overriding reasons to prefer a different location;
b) the development is appropriately flood resistant and resilient;
c) it incorporates sustainable drainage systems, unless there is clear evidence
that this would be inappropriate;
d) any residual risk can be safely managed; and
e) safe access and escape routes are included where appropriate, as part of an
agreed emergency plan.
34. The proposal is located on existing hardstanding. The details submitted with this
application indicate that surface water drainage will be accommodated for via the
existing drainage system. This consist of soakaways. A number of objections have
been received in relation to problems with surface water runoff at this site and it is
claimed that soakaways are not sufficient. The Council’s Flood Risk and Drainage
Officer has indicated that a Surface Water Drainage Strategy is required which should
include details of the existing site drainage stating how proposed development would
feed into the existing drainage system. Drainage strategy (including SuDS) will need
to be shown on a drawing, indicating the location and sizing of all drainage features
with pipe connections from the proposed development to the discharge points. These
details can be required by condition and such a condition would be required In order
that a suitable drainage system is provided in accordance with policy CC10 and the
NPPF. While the neighbouring objections are taken into consideration, the condition
will require evidence that the proposed/existing system is functional and therefore the
proposal is in accordance with the relevant policy, subject to the discussed condition.
Ecology:
35. Policy CP7 of the Core strategy and TB23 of the MDD Local Plan relate to Biodiversity
and Development. The application site comprises a business park surrounded by a

74

hedgerow and intensively farmed agricultural fields. The Council’s Ecologist has
indicated that the habitat to be affected by the proposals is hardstanding which is of
low ecological value. The hedgerow will be retained. The existing building adjacent
to the proposed new buildings is largely constructed of metal and is unlikely to host
roosting bats. However, the surrounding habitat is suitable for use by foraging and
commuting bats (and other wildlife) that could be affected by any proposed new
lighting strategy. A condition should therefore be set to ensure that any new external
lighting proposed does not adversely affect bats or other wildlife. The proposal is
therefore in accordance with the relevant policies.
Archaeology:
36. TB25 of the MDD Local Plan relates to Archaeology. Lambs Farm Business Park lies
close to and north of a crop mark complex that is considered to indicate the presence
of a former medieval settlement. However archaeological monitoring during recent
development in and around the Business Park has so far failed to identify any buried
remains.
37. Berkshire Archaeology have indicated that as the current proposal lies within an area
of existing hard standing, there will have already been some impact on below ground
deposits. In view of this, the relatively modest area included within this proposal, and
the absence of buried remains from elsewhere within the Business Park, they
consider that an archaeological response to this proposal would not be proportionate.
No further action is therefore required in relation to this application as regards the
buried archaeological heritage and the proposal is in accordance with the relevant
policy.

The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010)
In determining this application the Council is required to have due regard to its obligations
under the Equality Act 2010. The key equalities protected characteristics include age,
disability, gender, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and
maternity, race, religion or belief. There is no indication or evidence (including from
consultation on the application) that the protected groups identified by the Act have or will
have different needs, experiences, issues and priorities in relation to this particular
planning application and there would be no significant adverse impacts upon protected
groups as a result of the development. (Delete/amend as appropriate: If impacts upon
persons with protected characteristics are identified please seek further
guidance. The impacts must be detailed in this section, consideration must be
given to potential mitigation and all issues given weight in the planning balance).
CONCLUSION
The proposal would result in the provision of new business units, outside of settlement
limits and in the Countryside. However, the buildings are within an existing business park.
While the buildings are outside the historic boundaries of the business park, use of the
land for parking of HGV’s has been considered acceptable by the Local Planning
Authority. Despite neighbour objections and the concerns of Cllr Stuart Munro, it is not
considered that the proposal would lead to harm to the character of the Countryside or
the wider area and based on a thorough assessment against national and local planning
policy, the proposal is considered acceptable in principle.

75

All other material considerations have been addressed, including issues raised by local
residents and the Parish Council and no harm has been found, subject to conditions. The
proposal is therefore recommended for approval.

76

Copyright is reserved
Copying or reproduction of this drawing or electronic data with out the
written permission of the legal owner is prohibited.
Disclaimer
No responsibility is implied for the accuracy or for any consequence
resulting from the miss use or alteration of this information.

0

10m

20m

77
C2
C1
REV

12/06/20
11/05/20
DATE

SYMBOLS ADDED / EMPHASISED
For Submission
COMMENT

AOB - RN
AT - RN
CHK - APD

Key - CHK = Checked by APD = Approved by

Robert Davies John West Ltd
ARCHITECTS
ESTABLISHED 1973
The Courtyard 59 Church Street
Staines - upon - Thames TW18 4XS
+44 (0) 1784459211 | info@rdjwltd.com | www.rdjwltd.com
PROJECT

Lambs Farm Business Park,
Swallowfield, Berks
TITLE

Proposed Block Plan
PURPOSE OF ISSUE

DRAWN BY

CHECKED BY

Planning

AT

RN

PROJECT No

STATUS

REVISION

SCALE @ A3

0583

A3

C2

1:500

DRAWING NUMBER

0583-RDJWL-R-XX-DR-A-0016

This page is intentionally left blank

0

2m

4m

6m

8m

10m

Copyright is reserved
Copying or reproduction of this drawing or electronic data with out the written
permission of the legal owner is prohibited
Disclaimer
No responsibility is implied for the accuracy or for any consequence resulting
from the miss use or alteration of this information
Explanations
Unless otherwise stated:
General tolerances are to ISO 2768-mK
•
Dimensions are in millimetres
•
Symbols should be read in conjunction with BS 8541-2
•
Instructions
Responsibility is not accepted for values obtained in scaling from this drawing
Construction information should be taken from written dimensions only
Inconsistencies should be reported to the legal owner immediately

79
P3
P2
P1

12/03/20
11/03/20
06/03/20

REV DATE

Eaves height amended
Amendments made to client's request
For comment
COMMENT

OA - RN
OA - RN
OA - RN
CHK - APD

Key - CHK = Checked by APD = Approved by

Robert Davies John West Ltd
ARCHITECTS
ESTABLISHED 1973
The Courtyard 59 Church Street
Staines - upon - Thames TW18 4XS
+44 (0) 1784459211 | info@rdjwltd.com | www.rdjwltd.com
PROJECT

Lambs Farm Business Park,
Swallowfield, Berks

TITLE

Proposed Unit R
Plans, Elevations & Sections

PURPOSE OF ISSUE

DRAWN BY

CHECKED BY

Preliminary

OA

RN

PROJECT No

STATUS

REVISION

SCALE @ A1

L0583

S3

P3

1:100

DRAWING NUMBER

0583-RDJWL-R-XX-DR-A-0025

This page is intentionally left blank

81

This page is intentionally left blank

PLANNING REF
: 200888
PROPERTY ADDRESS : Parish Office
: Swallowfield Street, Swallowfield, Reading
: RG7 1QX
SUBMITTED BY
: Swallowfield Parish Council
DATE SUBMITTED
: 01/06/2020
COMMENTS:
Swallowfieldfield Parish Council object to this application for the following
reasons:
The three units would extend into what is currently the main HGV parking and
turning area at the south eastern corner so although within the main site would
take away i mportant vehicle parking and turning space. This will lead to the
loss of HGV parking and turning area at the south eastern corner which is
critical for the operation of the site and prevents parking spillage onto Back
Lane
near the school. This may well be followed by another attempt to
extend the parking southwards beyond the current curtilage and
creeping towards the stable block.
The council also considered that the following points areimportant:
Massing of units leading to
urbanising in countrys ide thereby overbearing in its
setting
Massing of units leading to very restricted service areas and inadequate
entrance at the business park; entrance last improved in 2009 to comply with
splay condition in upholding appeal relating to F20067760
N egative impact on highway safety in and around Back Lanein vicinity of Lambs
Lane Primary School
Inadequate soakaway drainage system no longer sustainable leading to major run
off on to B3349 at Lambs Farmhouse and south into adjoining land that slopes
to the River Loddon; best guesstimate area of buildings and hardporous (lorry
park) surfaces at the park is in the region of 8 acres
Contravenes council planning policies including:
oCP1; sustainable development
oCP3; principles of development
oC P9; scale and
location of developments
oCP11; development in the
countryside
oCP15; core employment areas
If minded to approve the
council would ask that conditions are included which ensure that a hedge is
created with a mixture of trees (not leylandi i) to the west of the existing
service areasroad to preserve what the inspector
noted (162594 appeal decision, para. 5) The open nature of the
paddock land, whilst subject to some urban influences, provides an attractive
and spatial setting to the LFBP and contributes positively to the countryside
character and appearance of the area.

83

This page is intentionally left blank

0

2m

4m

6m

8m

10m

Copyright is reserved
Copying or reproduction of this drawing or electronic data with out the written
permission of the legal owner is prohibited
Disclaimer
No responsibility is implied for the accuracy or for any consequence resulting
from the miss use or alteration of this information
Explanations
Unless otherwise stated:
"
General tolerances are to ISO 2768-mK
"
Dimensions are in millimetres
"
Symbols should be read in conjunction with BS 8541-2
Instructions
Responsibility is not accepted for values obtained in scaling from this drawing
Construction information should be taken from written dimensions only
Inconsistencies should be reported to the legal owner immediately

+

ra m p

+

Max L
ing wall

) Artic

ulated
V

ehicle

(16.5m

49.63 m

)

m

e dg e

32.52

lanted h

85

h retain

th (UK

newly p

0.6m hig

egal L
eng

P3

12/06/20

P2 10/06/20
P1 27/03/20
REV DATE
Key

Symbols emphasised & spaces clearly
numbered

GS - GS
GS - RN
CHK - APD

Layout amended
For comment
COMMENT

- CHK = Checked by

AOB - GS

APD = Approved by

Robert Davies John West Ltd
ARCHITECTS
ESTABLISHED 1973
The Courtyard 59 Church Street
Staines - upon - Thames TW18 4XS

GATE

+44 (0) 1784459211 | info@rdjwltd.com | www.rdjwltd.com
PROJECT

Lambs Farm Business Park,
Swallowfield, Berks.

TITLE

Proposed Vehicle Tracking

PURPOSE OF ISSUE

DRAWN BY

CHECKED BY

Preliminary

GS

RN

PROJECT No

STATUS

REVISION

SCALE @ A1

L0583

S3

P3

1:200

DRAWING NUMBER

0583-RDJWL-R-XX-DR-A-0027

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7.
Application
Number
193392

Expiry Date

Parish

Ward

10 July 2020

Wargrave

Remenham,
Wargrave
and Ruscombe;

Applicant
Site Address

Mrs Veronique Bensadou, Grundon Waste Management Limited
Star Works Landfill, Star Lane, Knowl Hill, Wokingham,
Berkshire, RG10 9XY
Application to vary condition 7 of planning consent 153172 in
order to extend the time for the deposit of engineering/restoration
materials (inert waste) from 21 years from the date upon which
the deposit operations commenced to 23 years, and to extend the
time for the completion of the site’s restoration from 22 years
from the date upon which the deposit operations commenced to
24 years.
Variation of Condition
6
Graham Vaughan
for Listed by Councillor Halsall
by

Proposal

Type
PS Category
Officer
Reason
determination
committee

FOR CONSIDERATION BY
REPORT PREPARED BY

Planning Committee on Wednesday, 8 July 2020
Assistant Director – Place

SUMMARY
The site is located at the eastern edge of the Borough and is a well-established landfill
site with operations commencing in 1999. There are residential properties nearby the
site, particularly on Star Lane and this comprises of properties located in both the
Wokingham and Windsor & Maidenhead Boroughs. In policy terms, the site is located in
countryside and the Green Belt. It is however recognised in the Development Plan as a
major existing site in the Green Belt.
The proposal seeks to extend the time in which landfill operations can take place on the
site. For clarity, this involves the landfill area and ancillary works as indicated by the red
line of the application submission. It does not include the rest of the site which is owned
and operated by the applicant. The extension of time would allow for the completion of
the import of inert waste onto the site which would allow for the full restoration of the site
to take place. Once this is complete the site would be available to the public including
the removal of the diversion of the public right of way through the site.
The proposal follows a similar application made in 2015 for the extension of time of
landfill operations. This allowed an additional three years to what was previously
envisaged and, with this current application therefore, the site would be worked for an
additional five years. In allowing the application, it is noted that the impacts upon
residential amenity, including the noise and activity of lorries associated with the site
would continue for longer. However, curtailing the landfill operations on the site now
would mean the site could not be restored in accordance with the agreed restoration
plan. This would mean the site would be unlikely to establish as a woodland, would not
have appropriate drainage in place and would not have the correct leachate and landfill
gas collection systems.

87

Whilst there would be further impact on residential amenity, when weighing the different
factors in the planning balance it is considered that the benefits of completing the
scheme outweigh this harm. Furthermore, the conditions restricting other aspects of the
site in terms of lorry movements and working hours would remain in place. As such, the
variation of the condition to allow an additional two years of operation is recommended
for approval.
PLANNING STATUS
Badger Sett Consultation Zones
Ancient Woodlands
Contaminated Land Consultation Zone
Local Authorities
Heathrow Aerodrome Consultation Zone
Archaeological Sites
Affordable Housing Thresholds
Bat Roost Habitat Suitability
Berkshire Waste Local Plan
Borough Parishes
Scale and Location of Development Proposals
Green Belt
Ground Water Zones
Local Wildlife Site
Green Belt Land Major Developments
Replacement Mineral Local Plan
Tree Preservation Orders
Borough Wards
Radon Affected Area
Landfill Gas Consultation Zone
Landscape Character Assessment Area
Complete PRoW
SSSI Impact Risk Zones
RECOMMENDATION
That the committee authorise the GRANT OF PLANNING PERMISSION subject to
the following:
A. Conditions and informatives:
Conditions:
1. Condition 7 now reads: The deposit of non-inert waste shall cease not later than
20 years from the date upon which the deposit operations commenced and the
deposit of inert waste shall cease not later than 23 years from the date upon
which the deposit operations commenced. All restoration operations, excluding
aftercare, shall be completed within 24 years of the date of the start of waste
disposal operations.”
Reason: To ensure the timely completion of landfill operations and subsequent
restoration in order to protect the Green Belt, countryside and residential
amenities. Relevant policy: Core Strategy Policies CP1, CP3, CP11 and CP12
and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan Policies TB01, TB02 and TB21.

88

2. All other conditions of planning permission 153172 apply to this permission.
Please see appendix one for list of conditions attached to 153172.
PLANNING HISTORY
Application No.

Description and Decision

184/47

Interim development order (IDO) for mineral extraction granted in
July 1947
Remedial filling and restoration of former landfill site, extension of
landfill and restoration of quarry, site roads, weighbridge and office
on land west of Star Works allowed at appeal on 5th September
1994
Mineral extraction at star works - Appeal against conditions imposed
on previous consent 342286 part allowed and part dismissed at
appeal on 12th September 2006
Proposed variation to conditions 1 & 2 of consent 97/65283 to allow
revised cell boundaries and delay the construction of engineered
batter conditionally approved 17th October 2008
Application for variation of Condition 11 to allow an increase in the
number of Heavy Goods vehicle movements and Non-Compliance
with Condition 4 relating to provision of batters adjacent to Area "C"
of permission 340429 conditionally approved on 11th September
2008
Variation of condition 11 of Permission 34029: From The maximum
number of heavy goods vehicle movements importing waste and
soils and exporting minerals from the site shall not exceed 90
movements in any one day of which not more than 48 movements
shall relate to the import of waste and soils, To: The maximum
number of heavy goods vehicle movements importing waste and
soils shall not exceed an average of 70 per day on a monthly basis
calculated on the basis of 5.5 working days per week. The number
of HGV movements shall not exceed 90 movements in any one day
conditionally approved on 16th December 2011
Application to vary conditions 14 & 15 of appeal planning consent
340429 (Remedial filling and restoration of former landfill site,
extension of landfill and restoration of quarry, site roads, weighbridge
and office on land west of Star Works, Star Lane, Knowl Hill) to allow
the permitted hours of operation to be extended to 1600 on
Saturdays and 0900 - 1600 on Sundays withdrawn on 4th June 2015
Variation application to condition 3 of planning consent 344446
(dated 29th May 1997) to retain the security compound, store and
landfill weighbridge for the duration of the landfill operation
conditionally approved on 3rd February 2016.
Variation application to condition 7 of planning consent 340429
(Wokingham Borough Council) and 426466 (The Royal Borough of
Windsor and Maidenhead)(granted on appeal on 05/09/1994) in
order to extend the time for the deposit of non-inert waste from 17
years from the date upon which the deposit operations commenced
to 20 years, to extend the time for the deposit of
engineering/restoration materials (inert waste) from 17 years from
the date upon which the deposit operations commenced to 21 years,
and to extend the time for the completion of the site's restoration from

340429 & 426466

MIN/2004/2560

VAR/2008/0333

VAR/2008/0334

VAR/2010/1795

VAR/2015/0670

153171

153172

89

19 years from the date upon which the deposit operations
commenced to 22 years conditionally approved on 3rd February
2016.
CONSULTATION RESPONSES
Internal
WBC Environmental Health – No objection subject to existing environmental health
related conditions to remain in effect
WBC Drainage – No objection subject to existing restoration related conditions to
remain in effect
WBC Highways – No objection subject to exising highway related conditions to remain
in effect
WBC Growth & Delivery (Planning Policy) – No comments received
WBC Ecology – No objection
WBC Green Infrastructure – No comments received
WBC Landscape and Trees – No objection
WBC Public Rights Of Way – No objection
External
RB of Windsor and Maidenhead Council – Advised they had consulted about the
development for 21 days and and Hurley Parish Council had stated “An adequate time
has been already provided to complete the project” and An appropriate monitoring of
the progress should be in place and relevant evidence published for any interested
party”. Also advised three comments from residents had been received regarding noise
pollution, air pollution and litter. A letter from Councillor Hunt, objecting to the scheme
was received (Officer note: this is the same letter as was received by Wokingham
Borough Council which was considered as per the below).
Environment Agency – Issued standing advice and advised the applicant may be
required to alter their permit for the site
REPRESENTATIONS
Parish/Town
(Wargrave
Council)

Council Objection due to detrimental impact upon residential amenity
Parish and consider the operations should cease in accordance with
the extant permission.

Adjoining
Parish Objection due to the applicant having sufficient time to
Council (Hurley Parish complete operations. Note that Wokingham Borough Council
Council)
should enforce the work to be carried out and communicate
progress of this.
Ward Member
Objection and listing request if recommended for approval
(Councillor
John due to impact upon residential amenity as highlighted by the
appeal Inspector. Officer note: the summary of the site’s
Halsall)
planning history is noted.
Member of Parliament Letter of objection received with regard to the following:
- The site has caused many difficulties for residents
(Maidenhead
prompting a number of complaints
Constituency – The Rt
Great concern that following indication by the applicant
Hon Theresa May)
they would meet timescales that an extension is now
being applied for
- Residents have suffered from high levels of noise, too
many vehicles, unpleasant smells and other
disturbances

90

-

Neighbours
Comment:

The Borough Council should have done more to
monitor the progress of the restoration programme
70 letters of objection received with regard to the following:
Officer Response:

The application was submitted over the Consultation was carried out in accordance
Christmas
period
to
restrict with planning legislation and the adopted
consultation.
Statement of Community Involvement 2019.
Above this, any comments submitted after
the consultation period were taken into
account.
The applicant indicated that operations Since the start of landfill operations on the
were on schedule and therefore a site changes in how waste is managed
request
now
indicates
poor across the country has resulted in less
management.
demand than originally expected for landfill.
The site is close to a school and there The principle of development and its
is a risk of contagion.
proximity to other users has already been
assessed and accepted.
The
applicant has misinformed It is not for the planning system to regulate
residents and the same problems still the management of individual businesses.
exist.
The reasons given by the applicant are This is considered further below but
spurious.
ultimately the LPA are satisfied that sufficient
reasons in planning terms have been
provided.
The applicant does not wish to carry out The applicant is bound by the existing
a non-profitable phase of the operation. planning conditions and the requirement of
the EA permit in order to complete the landfill
site.
Wokingham Borough Council promised This would not have been offered by the
that no further extensions would take Council given that the site is privately
place.
managed by the applicant. In any case, the
application must be determined on its own
merits and against adopted national and local
planning policy.
The first extension that was granted There is nothing in planning terms to prevent
gives sufficient time to complete the submission of a further application to vary
operations.
a condition.
Numerous complaints have been made This would have been investigated by the
regarding noise generated by plant, relevant authority and, if required, acted
vehicle noise and littering from the site. upon.
The applicant has repeatedly failed to The applicant is seeking a second extension
meet the deadlines imposed by the to the original permission and it is not
original permission.
considered unreasonable given that the

91

Inspector could not have foreseen issues
arising in the future.
The site has been a blight on the
village, causes smells and the
surrounding woods are littered with
plastic.

The impacts of the proposal are a material
consideration and have been taken into
account during the assessment of the
application. However, they should be
balanced against the impact of not
completing the landfill site fully.
Wildlife in the area should be protected. The impact on wildlife was considered and
accepted through the granting of planning
permission. The restoration of the land would
also help wildlife in the long term.
The site is close to residents and a The principle of development and its
school.
proximity to other users has already been
assessed and accepted.
Windsor and Maidenhead Borough This is not a material consideration.
Council promised no further extensions
would take place. The continued use of
the site is not fair on the surrounding
residents and would detrimentally
impact their house prices.
The land should be restored now and If operations were to cease without fully
returned to its natural state so it can be restoring the land then it would not return to
enjoyed.
its natural state and could not be safely
enjoyed.
The ‘temporary’ closure of the footpath This was accepted by the granting of
that runs through the site has been planning permission and the diversion will
ongoing for over 15 years.
cease once the landfill site has been
restored.
The operations on the site have been The impacts of the proposal are a material
ongoing for too long and continually consideration and have been taken into
impact residents through noise and account during the assessment of the
smells.
application. However, they should be
balanced against the impact of not
completing the landfill site fully.
The applicant has increased vehicle The applicant is bound by planning
movements recently causing noise at conditions in terms of total vehicle
all times.
movements. It should be noted that not all
vehicle movements associated with the
applicant are related to the landfill site.
The application should be referred to The original application was determined by
the Secretary of State.
an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of
State due to an appeal being lodged in line
with planning process. The applicant has
submitted the current application to the
relevant local planning authority also in line
with planning process and therefore it is not
currently for referral to the Secretary of State.
No enforcement of planning conditions Where enforcement is expedient to
has occurred despite being raised with undertake this has occurred. Nonetheless,
the response of the Council through

92

the Council and there is
management of the site occurring.

no enforcement is not a material consideration
for this planning application. The Council is
also unable to be involved in the day-to-day
management of individual businesses.
The restoration should be completed The owner of the land is bound by the
but not by the applicant.
planning conditions to complete restoration.
Whether this is the applicant or not is not a
material consideration.
The applicant could have stockpiled This would not have been possible given the
inert waste whilst finishing the infilling of restrictions on vehicle numbers and the type
non-inert waste.
of non-inert waste that could be accepted into
the landfill site.
The cost of operations is not a material This is not a material planning consideration.
planning consideration and if used as
such could cause a precedent.
Planning policy supports the restoration This is one factor of planning policy that
of sites without undue delay.
should be considered and balanced against
others.
Construction is taking place across the The restrictions on the type of waste that can
Borough and therefore waste from this be accepted are very stringent to ensure that
should be used on the site.
no contamination occurs.
The applicant is meant to be an expert It is not for the planning system to regulate
in their field and should have managed the management of individual businesses.
the site more appropriately.
The Council have powers to stop In its function as a Local Planning Authority,
operations and should use them.
the Council do not have the ability to force an
applicant to complete work. Whilst a
‘Completion Notice’ is a possible tool, it would
only remove
the
existing
planning
permission, it would not result in the landfill
site being completed.
nd
On 22 April 2020, a letter sent by The applicant was asked to respond to the
Barton Willmore Planning Consultants points raised in the letter and, in summary,
on behalf of local residents was stated the following:
received. In summary, this states:
- Evidence has been provided to the
- Operations should cease in line
Council regarding yearly import of
with
the
current
agreed
material onto the site.
timescales;
- The operations relate specifically to
- There is no evidence that
activities contained with the red line of
alternative sources of inert
the application.
waste have been explored;
- This is the second time an extension
- It has not been fully explored if
of the dates for complete have been
the site could be restored
sought. It became clear in 2015 that
without additional material; and,
the site would not be completed in
- There is no assurance that the
time and there have been difficulties
quantity being relied upon to
since then in completing the inert
finish the site can be achieved in
waste deposits. The non-inert waste
the proposed timescale.
was completed ahead of the agreed
timescale.
- Infill has taken place in accordance
with the agreed restoration plan and is
nearing completion. Restoring now

93

-

would lead to a landform that would
not blend into the surrounding
landscape.
There is no intention of keeping the
site open indefinitely. Other than the
cost implications of maintaining the
site, it is clear that infilling of the land
has taken place and the site is nearing
completion.

APPLICANTS POINTS
 The site is nearing completion with the deposition of non-inert waste complete in
April 2018.
 Unfortunately, due to unforeseen circumstances, the import of inert waste onto the
site has not taken place at a rate previously envisaged. To ensure successful
remediation of the site, an extension of time is required.
 The application seeks only to extend the time for operations on the site. It does not
seek to alter any other restrictions imposed by conditions.
PLANNING POLICY
National Policy

Core Strategy (CS)

MDD Local Plan (MDD)

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG)
National Planning Policy for Waste (NPPW)
CP1 – Sustainable Development
CP3 – General Principles for Development
CP6 – Managing Travel Demand
CP7 – Biodiversity
CP9 – Scale and Location of Development Proposals
CP11 – Proposals Outside Development Limits
CP12 – Green Belt
CC01 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable
Development
CC02 – Development Limits
CC06 – Noise
CC07 – Parking
TB01 – Development within the Green Belt
TB03 – Major Existing Developed Site in the Green
Belt (Star Brick and Tile Works)
TB21 – Landscape Character
TB23 – Biodiversity and Development
for Policy 11

Waste
Local
Plan
Berkshire (WLPB)
Replacement Minerals Local Policies 18 and 19
Plan for Berkshire (RMLP)

PLANNING ISSUES
Description of Development:
1. The proposal is for the extension of time for landfill operations at the Grundon
Waste Management landfill facility at Star Works, Star Lane, Knowl Hill. Whilst
originally implemented by 340429 & 426466, the landfill aspect operates under
planning permission 153172. Specifically, the application requests that condition 7
of 153172 is changed to read “The deposit of non-inert waste shall cease not later

94

than 20 years from the date upon which deposit operations commenced and the
deposit of inert waste shall cease not later than 23 years from the date upon which
deposit operations commenced. All restoration operations, excluding aftercare,
shall be completed within 24 years of the date of the start of waste disposal
operations”. This would enable operations to continue for a further two years above
the current limit i.e. five years beyond what was envisaged by the Inspector in
allowing landfill operations to occur. It should be noted that the infilling of non-inert
waste was completed in 2018 and therefore the extension of operations relates to
the infilling of inert waste and final site restoration only.
2. The landfill site is within the Green Belt and designated countryside but is
recognised in the Local Plan as a major existing development site in the Green
Belt. The use of the site is well established since being mined for mineral extraction
from 1947 as part of the approval of an interim development order. In 1994, an
application for the site to be used as landfill was allowed at an appeal stage subject
to a significant number of conditions and commenced in 1999. Some of these
conditions were contested in 2004 and this was part allowed and part dismissed
at an appeal stage. Two further applications were made in 2008 to change further
conditions and these were both approved. Other applications have been made on
the site but relate to working practices or the installation of new equipment and are
therefore not directly relevant to this application.
3. Application VAR/2015/0670 was submitted in 2015 to allow for additional
operations to take place in terms of Saturday and Sunday working. However during
the course of the application the applicant was advised that it was premature to be
considering an extension of time at this point and therefore withdrew the
application. Later in 2015, an application to extend the time limit of operations was
made through applications 153171 (relating to retention of security compound,
store and landfill weighbridge) and 153172 (relating to the specific condition sating
when operations should cease) and these were both approved. This allowed for
an additional 3 years of operations.
4. As with the 2015 submissions, the current application does not propose any
changes to the existing conditions applied to the landfill site other than the length
of time in which landfill operations can be carried out. All the conditions that protect
the amenity of local residents would remain in place in accordance with the appeal
decision and planning history.
5. For clarity, there are two distinct areas operated by the applicant as part of the Star
Works site. As indicated below, the area in red is the application site (incorporating
part of the access) and relates to the landfill area and restoration activities,
weighbridge and office. The area in blue is also used by the applicant for a
hydroclave waste management operation, which takes place in and around the
main building at the front of the site. Whilst the site as a whole is known as Star
Works, the two operations are significantly different. The impacts of the hydroclave
waste management, whilst being similar to those created by the landfill operation,
should not be confused with the other. Indeed given that the landfill area is now
capped, it will not be causing smells or releasing any litter. Additionally, traffic
movement associated with the hydroclave cannot be controlled by this application.
6. A further point of clarification is required with regard to the hydroclave operation.
Due to the Coronavirus pandemic, there has been a heightened requirement to

95

deal with medical waste; of which the Star Works site is equipped for this purpose.
As such, in the past few months, activity relating to the hydroclave has increased.
The impacts of this, such as smells and noise from lorries manoeuvring around the
site, should not be confused with the impacts of the landfill site.

7. Although not part of the application submission, for the purposes of transparency,
it should be noted that an offer was made by Royal Borough of Windsor and
Maidenhead Council for soils to be made available to help complete the site in
March 2020. Whilst the soils were acceptable for import onto the site and the
applicant offered a reduced ‘gate fee’, the applicant made the Council aware that
they did not operate the vehicles necessary to transport the material and therefore
this would need to be covered by the Council. Additionally, at the point of asking,
restrictions were in place limiting the amount of material being imported due to the
site conditions (i.e. to protect the integrity of the haul road). What could be imported
was covered by regular suppliers and the applicant was not able to disrupt this due
to the risk of losing the supply completely. As such, it was advised that delivery
could not occur until the end of April 2020. On the basis of the above, it is
understood that the Council did not wish to proceed with the matter.
Principle of Development:
8. The principle of development was established through the granting of planning
permission for landfill operations and in essence, this cannot be revisited.
However, it should be acknowledged that planning policies have changed since
the original application and in particular national policies such as the National
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the National Planning Policy for Waste
(NPPW) have come into existence. Furthermore, although not planning policy,
clearly issues around waste and landfill in terms of recycling and the waste
hierarchy have grown in significance since the original permission. This is reflected
in Government incentives and agreements and some weight should be attached
to this.
9. In terms of national policy, the NPPW states that local plans should encourage
suitable sites for waste management and in determining applications, waste
planning authorities should, inter alia:

96

a. Concern themselves with implementing the planning strategy in the Local
Plan and not with the control of processes which are a matter for the
pollution control authorities. Waste planning authorities should work on the
assumption that the relevant pollution control regime will be properly applied
and enforced;
b. Ensure that land raising or landfill sites are restored to beneficial after uses
at the earliest opportunity and to high environmental standards through the
application of appropriate conditions where necessary.
c. Consider the extent to which the capacity of existing operational facilities
would satisfy any identified need.
10. Further to this, the National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG) gives information
on determining waste applications. Specifically related to this proposal the NPPG
states:
a. Waste planning authorities should be aware that the continued provision
and availability of waste disposal sites, such as landfill, remain an important
part of the network of facilities needed to manage England’s waste.
b. The continued movement of waste up the Waste Hierarchy may mean that
landfill sites take longer to reach their full capacity, meaning an extension
of time limits to exercise the planning permission may be needed in some
circumstances, provided this is in accordance with the Local Plan and
having taken into account all material considerations.
11. At the local level, saved polices from Waste Local Plan for Berkshire and
Replacement Minerals Local Plan are applicable:
a. Policy 18 of the Minerals Local Plan 1995 (which remains a relevant
consideration) seeks to ensure that all restoration is carried out within a
reasonable timescale to an appropriate standard and an acceptable
landform, landscape and ecological character that is appropriate to its
location. In addition Policy 18 seeks to ensure that Mineral Planning
Authorities (MPA’s) are guided by the overarching aim of restoration of sites
without undue delay and will impose conditions to ensure this.
b. Policy 19 Minerals Local Plan 1995 seeks to secure environmental and
public benefits, and where possible, recreational benefits through the
restoration, after-care and after-use of mineral sites. However, as the
applicant has stated in their accompanying information, the have been
contributing factors which has impacted upon the amount of inert waste
material and soils that are available for the progressive restoration of the
site.
c. Policy 11 of the Waste Local Plan for Berkshire does not include the
proposal site as a preferred area for waste however this was not adopted
until 1998 (i.e. after the permission had been granted).
12. Through policies CP1 and CP3, the Core Strategy aims to provide sustainable
development that is appropriate for the area. Although not specifically aimed at
minerals and local waste, both policies seek environmental improvements and that
impacts on local residents’ amenity are minimised and mitigated against.
13. For applications within the Green Belt, policies CP12 of the Core Strategy and
TB01 of the Managing Development Delivery Local Plan aim to limit development

97

and maintain openness in the Green Belt. Specifically relating to the proposal site,
policy TB03 of the MDD Local Plan states:
a. The Star Brick and Tile Works, Knowl Hill is identified as a major existing
developed site in the Green Belt and is defined on the Policies Map.
b. Within the defined development envelope of the Star Brick & Tile works, the
principle of limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of the
site will only be acceptable where it would not have a greater impact on the
openness of the Green Belt and the purpose of including land within it than
the existing development.
14. In policy terms, through the NPPW and saved local policies, it can be seen that
existing facilities are acceptable to meet an operational need. Indeed the volume
of waste to be deposited in the site would not change, only the time taken to reach
this volume. This is recognised particularly in the NPPG which acknowledges that
the changes to waste disposal may result in additional time required for landfill
sites.
15. In terms of Green Belt ‘appropriateness’ it should be noted that the principle of this
has already been established by the approval of landfill operations at the site and
therefore cannot be re-considered. Furthermore, the appeal inspector states in the
decision letter at paragraph 14 that “restoration by landfill offers, in principle, the
most satisfactory way of restoring the appeal site to a condition compatible with its
special landscape designation”. Therefore, given the visually sensitive nature of
the application site, the principle of allowing the applicant additional time to ensure
that there is a suitable and acceptable standard of restoration is acceptable.
Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) Development:
16. Due to the scale and type of activity, the proposal could be considered EIA
development. Waste management facilities fall under paragraph 11 (b), Schedule
2 of the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment)
Regulations 2017 (as amended) with one of the thresholds being a site area
exceeding 0.5 hectares. Paragraph 13 (b) of Schedule 2 also relates to the change
or extension of development listed in Schedule 1 or 2 with the threshold being the
development has changed to the extent it has a significant impact, or it exceeds
the thresholds listed in earlier relevant paragraphs.
17. The applicant has considered the proposal against Schedule 3 of the EIA
regulations being the selection criteria for screening Schedule 2 development and
concluded that the impact of the proposal would not lead to an EIA being required.
The Local Planning Authority have considered this and screened the proposal and
also conclude the impacts are not substantial to the extent they would require an
EIA.
Need for Landfill Operation:
18. In the previous application, considered at Planning Committee on 3 February
2016, it was set out that there are a number of restrictions on the amount of waste
that can be imported into the landfill site. Specifically, this included the amount of
waste that could be sent to the landfill site (70,000 tonnes per year) and the
number of vehicle movements (90 per day of which up to 48 for the landfill). This
restriction however impacted on the amount of landfill that was actually completed
and therefore a relaxation of this, and then a permanent change, was agreed by

98

applications made in 2008 and 2010 respectively to an average of 70 per day on
a monthly basis (however this still maintained the overall cap of 90 per day).
19. It was also noted that following an up-to-date review of the land levels, additional
time would be required to complete infilling of the landfill area. Furthermore, that
prior to the applicant’s ownership of the site, the original top and sub soils for the
ground had been removed by the previous owner resulting in it being necessary to
import inert waste to ensure restoration would be viable. It is acknowledged that
the previous report to the committee considered the three year extension required
at the time would be sufficient to complete all operations. Notwithstanding this, the
application was presented based on the information available at the time. Different
considerations are now present and, as established by case law, planning
applications must be determined on their own merits.
20. Currently, the infill of the landfill site in terms of non-inert waste has been
completed as of April 2018. However, the applicant has stated that the infilling of
the landfill site with inert waste (needed to facilitate the restoration process) has
not been able to occur at the rate envisaged in 2015. Notably, the haul road has
not been infilled and current estimates consider an additional 30,000m 3
(approximately 48,000 tonnes) of inert material is required. The reasons stated by
the applicant for this is due to compounding factors including the quality of the
material to be imported; the cost of importing material; the reduction in waste
generation nationally and associated incentives to push waste up the hierarchy;
and, a reduction in waste produced through a downturn in the construction
industry.
21. In the application submissions, the applicant notes that the curtailed restoration of
the landfill site prior to approved levels being reached would result in a landform
which potentially would not blend into the surrounding landscape. Indeed the
restoration scheme has already been agreed based on achieving a complete site.
The statement also emphasises that no other aspect would be altered through the
application. For example, the number of vehicle movements would not be
changed, the time the landfill operates each day would remain the same and the
area which requires waste would not be increased. As well as these restrictions
remaining in place, the landfill site would also still be bound by the Environmental
Permit from the Environment Agency (EA).
22. The main issue arising from this application stems from the fact the applicant has
had a certain amount of time to complete works but has been unable to do so.
Whilst the specific management of the site and indeed of a company are not
material planning considerations, there are certain aspects that should be
understood to ensure an informed decision. The landfill site is regulated by a permit
granted from the EA. As well as complying with this and being subject to checks
from the EA, the applicant is required to pay annually for this permit. There are
other financial burdens including machinery, maintenance and staff costs
associated with the landfill site and therefore it is in the applicant’s interest to
complete restoration in order to reduce all these costs from a business perspective.
Following this, the land would remain in the ownership of the applicant after
restoration but the public would be allowed access. This is to ensure the proper
management of the land and is typical of such sites. The restoration scheme
comprises mainly of turning the land to woodland however there are other aspects
involved. It has been designed on the basis the land is fully restored and this

99

includes ecological enhancements, surface water drainage, and the management
of leachate and landfill gas collection systems.
23. The applicant has stated a number of reasons for not being able to complete in the
agreed timescale but they effectively point to one aspect: there has not been
enough material coming into the landfill site. It is accepted that there is less waste
being sent to landfill now than there was at the point the permission was granted
and, even since the 2015 application due to the national drive to push waste up
the hierarchy. This is part of incentives across numerous political, commercial and
societal structures to reduce, reuse and recycle waste.
24. It is also accepted there has been a downturn in the construction industry over the
past year as confirmed by the Council’s Minerals and Waste Consultant. It is noted
that many comments raise the issue that construction projects are happening
across the Wokingham Borough in particular and therefore they can provide the
additional amount required. However, the issue is not as simple as this as the inert
waste needed to restore the landfill site must meet strict requirements set out in
the EA permit. This means that new soils from the start of construction projects will
be appropriate whereas materials from demolition or waste elements of
construction are not going to be suitable. Furthermore, due to the cost of moving
such material, many constructors are opting to use the soils for their own
restoration/landscaping purposes on site rather than seeking to remove them
entirely. As a result, there has been a shortfall generated in the levels going to the
application site. The applicant has raised the fact that it is costly to import the
material onto the landfill site however this is not a material consideration and
therefore no weight is placed on this element.
25. The application has been reviewed independently by the Council’s Minerals and
Waste Consultant. Specifically relating to the required tonnage of material to be
imported, the application submission states that 30,000m3 of material is required
to complete the landfill site and this equates to 72% of the restoration being
complete. Through discussions regarding the amount left to infill, it has been noted
that the applicant is working to a different plan than what was agreed through the
appeal decision. However, this relates to the pre-settlement contours of the landfill
site which, at the time of the appeal, was not typically agreed through the planning
process. As such, contour levels have been agreed with the EA as part of the
permit for the landfill site and this is higher in places than what was envisaged
(albeit lower in other places). For clarity, in terms of Green Belt policy these are
not considered to be such significant changes to the landform that they would be
unacceptable. In the context of the landfill site and its wider impact upon the Green
Belt, the minor changes to the landform would not alter the perception of the site.
Indeed not completing the landfill site would have a far greater impact than the
changes to the landform.
26. Additionally, the applicant is requesting more material to ensure parts of the landfill
site are more easily navigable on foot and to ensure vegetation has a very good
chance of establishing: specifically they are requiring a 2.0 metre level of soil rather
than the minimum 1.5 metres. As a result, the total amount of material being
sought is arguably higher than it needs to be. Nonetheless, it is not significantly
higher; the applicant has clearly shown effective progress and is nearing
completion of the landfill site; and, the amount required in terms of tonnage has
been imported onto the landfill site in previous years. On this basis, the Consultant

100

does not consider the request to be unreasonable. Taking all of this into account,
and acknowledging the difficulties in importing material onto the landfill site, it is
considered that the additional two years requested would be sufficient to complete
the import and restoration process.
Character of the Area:
27. The site is an active landfill site and therefore already has a distinct appearance
and impact on the area. Whilst the site is within the Green Belt and in designated
countryside, it nonetheless was considered acceptable in character terms when
determined at appeal. Part of the reason for this was the restoration of the site
once landfill operations had ceased and in order to achieve this, the Inspector
placed conditions on the original permission relating to the restoration of the land.
28. It is acknowledged that by allowing the current application, landfill operations
would take place for longer and therefore the impact on the character of the area,
which is acknowledged as not being typical for a rural area like this, would remain.
However, by ceasing operations in line with the current time limit, part of the land
would not be filled and could not be fully restored. In doing so, the landfill
operations would effectively undermine the quality of the restored landscape and
have a detrimental impact in perpetuity as full restoration would not take place. As
a result, a balance has to be made between extending the time further against
ceasing operations in line with the current limits.
29. It should also be noted that the restoration of the landfill site includes the planting
of specific types of trees to ensure they can survive in lower levels of soil.
Ultimately, if the landfill site was not restored properly, it is very unlikely that
vegetation would become established leaving the land bare due to the specific
growing conditions. In addition, part of the restoration includes ecological
enhancements, drainage and ponds which would contribute positively to the
character of the area once complete.
Residential Amenity:
30. There are properties on Star Lane in both Wokingham and Windsor and
Maidenhead Boroughs which are impacted by the landfill operations as well as
properties on Canhurst Lane which is entirely within Wokingham Borough. It
should also be noted the former Seven Stars Pub, to the east along the A4 and in
Windsor and Maidenhead Borough, has been converted into a residential use. The
actual landfill operations take place to the north and north west of these properties
with the other elements of the site (e.g. weighbridge, security compound) being
located closer to the properties on Star Lane.
31. As highlighted in the objections, residential amenity has been impacted due to
noise from machinery and movement of lorries, smells from the ongoing landfill
operation and litter blown across the site during operations. In particular, this has
impacted on enjoyment of gardens (and at times properties themselves) and public
footpaths around the site. Whilst concerns are acknowledged, it should be noted
that the landfill site is now entirely capped and therefore smells and litter cannot
arise from this area. It is important to understand however that the applicant carries
out other business operations in an area to the south west of the landfill. In
particular, this involves the cleaning out of waste storage bins which could well
lead to some impact in terms of smells and litter. Moreover, the applicant has
stated that the landfill operations account for approximately 35% across the

101

summer months, dropping to approximately 12% in winter months, of total HGV
movements associated with the entire site. The reason for the seasonal variation
is the ability of HGVs to traverse the haul road in poorer weather conditions; the
amount is lowered to ensure integrity of the road. As such, it should be noted that
a significant proportion of HGV movements that cause nuisance are related to
other activities on the site operated by the applicant. Therefore, it is not possible
to take this impact into account when assessing this current application.
32. Notwithstanding the above, consideration should be given to the weight that should
be applied to the impact upon residential amenity. Specifically, in the appeal
decision, the Inspector stated “I have no doubt that, at times during the life of a site
of this kind, local residents and other land users be aware of on-site activities and
may well suffer a degree on inconvenience from the HGV traffic, dust and gulls but
I consider that such effects would be spasmodic and short-lived. Against these
disadvantages must be set the considerable long term benefit to be derived from
the restored landscape and public access” (paragraph 46). Furthermore, whilst the
Inspector placed a time limit on the operations, this was based on the information
available at the time. Ultimately, it would have been impossible for the Inspector to
accurately predict the future; including the decrease in the amount of waste going
to landfill. As such, whilst there are impacts upon residential amenity, this was
considered acceptable when granting permission.
33. A further point of clarification is required in relation to the impact of the landfill site
upon residential amenity. Conditions are in place from the original permission
which aim to protect residential amenity and these would not be altered as a result
of the proposal. If the landfill site has been, or indeed would be, operated outside
of the limits imposed by these conditions, then that is a matter for planning
enforcement and not this application to resolve. Similarly, the landfill site has to be
in compliance with an EA permit (although it is acknowledged some residents have
stated this is not the case). However, given this permit is under separate legislation
from the Planning Act, it is not the requirement of this application, or Wokingham
Borough Council, to enforce it.
Access and Movement:
34. Elements such as traffic movements, access and parking provision have all been
considered and approved by the original permission including appropriate
conditions. Although some changes have occurred over time through subsequent
variation applications, these conditions remain in effect. The proposal would result
in these movements continuing for longer than originally planned but would not
change the number or how vehicles access the site. As noted above, a distinction
also needs to be made between the landfill site which the application relates to
and the rest of the site operated by the applicant. The level of HGV movements as
a result of the landfill area is approximately 35% of the overall movements of the
site operated by the applicant. In this respect, the impact of HGV movements as a
result of allowing the proposal would not be significant given the site as a whole.
Indeed no objection from the Highways Officer is raised with regards to this.
Landscape and Trees:
35. Given the established impact of the landfill site, it is considered no significant
additional harm would arise as a result of extending the time limit for operations.
Allowing the extension of time would mean the landfill site could be fully restored
in accordance with the approved scheme. Conversely, not allowing the extension

102

of time and ceasing operations without full restoration, would result in a contrived
landscape form. It is also likely that vegetation would struggle to establish if the
appropriate soils were not provided on the landfill site. Given this and the fact the
landfill site is meant to be restored to woodland, harm to the landscape character
would arise if the land was not restored.
Ecology
36. Given the established impact of the landfill site, it is considered no significant
additional harm would arise as a result of extending the time limit for operations.
Allowing the extension of time would mean the landfill site could be fully restored
in accordance with the approved scheme which would, over time, lead to a
betterment in terms of ecology. Conversely, not allowing the extension of time and
ceasing operations without full restoration, would result in a contrived landscape
form. This would make it more difficult for biodiversity to thrive and therefore have
a harmful impact in ecological terms.
Planning Balance
37. Through national planning policy, it is noted that landfill sites have a role to play in
managing waste across the country; notwithstanding incentives to reduce waste.
It is also noted that it may be required to extend the life of such sites in order to
achieve completion and ultimately restoration. However, it is also stated that
completion of such sites should occur without undue delay. It is this element that
the application essentially must be considered on: is a further two year extension
an undue delay to the process? The applicant has stated that there has been
different factors contributing to a decrease in the amount of material entering the
landfill site. Whilst not all of this is considered material to the application, it is
accepted that there are difficulties in completing the landfill. Nonetheless, it is also
apparent that the landfill site is not far from being completed and the applicant has
made a reasonable attempt to achieve this.
38. The main negative impact of the landfill site however are the detrimental impacts
upon residential amenity in terms of noise, smells and litter. As stated through
letters of objection these are clearly aggrieving local residents. However, some of
this is not actually related to the landfill site and therefore cannot be applied to this
application. Nonetheless, the effect of allowing this application would be for
continued periodic disruption to occur for a further two years than currently allowed
and, in total, five years above what was originally envisaged. Clearly however, in
allowing the appeal, the Inspector acknowledged the impact upon residential
amenity but considered the benefits of the scheme outweighed this.
39. Against the impact on residential amenity are detrimental impacts to the landscape
character by not allowing the application. This would have the effect of not allowing
restoration to take place and therefore the land could not be appropriately restored.
Firstly, this would create an awkward landform without the ability to create a
woodland and, secondly, this would prevent enjoyment of the landfill site by local
residents. It would also mean that ecological benefits would not be as great given
that habitats for species would be less likely to thrive and drainage of the landfill
site may not occur correctly. Consideration should also be given to the fact the site
is within the Green Belt which, by virtue of greater protection through planning
policies in terms of development, tends to be more rural in appearance.
Furthermore, the impact of not restoring the land now would last into perpetuity as
it would require a further planning permission for land works to take place.

103

40. As a result of the above, the benefits of continuing operations and restoring the
land fully are considered to outweigh the harm caused to residential amenity due
to the relatively short time period that would occur beyond the original timescale
by allowing the proposal. Despite the landfill site operations taking place five years
beyond what was originally envisaged, in planning terms and in the context of
landfill operations as an industry, five years is not considered to be an undue delay.
Consideration is given to the fact that clearly the landfill site is nearing completion
with the infill of non-inert waste fully complete and inert waste nearly complete.
The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010)
In determining this application the Council is required to have due regard to its obligations
under the Equality Act 2010. The key equalities protected characteristics include age,
disability, gender, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and
maternity, race, religion or belief. The impact upon a protected characteristic (age) has
been considered with regard to the impact of the proposal and the distance from Knowl
Hill Primary School. However, no specific harm has been identified given the distance is
approximately 370 metres to the entrance of the main site owned by the applicant. Other
than this, there is no indication or evidence (including from consultation on the application)
that persons with protected characteristics as identified by the Act have or will have
different needs, experiences, issues and priorities in relation to this particular planning
application and there would be no significant adverse impacts as a result of the
development.
CONCLUSION
Taking all material considerations into account and weighing these in the planning
balance, it is considered that allowing an extension to the time that operations can occur
at the site is acceptable in this instance. This is subject to the inclusion of all material
conditions as applied in the previous permission.

104

Appendix One: Original conditions for planning application 340429 and 153172

105

106

107

108

109

110

111

112

113

This page is intentionally left blank

KEY

N

115

NOTES

PROJECT

TITLE

SCALE

DATE

DRAWN BY

CHECKED BY

DRAWING NO.

This page is intentionally left blank

PLANNING REF
: 193392
PROPERTY ADDRESS : Council Office
: Pavilion, Recreation Road, Wargrave, Wokingham
: RG10 8BG
SUBMITTED BY
: Wargrave Parish Council
DATE SUBMITTED
: 21/01/2020
COMMENTS:
Wargrave Parish Council objected to this application.
An extension will have a detrimental impact upon the residential amenities of
the neighbouring properties and should be ceased in accordance with the
previous undertaking given and justified in 2016.

117

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8.
Application
Number
200856

Expiry Date

Parish

Ward

10 July 2020

Winnersh

Winnersh;

Applicant
Site Address

Highways and Transport, Wokingham Borough Council
Winnersh Triangle Railway Station, Wharefdale Road, Winnersh,
RG41 5TS
Full application for the proposed upgrade to the existing Park and
Ride facility via the provision of a decked car park facility
increasing parking by 104 spaces; provision of a new access to
Winnersh Triangle Railway Station; improvements to the urban
realm of the station forecourt, and associated works.
Full
6
Graham Vaughan
for Major application
by

Proposal

Type
PS Category
Officer
Reason
determination
committee

FOR CONSIDERATION BY
REPORT PREPARED BY

Planning Committee on Wednesday, 8 July 2020
Assistant Director – Place

SUMMARY
The site is located between the settlements of Winnersh, Woodley and Earley and
adjacent to the Winnersh Triangle Business Park. The south western railway line is
immediately adjacent to the south with residential properties beyond this. In policy
terms, the site is within a major development location but also allocated for a park and
ride facility.
The proposal is for the provision of a single level of decking above the existing surface
level car park and urban realm/access improvements with the aim of providing an
additional 104 spaces. Changes to the access include creating a fourth arm off the
existing roundabout on Wharfedale Road to a new and revised turning head at the
station forecourt. This would improve access for all users and include hard and soft
landscaping features.
Although the decking would be a large structure, it is considered it would be appropriate
given the wider context of the site as a car park supporting a business park.
Additionally, existing vegetation and replacement planting would help assimilate the
proposal into the area. The scheme is considered to deliver transport benefits as it
would increase the capacity of an existing transport hub and would encourage journeys
to be made by alternatives to the private car. Furthermore, this would help encourage
economic development particularly due to the link with Reading town centre. With
regard to other impacts, subject to conditions, the scheme is considered to have an
acceptable impact in terms of technical highway matters, ecology, flooding and
drainage, residential amenity and environmental health. As such, the scheme accords
with local and national planning policy and is recommended for conditional approval.
PLANNING STATUS
Contaminated Land Consultation Zone
Flood Zones 2
Local Authorities

119

Affordable Housing Thresholds
Bat Roost Habitat Suitability
Borough Parishes
Core Employment Areas
Scale and Location of Development Proposals
Site Allocations
Replacement Mineral Local Plan
Tree Preservation Orders
Borough Wards
Landscape Character Assessment Area
Land Terrier
SSSI Impact Risk Zones
Historic Flooding Points Consultation Zone
Electricity Sub Station
RECOMMENDATION
That the committee authorise the GRANT OF PLANNING PERMISSION subject to
the following:
A. Conditions and informatives:
1. Timescale - The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration
of three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: In pursuance of s.91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended
by s.51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).
2. Approved details - This permission is in respect of the submitted application plans
and drawings numbered 'WTS-WSP-GEN-SWI-DP-PL- 00001', 'WTS-WSP-GEN-SWIDP-ZX-00001 Rev P01.2', 'WTS-HGP-SGN-ZZ-DE- PL-00001 Rev P02', 'WTS-HGPSGN-ZZ-DE-PL-00002 Rev P02', 'WTS-HGP- SGN-ZZ-DE-PL-00003 Rev P02', 'WTSHGP-SGN-ZZ-DE-PL-00004 Rev P02', 'WTS-HGP-SGN-ZZ-DE-PL-00005 Rev P02',
'WTS-HGP-SGN-ZZ-DE-PL-00006 Rev P02', 'WTS-HGP-SGN-ZZ-DE-PL-00007 Rev
P02', 'WTS-WSP-XX-02-DR-ST- 00001 Rev P01', 'WTS-WSP-XX-01-DR-ST-00001
Rev P01', 'WTS-WSP-XX-XX- DS-ST-00001 Rev P01', 'WTS-WSP-XX-XX-DS-ST00002 Rev P01', 'WTS-WSP- XX-XX-DS-ST-00003 Rev P01', 'WTS-WSP-GEN-SWIDP-PL-00', 'WTS-WSP- HGN-TH-DS-HW-00', 'WTS-ASA-ELS-PR-DR-LA-00001 Rev
P01', 'WTS-ASA- ELS-PR-DR-LA-00002 Rev P01', 'WTS-ASA-ELS-PR-DR-LA-00003
Rev P01' and 'WTS-ASA-ELS-PR-DR-LA-00004 Rev P01' received by the local
planning authority on 2 April 2020. The development shall be carried out in accordance
with the approved details unless other minor variations are agreed in writing after the
date of this permission and before implementation with the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is carried out in
accordance with the application form and associated details hereby approved.
3. No development approved by this planning permission shall commence until a
remediation strategy to deal with the risks associated with contamination of the site in
respect of the development hereby permitted, has been submitted to, and approved in
writing by, the local planning authority. This strategy will include the following
components:
a) A site investigation scheme, based on the application’s preliminary risk assessment
(ref. 70062449-EGW), issued by WSP in February 2020, to provide information for a
detailed assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be affected, including those offsite.

120

b) The results of the site investigation and the detailed risk assessment referred to in (1)
and, based on these, an options appraisal and remediation strategy giving full details of
the remediation measures required and how they are to be undertaken.
c) A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to
demonstrate that the works set out in the remediation strategy in (2) are complete and
identifying any requirements for longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages,
maintenance and arrangements for contingency action.
d) No part of the structure hereby permitted shall be occupied or used until a verification
report demonstrating the completion of works set out in the approved remediation
strategy and the effectiveness of the remediation has been submitted to, and approved
in writing, by the local planning authority. The report shall include results of sampling
and monitoring carried out in accordance with the approved verification plan to
demonstrate that the site remediation criteria have been met.
Any changes to these components require the written consent of the local planning
authority. The scheme shall be implemented as approved.
Reason: Localised hot spots of hydrocarbon contamination caused by fuel leakages and
spills may be present within the made ground on-site. Hydrocarbons may leach through
the unsaturated zone and pollute the underlying River Terrace Gravel (RTD) deposits, a
Secondary A aquifer. A site investigation is therefore necessary to adequately
characterise the risk to groundwater presented by the proposed development site.
4. Protection of trees - a) No development or other operation shall commence on site
until an Arboricultural Method Statement and Scheme of Works which provides for the
retention and protection of trees, shrubs and hedges growing on or adjacent to the site
in accordance with BS5837: 2012 has been submitted to and approved in writing by the
local planning authority. No development or other operations shall take place except in
complete accordance with the details as
so-approved (hereinafter referred to as the Approved Scheme).
b) No operations shall commence on site in connection with development
hereby approved (including any tree felling, tree pruning, demolition works, soil moving,
temporary access construction and or widening or any other operation involving use of
motorised vehicles or construction machinery) until the tree protection works required by
the Approved Scheme are in place on site.
c) No excavations for services, storage of materials or machinery, parking of vehicles,
deposit or excavation of soil or rubble, lighting
of fires or disposal of liquids shall take place within an area designated as being fenced
off or otherwise protected in the Approved Scheme.
d) The fencing or other works which are part of the Approved Scheme shall not be
moved or removed, temporarily or otherwise, until all works including external works
have been completed and all equipment, machinery and surplus materials removed
from the site, unless the prior approval in writing of the local planning authority has first
been sought and obtained.
Reason: To secure the protection throughout the time that the development is being
carried out of trees shrubs or hedges growing within or adjacent to the site which are of
amenity value to the area, and to allow for verification by the local planning authority
that the necessary measures are in place before development and other works
commence Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and Managing Development
Delivery Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21.
5. Construction Environmental Management Plan - Construction work of the
development hereby permitted shall not begin until a Construction Environmental
Management Plan (CEMP) which will detail the measures to be implemented to protect

121

site workers, site users, ecology and the environment has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The development shall be
implemented thereafter in accordance with the approved CEMP. The CEMP shall
include the following matters:
a) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors,
b) loading and unloading of plant and materials,
c) storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development,
d) the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative displays and
facilities for public viewing, where appropriate,
e) wheel washing facilities,
f) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction,
g) a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and construction
works,
h) any mitigation methods required to reduce the potential for adverse impact on local
sensitive receptors,
I) monitoring of adverse impacts and an external communication plan.
Reason: To ensure protection of the local environment and residential amenity during
construction. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3
6. Highway construction details - Prior to the commencement of development, full
details of the construction of roads and footways, including levels, widths, construction
materials, depths of construction, surface water drainage and lighting shall be submitted
to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The roads and footways shall
be constructed in accordance with the approved details to road base level before the
development is occupied and the final wearing course will be provided within 3 months
of occupation, unless other minor variations are agreed in writing after the date of this
permission and before implementation with the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that roads and footpaths are constructed to a standard that would
be suitable for adoption as publicly maintainable highway, in the interests of providing a
functional, accessible and safe development. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies
CP3 & CP6.
7. Prior to above ground works a Drainage Strategy shall be submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Strategy shall include:
a) evidence of ground conditions and demonstration that drainage is technically
feasible,
b) Where surface water requires disposal off site (i.e. not infiltrated) the applicant must
provide evidence of consent to discharge/connect through 3rd party land or to their
network/system/watercourse,
c) an exceedance flow routing plan for flows above the 1 in 100+40% event indicating
that flows are directed towards highways and areas of public open space,
d) if infiltration of surface water to the ground is required, an assessment of the risk of
any systems to controlled waters.
The drainage system shall be installed as per the approved details and maintained as
such during the lifetime of the development.
Reason: This is to prevent increased flood risk from surface water run-off. Relevant
policy: NPPF Section 10 (Meeting the Challenge of Climate Change, Flooding and
Coastal Change), Core Strategy policy CP1 and Managing Development Delivery Local
Plan policies CC09 and CC10.
8. Landscaping - Prior to above ground works, full details of both hard and soft
landscape proposals shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority. These details shall include, as appropriate, proposed finished floor levels or

122

contours, means of enclosure, car parking layouts, other vehicle and pedestrian access
and circulation areas, hard surfacing materials and minor artefacts and structure (e.g.
furniture, play equipment, refuse or other storage units, signs, lighting, external
services, etc). Soft landscaping details shall include planting plan, specification
(including cultivation and other operations associated with plant and grass
establishment), schedules of plants, noting species, planting sizes and proposed
numbers/densities where appropriate, and implementation timetable. All hard and soft
landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details prior to
the occupation of any part of the development or in accordance with a timetable
approved in writing by the local planning authority. Any trees or plants which, within a
period of five years after planting, are removed, die or become seriously damaged or
defective, shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of species, size and
number as originally approved and permanently retained.
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3
and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21 (and TB06
for garden development).
9. Prior to above ground works, a lighting scheme detailing how wildlife would not be
adversely impacted, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority. The scheme shall include:
a) a layout plan with beam orientation
b) a schedule of equipment
c) measures to avoid glare
d) an isolux contour map showing light spillage to 1 lux and areas, such as the railway
corridor, likely to be of importance for wildlife.
The approved lighting plan shall thereafter be implemented as agreed and maintained
for the lifetime of the development.
Reason: To limit the impact of light pollution from artificial light on nature conservation in
accordance with para 180 of the NPPF.
10. Landscape management - Prior to above ground works, a landscape management
plan, including long term design objectives, management responsibilities, timescales
and maintenance schedules for all landscape areas, other than privately owned,
domestic gardens, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority. The landscape management plan shall be carried out as approved.
Reason: In order to ensure that provision is made to allow satisfactory maintenance of
the landscaping hereby approved. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21.
11. Prior to above ground works, an Employment and Skills Plan shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The Employment and Skills Plan
shall show how the development hereby permitted will provide opportunities for training,
apprenticeship or other vocational initiatives to develop local employability skills in
relation to the construction of the development hereby approved. The development shall
be implemented in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To provide training and vocational opportunities for local people. Relevant
policy: MDD Local Plan policy TB12.
12. Prior to above ground works, details for Electric Vehicle Charging points serving the
development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The Electric Vehicle Charging points shall be implemented in accordance with
such details as may be approved before occupation of the development hereby

123

permitted, and shall be permanently retained in the approved form for the charging of
electric vehicles and used for no other purpose.
Reason: In order to ensure that secure electric vehicle charging facilities are provided
so as to encourage the use of sustainable modes of travel. Relevant policy: Core
Strategy policies CP1, CP3 & CP6 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan
policy CC07.
13. Prior to above ground works, a CCTV scheme shall be submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Details shall include the type of camera /
quality of image (which should be identification, recognition and observational quality)
and location of the cameras. The camera system shall be installed as per the approved
details and maintained as such during the lifetime of the development.
Reason: To create safe and accessible environments where crime, disorder, and the
fear of crime are reduced. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP1
14. The structure shall not be brought into use until details of the provision for
temporary and permanent bus stops have been submitted to an approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. The details shall be implemented as so approved and
maintained for the duration of the construction of development for any temporary stops
and the lifetime of the development for any permanent stops.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and convenience. Relevant policy: Core
Strategy policies CP3 & CP6.
15. Cycle parking to be provided - The structure shall not be brought into use until
secure and covered parking for cycles has been provided in accordance with the
approved drawing (s)/details. The cycle parking/ storage shall be permanently soretained for the parking of bicycles and used for no other purpose.
Reason: In order to ensure that secure weather-proof bicycle parking facilities are
provided so as to encourage the use of sustainable modes of travel. Relevant policy:
NPPF Section 9 (Sustainable Transport) and Core Strategy policies CP1, CP3 & CP6
and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC07.
16. No part of the structure hereby permitted shall be used until details of biodiversity
enhancements, to include bird and bat boxes and native and wildlife friendly
landscaping, have been submitted to and approved in writing by the council. The
biodiversity enhancements shall thereafter be installed as approved and maintained for
the lifetime of the development.
Reason: To incorporate biodiversity in and around developments in accordance with
paragraph 175 of the NPPF.
17. Parking and turning space to be provided - No part of the structure hereby
permitted shall be occupied or used until the vehicle parking and turning space has
been provided in accordance with the approved plans. The vehicle parking and turning
space shall be retained and maintained in accordance with the approved details and the
parking space shall remain available for the parking of vehicles at all times and the
turning space shall not be used for any other purpose other than vehicle turning.
Reason: To provide adequate off-street vehicle parking and turning space and to allow
vehicles to enter and leave the site in a forward gear in the interests of road safety and
convenience and providing a functional, accessible and safe development and in the
interests of amenity. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP3 & CP6 and Managing
Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC07.

124

18. Access to be stopped up - The existing vehicular access(es) to the site shall be
stopped up and abandoned, and the footway and/or verge crossings shall be re-instated
within two months of the completion of the new access(es) in accordance with details to
be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and convenience. Relevant policy: Core
Strategy policies CP3 & CP6.
19. Retention of trees and shrubs - No trees, shrubs or hedges within the site which are
shown as being retained on the approved plans shall be felled, uprooted wilfully
damaged or destroyed, cut back in any way or removed without previous written
consent of the local planning authority; any trees, shrubs or hedges removed without
consent or dying or being severely damaged or becoming seriously diseased within 5
years from the completion of the development hereby permitted shall be replaced with
trees, shrubs or hedge plants of similar size and species unless the local planning
authority gives written consent to any variation.
Reason: To secure the protection throughout the time that development is being carried
out, of trees, shrubs and hedges growing within the site which are of amenity value to
the area. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and Managing Development
Delivery Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21.
20. Hours of work - No work relating to the development hereby approved, including
works of demolition or preparation prior to building operations, shall take place other
than between the hours of 08:00 and 18:00 Monday to Friday and 08:00 to 13:00
Saturdays and at no time on Sundays or Bank or National Holidays.
Reason: To protect the occupiers of neighbouring properties from noise and disturbance
outside the permitted hours during the construction period. Relevant policy: Core
Strategy policies CP1 and CP3 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy
CC06.
Informatives
1. Adequate precautions shall be taken during the construction period to prevent the
deposit of mud and similar debris on adjacent highways. For further information contact
the Highway Authority on tel.: 0118 9746000.
2. The Head of Highways at the Council Offices, Shute End, Wokingham [0118
9746000] should be contacted for the approval of the access construction details before
any work is carried out within the highway (including verges and footways). This
planning permission does NOT authorise the construction of such an access or works.
3. Any works/ events carried out by or on behalf of the developer affecting either a
public highway or a prospectively maintainable highway (as defined under s.87 New
Roads and Street Works Act 1991 (NRSWA)), shall be co-ordinated and licensed as
required under NRSWA and the Traffic Management Act 2004 in order to minimise
disruption to both pedestrian and vehicular users of the highway.
Any such works or events, and particularly those involving the connection of any utility
to the site must be co-ordinated by the developer in liaison with the Borough’s Street
Works team (0118 974 6302). This must take place AT LEAST three months in advance
of the intended works to ensure effective co-ordination with other works so as to
minimise disruption.
4. The applicant’s attention is drawn to the presence of a c.2m wide service strip
running adjacent to the surfaced roadway. The service strip forms part of the adopted
public highway. It is an offence for any works to be undertaken within this service strip

125

without express permission in writing from the highway authority. The Head of
Technical Services at the Council Offices, Shute End, Wokingham (0118 9746000)
must be contacted for the approval of any such works.
PLANNING HISTORY
Application
Proposal
Number
193267
Screening Opinion application for an
Environmental Impact Assessment for proposed
improvements at Winnersh Triangle Car Park.
F/2013/0889
Proposed construction of a new Park & Ride facility
providing approximately 400 bays together with
blue badge holder, cycle and motorcycle parking
and bus shelter.
RM/2007/2428 Reserved matters application on outline consent
O/2006/9071 comprising details of layout, scale,
appearance, access within the site and
landscaping for phase 1 of the redevelopment of
Winnersh Triangle for offices (use classes B1
(A,B,C), C1 (with associated leisure (D2) and
conferencing (D1) facilities), A1 - A5 and
associated parking and infrastructure.
O/2006/9071
Outline planning application with all matters
reserved except details of means of access to the
site for development providing up to 191,100 sq m
gross external area of built floorspace (in total) for
Class B1 (a), (b) and (c) (including data centre
use); Class D1; Class D2; Class C1; Class A1, A2,
A3, A4, A5. Such development to include:
Highways and public transport facilities;
Pedestrian, cyclist and vehicular ways; Pedestrian
footbridge; Vehicle parking; Laying out open
space; Landscaping; Ground work s; Drainage
works; Provision and/or upgrade of services and
related media and apparatus; Miscellaneous
ancillary development (including security office, bin
stores and cycle stores) and associated
engineering and other operations
SUMMARY INFORMATION
Site Area
Existing parking spaces
Proposed parking spaces
CONSULTATION RESPONSES
Crime Prevention Design Officer
National Grid
Royal Berkshire Fire & Rescue
Southern Gas Networks
SEE Power Distribution
South Western Railway

Decision
Replied 17
December 2019
Conditional
approval 2
September 2013
Conditional
approval 30
November 2007

Conditional
approval 2
August 2007

1.95 Hectares
387
491

No objection subject to condition (13)
No objection
No comments received
No objection
No objection
No objection

126

Thames Water
The Environment Agency
WBC Drainage
WBC Ecology
WBC Economic Prosperity and
Place (Community Infrastructure)
WBC Environmental Health
WBC Highways
WBC Tree & Landscape
WBC Cleaner & Greener (Waste
Services)
WBC Property Services

No objection
No objection subject to condition (3)
No objection subject to condition (7)
No objection subject to conditions (9, 16)
No comments received
No objection
No objection subject to conditions (5, 6, 12, 14, 15,
17, 18)
No objection subject to conditions (4, 8, 10, 19)
No comments received
No comments received

REPRESENTATIONS
Town/Parish Council: No comments received
Local Members: Note that the increase in capacity will help with parking elsewhere in
the area. Also seeks reassurance that the parking will include disabled, staff and
parent/child spaces.
Neighbours: Four letters of comment received with regard to the following:
- Staff parking is not clearly set out (officer note: two spaces would be provided for
staff parking).
- Parking restrictions on adjoining roads are needed (officer note: this is not an
aspect that can be controlled by this planning application).
- Car park should be controlled to ensure antisocial behaviour doesn’t occur (officer
note: car park management would continue to be carried out by the Council).
- Rubbish management should be improved to prevent rodents (officer note: it is not
for a planning application to resolve this; it would need to be considered by
Environmental Health).
- Disabled spaces do not include enough room around the space (officer note: this
is shown on the general layout plan).
APPLICANTS POINTS
 The scheme will enhance the site as an existing transport hub and foster more
sustainable travel by reducing demand for private car journeys.
 As a more integrated transport hub, the site would help facilitate economic
development in the Borough.
 The scheme will result in improvements to the operation and accessibility of
Winnersh Triangle Railway Station.
PLANNING POLICY
National Policy
Adopted Core Strategy DPD
2010

NPPF

National Planning Policy Framework

CP1

Sustainable Development

CP3

General Principles for Development

CP4

Infrastructure Requirements

CP6

Managing Travel Demand

CP7

Biodiversity

127

Adopted Managing Development
Delivery Local Plan 2014

Supplementary Planning
Documents
(SPD)

CP9

Scale and Location of Development
Proposals

CP15

Employment Development

CC01

Presumption in Favour of Sustainable
Development

CC02

Development Limits

CC03

Green Infrastructure, Trees and
Landscaping

CC06

Noise

CC07

Parking

CC09

Development and Flood Risk (from all
sources)

CC10

Sustainable Drainage

TB11

Core Employment Areas

TB12

Employment Skills Plan

TB21

Landscape Character

TB23

Biodiversity and Development

SAL07

Sites within Development Limits allocated
for employment/commercial development

SAL09

Transport site allocations

BDG

Borough Design Guide – Section 5 and 6

PLANNING ISSUES
Description of Development
1. The scheme comprises of two main elements: a single level of decking above the
existing surface level car park and urban realm/access improvements. The parking
deck would be a steel framed structure located over the existing car park. The
finished floor level would be 3.3 metres above the ground and it would extend 135
metres in length, ranging between 16 and 32 metres in width. Although subject to
funding (but for the purposes of the application it is being applied for now), the
scheme would also feature a canopy over the central area of the deck to house
photo-voltaic panels. This would be 10 metres in width, extend for 100 metres in
length and be at a 6 degree angle to take advantage of solar energy. The canopy
would be 6.5 metres to 7.6 metres in height above the ground. The scheme also
includes incidental elements including ticket vending machines, plant room, lift and
access ramp. Lighting would be provided by 11 units mounted to the structure.
2. The urban realm/access improvements include a new fourth arm from the existing
roundabout on Wharfedale Road/A329 (M) slip road. This would result in the
closure of the existing left in/left out arrangement of Wharfedale Road and would
include the repositioning of traffic signal heads and the traffic signal controller to
accommodate the change in demand of traffic. The new access would lead to the
forecourt turning head for use by Park and Ride buses, taxis and passenger dropoffs. Pedestrian access to the station would remain via the existing footbridge
however the existing footpath along Wharfedale Road would be diverted to
accommodate the new vehicular access. For clarity, the existing access to the west

128

would remain as is. In terms of the station forecourt improvements this would
include a new natural open space, feature lighting, covered pedestrian waiting
area, seating, landscaping and a new paved pedestrian link between the railway
station and the car park. Lighting would be provided in different means according
to the requirement but would include a larger column to illuminate the bell mouth,
smaller columns to illuminate the urban realm and bollards to illuminate the
walkway.
Principle of Development
3. The National Planning Policy Framework has an underlying presumption in favour
of sustainable development which is carried through to the local Development
Plan. The Managing Development Delivery Local Plan Policy CC01 states that
planning applications that accord with the policies in the Development Plan for
Wokingham Borough will be approved without delay, unless material
considerations indicate otherwise.
4. Policy CP9 of the Core Strategy identifies a settlement hierarchy relating to major,
modest and limited development locations. It also sets out that development
proposals within these limits will be acceptable in principle. Policy CC02 of the
MDD updates the development limits taking into account the Strategic
Development Locations, as set out in policies CP18 – 21 of the CS, and allocated
sites as set out in chapter 4 of the MDD. It maintains that development proposals
within these defined limits will be acceptable in principle. Therefore, as the site is
within a major development location, the proposal is acceptable in principle,
subject to any other designations as set out through the Development Plan.
5. The site is subject to allocations set out in policies SAL07 and SAL09 of the MDD
Local Plan. These policies essentially designate the area for the provision of B1,
D1 and/or D2 floor space, or the use of the site for a Park and Ride facility.
Application F/2013/0889 granted approval for a Park and Ride facility which is now
in use. The current proposal, for the increased capacity of the Park and Ride facility
is not considered to conflict with the allocated use of the site. As such, no objection
is raised to the principle of development.
Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) Development
6. Due to the scale and type of activity, the proposal must be screened to consider
whether it would constitute EIA development. The construction of car parks fall
under paragraph 110 (b), Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning
(Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017 (as amended) with one of
the thresholds being a site area exceeding 5 hectares.
7. The applicant has considered the proposal against Schedule 3 of the EIA
regulations being the selection criteria for screening Schedule 2 development and
concluded that the impact of the proposal would not lead to an EIA being required.
The Local Planning Authority have considered this through a screening opinion,
193267, and also conclude the impacts are not substantial to the extent they would
require an EIA.
Character of the Area
8. The immediate site is dominated by the car parking spaces for the existing park
and ride facility. Whilst this is open, the site boundaries are delineated by tall,
mature trees. The railway embankment can be seen to the south of the site and to

129

the west, is the train station building. This is relatively low key given that it is single
storey and has a small footprint. The site is accessed from the larger Winnersh
Triangle business park which is a well-established area comprising primarily of
large scale office buildings with associated landscaping and parking. As such, the
area is commercial in character and appearance and this reflects the Core
Employment Area designation of the area.
9. The deck structure would clearly alter the appearance of the site being a solid,
urban feature. Whilst views into the site would be filtered by the mature vegetation,
the structure would nonetheless be visible and is of a large scale. However, the
context of the site should be taken into account and, at the point the site is visible
in views, the wider Winnersh Triangle Business Park is clearly the overriding
feature. On this basis it is considered the car park deck would not have a
detrimental impact on the character of the area and therefore no conflict with policy
CP1 or CP3 of the Core Strategy arises.
10. The urban realm and access improvements would help facilitate use of the site
and ensure suitable access for all users. They would complement the use of the
site in terms of providing a more modern design with regard to the use of hard and
soft landscaping. Whilst the access change would remove some soft landscaping,
the existing access area would be grassed over and therefore minimal change in
the total amount of grassed area would occur. Similarly, trees would be planted to
replace those being removed and a hedgerow would be planted. As such, the
changes are considered appropriate to the area and therefore no conflict with
policy CP1 or CP3 of the Core Strategy arises.
Transport Benefits
11. For clarity, the site owners have been working in partnership with the Borough
Council and the Thames Valley Local Enterprise Partnership to provide
appropriate funding and therefore this application has been submitted to take the
scheme forward. At this time, funding is in place for the decking element of the
scheme only. Nonetheless, the proposal is being applied for as a whole with the
intention of securing funding for the access alterations and urban realm
improvements at a later date.
12. Winnersh Triangle Station provides access to two business parks in the area;
Thames Valley Business Park and Winnersh Triangle Business Park, as well as
other employment opportunities. It will also be accessible to Crossrail users via
Reading station once this becomes operational. Furthermore, the existing park and
ride scheme offers access to Reading town centre without having to drive a private
vehicle to the centre. As a result, the existing parking provision and park and ride
scheme are a positive incentive to minimise car journeys and help reduce traffic
impact on the local area. Given the above, it is considered that additional capacity
of the site would bring further benefits in terms of reducing the number of car based
journeys into Reading centre.
13. There are also benefits to pedestrians and cyclists through improved access to the
station and indeed it is hoped that rail users may also increase as a result. The
provision of electric charging points is also considered beneficial in transport terms
due to the expected increase in ownership of these vehicles and ensuring the
necessary infrastructure to support them is in place.

130

14. As such, there are clear transport benefits arising from the scheme as it is
envisaged the site will improve its ability to act as a transport hub and encourage
alternative modes of travel to the private car. This is considered to comply with the
requirements of policy CP6 of the Core Strategy and the general thrust of
sustainable development as set out in the NPPF and policies CP1 and CP3 of the
Core Strategy.
Highway Access and Parking Provision
15. The submitted Transport Assessment highlights that the scheme would provide an
additional 104 parking spaces, a new arm off the Wharfedale Road roundabout
and improved pedestrian/cycle access by diverting this away from vehicular traffic.
It is highlighted that this would be inherently sustainable, as noted above, due to
the provision of the site as a transport hub and diverting journeys made by the
private car. Furthermore, that the new car park deck element could generate “153
and 104 two-way traffic movements during the weekday AM (07:45 to 08:45) and
PM (16.30 to 17:30) peak hours respectively which represents 46 and 31 additional
two-way traffic movements during the weekday AM and PM peak hours
respectively”.
16. Turning to specific technical highway matters:
Access and new junction: The applicant has been in discussion with the Council’s
Highways Officer in relation to the modelling of the impact of the changes to the
access to the site. Following additional information being submitted, the Highways
Officer is satisfied that the new access would not have a detrimental impact on
traffic flows.
Parking Provision: The increase in the overall parking provision at the site is
welcomed from a highways perspective and it is considered the size and location
of the parking spaces is in accordance with standards. Specifically, the number of
disabled spaces would increase from eight to 20 spaces and the number of electric
vehicle charging spaces would increase from four to 48 (increase of 8 7kw
charging spaces and 36 passive spaces).
Layout: The Highways Officer had requested swept path analysis for different
types of vehicles and these have been provided. They indicate that the proposed
layout of the car park would be appropriate for the type of vehicles that would use
it. Additionally, clarification has been sought on signage, yellow lines and the use
of a Traffic Regulation Order for specific highway technical matters. As these are
all acceptable to the Highways Officer, no objection is raised.
Pedestrian and Cycle Provision: The Highways Officer does not raise any objection
to the amended access for pedestrians and cyclists and considers the scheme
results in an improvement in this respect.
17. On the basis of the above, the Highways Officer has recommended conditions
relating to approving the parking and turning layout, cycle parking, access before
use of the site commences, stopping up of the access, a construction management
statement and specific highway construction details (5, 6, 12, 14, 15, 17, 18).
Subject to these, the scheme is considered to accord with policy CP6 of the Core
Strategy and CC07 of the MDD Local Plan.

131

Crime Prevention
18. It is noted that this type of scheme can lead to a rise in anti-social behaviour if not
designed appropriately. The Crime Prevention Design Advisor has highlighted
elements of the scheme where further work may be required including the
provision of lighting, CCTV and the management of the car park. With regard to
lighting, the applicant has confirmed that it would be appropriate to provide
sufficient levels both for night-time use and for CCTV to provide a suitable image
and this can be achieved with the current proposal. Similarly, CCTV details in
terms of location and direction of cameras can be agreed by condition (13). In
terms of management of the car park, discussions have been held with the
Council’s Parking Manager who has confirmed that the existing management will
continue taking into account the new scheme. On this basis, no concerns are
raised and the scheme complies with policy CP3 of the Core strategy.
Environmental Health
19. Air Quality: A Qualitative Air Quality Assessment is provided with the
Environmental Appraisal Report. This sets out that the baseline amounts of air
pollutants are not considered to be significantly high given the context of the site
and that the local air quality is good. Furthermore, the potential impacts arise from
the construction phase rather than the operational phase of the development. It is
noted that the use of the site would be increased but this is not considered
significant in the context of the area. The Environmental Health Officer has
considered the report and does not raise any objection to its conclusion. As such,
no harmful impact is considered to occur and no conflict with policy CP1 of the
Core Strategy arises.
20. Contamination: A Land Contamination Assessment is provided with the
Environmental Appraisal Report. This concludes that the site has had limited
historical development and that the risk of contamination is low in terms of
construction and operational phases. The Environmental Health Officer has
considered the report and does not raise any objection to its conclusion. As such,
no harmful impact is considered to occur and no conflict with policy CP1 of the
Core Strategy arises.
Flooding and Drainage
21. A Flood Risk Assessment and Surface Drainage Strategy is provided in the
Environmental Appraisal Report. This sets out that the main source of flooding is
from fluvial sources as the site is within flood zone 2. The car park however is
considered as ‘less vulnerable’ in terms of flood risk vulnerability classification. It
also identifies that there are two drainage areas across the site; the access road
that is drained to a surface water sewer and the car park that drains to a ditch
system. The existing car park’s runoff is attenuated to greenfield run off rates using
geocellular storage.
22. By its nature i.e. a parking deck above ground level, the scheme is not considered
to present a significant flood risk. The main concerns arise from the points the
structure is attached to the ground e.g. through support pillars and the ramp.
Additionally, other elements of the scheme such as the power substation could
reduce flood storage capacity across the site. To mitigate this, it is propose that
the water tanks and power substation are located on stilts and the plant room is
located on the upper deck. The ramps would be constructed by using a steel
structure to minimise the loss of storage capacity. Drainage capacity for the site

132

would be maintained by oversized pipes with flow controls for the access road and
attenuation tanks leading to the geocellular tanks for the existing ditch system.
23. On the basis of the above, both the Environment Agency and the Council’s
Drainage Officer do not object to the scheme subject to conditions (3 and 7). As
such, no conflict with policies CC09 and CC10 of the MDD Local Plan arises.
Landscape and Trees
24. An Arboricultural Assessment is included in the Environmental Appraisal Report.
This notes the site consists primarily of the urban car parking area but is influenced
by arboricultural resources of good to fair condition and this contributes to the local
area. It also notes that whilst a tree protected by a preservation order and a notable
tree of good value is located near the site, they would not be impacted by the
proposal. The impact of the scheme in arboricultural terms would be the removal
of 10 moderate quality arboricultural features and six low quality features. This
would be replaced by 15 trees at the northern end of the site and a hedgerow along
the northern side of the car park deck as well as grassed areas to replace the
existing access.
25. The Tree and Landscape Officer has considered the assessment and agrees with
the recommendations. In particular they note that the retention of trees along
Wharfdale Road would help screen immediate views into the site. Additionally, the
changes to the station piazza would help create a better destination and be more
appropriate in overall landscape character terms. Whilst specific species
information and further clarification on the soft landscaping scheme is required,
the Tree and Landscape Officer is satisfied this can be achieved by condition (4,
8, 10 and 19). As such, no conflict with policy CC03 of the MDD Local Plan arises.
Ecology
26. A preliminary Ecological Appraisal is included in the Environmental Appraisal
Report and this noted the site comprises primarily of the car park but there are
opportunities for habitats at and around the edges of the site. These could provide
habitats for commuting and foraging bats, breeding birds, badgers, reptiles and
amphibians. Whilst ecologically designated sites were noted in the appraisal, these
are located a minimum of 2km from the site. The Appraisal considers the scheme
could have a negative impact on local ecology in terms of construction and
operation through noise, disturbance, removal of habitat and lighting. Mitigation
against this is suggested through the use of appropriate lighting and drainage
strategies, precautionary working methods in relation to protected species and the
installation of boxes and landscaping appropriate for species to use. However,
specific details related to this are not currently provided with the idea being that
they can be agreed at a conditions stage.
27. The Council’s Ecologist has considered the Appraisal and agrees with the
methodology undertaken. Following additional clarification by the applicant, it is
acknowledged that the site does not contain any significant habitats and therefore
the Councils ecologist is satisfied, subject to conditions (9 and 16), that there would
be no harmful impact and that the scheme complies with policy CP7 of the Core
Strategy.

133

Sustainable Design and Construction
28. The scheme does not meet the requirements to provide specific sustainable design
and construction methods as set out in policies CC04 and CC05 of the MDD Local
Plan. Nonetheless, a Sustainability Assessment and supporting Energy Statement
are provided in the Environmental Appraisal Report. This sets out that the scheme
would provide photo-voltaic panels, significantly enhance the provision for the use
of electric vehicles and ensure no detrimental impact in flooding terms would occur.
It is acknowledged this accords with the thrust of policies CP1 and CC01 in terms
of providing sustainable development. As such, this is considered a further positive
benefit of the scheme.
Neighbouring Amenity
29. Overbearing/Loss of light/Overlooking: Whilst there are residential properties 46
metres to the south of the site, these are beyond the railway embankment. As
such, despite the fact that users of the car park would be higher than currently, it
is considered that no harmful overlooking, overbearing or loss of light impact would
occur.
30. Noise: A Noise Impact Assessment is provided with the Environmental Appraisal
Report. This identifies the nearest noise sensitive receptors as being the
residential properties on Cavendish Gardens to the south of the site and that door
slams for cars using the site would be the most likely impact. However, the report
also considers that this would be unlikely to be higher than the ambient noise of
the area given the proximity to the railway embankment. With regard to noise and
construction, an outline Construction Environmental Management Plan has been
included with the application. The Environmental Health Officer does not raise any
objection to this and therefore, subject to a condition (5) requiring a full plan to be
agreed, no concerns are raised.
Employment Skills Plan
31. As the development proposed is classified as major development, policy TB12 of
the MDD Local Plan requires consideration of an employment skills plan as part of
the application process. This is to ensure the use of local construction employment
opportunities or to encourage training of local people in relation to the construction
of the project. Subject to a condition (11) requiring a plan to be submitted, the
scheme would accord with this policy.

The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010)
In determining this application the Council is required to have due regard to its obligations
under the Equality Act 2010. The key equalities protected characteristics include age,
disability, gender, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and
maternity, race, religion or belief. There is no indication or evidence (including from
consultation on the application) that the protected groups identified by the Act have or will
have different needs, experiences, issues and priorities in relation to this particular
planning application and there would be no significant adverse impacts upon protected
groups as a result of the development.

134

CONCLUSION
The scheme would result in transport benefits for the Borough and its link with Reading
which would foster economic development. Subject to conditions, there would be no
harmful impact in terms of character and landscape, trees, ecology or flooding and
drainage. Additionally, due to the separation distance to any residential properties, no
harmful impact would occur in terms of residential amenity. As such, the scheme accords
with local and national planning policy and is recommended for approval.

135

This page is intentionally left blank

Location Plan Key
Planning Application Area
Boundary

A329(M)

S192 boundary : Proposed
works within the highway

WHA

RFE

DAL
E RO

AD

137
SCHEME:

Winnersh Triangle Schemes

TITLE:

Location Plan

Scale 1:2500

50m

0m

50m

100m

150m

DRAWING No:

WTS-WSP-GEN-SWI-DP-PL-00001

This page is intentionally left blank

1

Proposed North Elevation
1 : 200

2

Proposed South Elevation

139

1 : 200

Site Boundary

Site Boundary
Site Boundary

Site Boundary

3

Proposed East Elevation
1 : 200

0

2 3 4

6

8

10

12

14

4

Proposed West Elevation
1 : 200

16m

Date

Legend

Please Note:
This drawing must not be scaled, dimensions to be checked on
site and any discrepancies are to be highlighted to the Architect
prior to construction.

Drawn By/Checked By
Scale

Topographical / Ordnance Survey information shown has been
prepared by a third party, HGP accept no responsibility for
accuracy or completeness of the survey.
This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all other project
drawings, construction notes and / or project specifications
including those by other project consultants and specialists. All
discrepancies should be reported immediately.
Design subject to detail development / approval. Measurements
and accommodation schedules subject to amendments following
coordinated input by others. Costings cannot be finalised until
approval /confirmation by relevant authorities and Client.

4
N

1

Revision

2

Project
P02 Drawing number amended to suit WSP's 27.03.20 AP
document management system
P01 Issued for Planning
11.03.20 AP

3
Key Plan
NTS

Rev. Description

DATE

DB

LM
LM

CB

Title

03/03/20

Furzehall Farm, Wickham Road
Fareham, Hampshire
PO16 7JH

AP / LM
1:200 @ A0
P02
Winnersh Triangle Station Schemes
Proposed Elevations

Dwg#

WTS-HGP-SGN-ZZ-DE-PL-00004

Status

PLANNING

bsi.

ISO
9001
Quality
Management

FS 10342

01329 283 225
email@hgp-architects.co.uk
www.hgp-architects.co.uk
HGP Architects Ltd. Copyright
Reserved

Wokingham Borough Council
Civic Offices
Shute End
Wokingham
RG40 1BN

This page is intentionally left blank

BIM 360://UK - Project - Winnersh Triangle Schemes/WTS-WSP-XX-XX-M3-ST-00001_chris.mager.rvt 24/03/2020 09:52:21

DO NOT SCALE
NOTES:
1. THIS DRAWING IS TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH ALL RELEVANT
ARCHITECTS, SERVICES AND ENGINEERS DRAWINGS TOGETHER
WITH RELEVANT SPECIFICATIONS.
2. DIMENSIONS ARE NOT TO BE SCALED FROM THIS DRAWING.
3. CAR PARK DECK TO BE CONSTRUCTED IN STRUCTURAL STEELWORK.
DECK TO BE PRE-CAST CONCRETE UNITS.

KEY:
INDICATIVE LIGHTING UNIT MOUNTED TO CAR PARK
STRUCTURE WITH TWIN LED LUMINAIRES AT 8m
ABOVE GROUND LEVEL
INDICATIVE LIGHTING UNIT MOUNTED TO CAR PARK
STRUCTURE WITH SINGLE LED LUMINAIRES AT 8m
ABOVE GROUND LEVEL

5000

7500

7500

7500

6000

7500

7500

7500

7500

7500

7500

7500

7500

7500

7500

7500

7500

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

7500

7500

7500

6
WTS-WSP-XX-XX-DS-ST-00001

3
10

4

WTS-WSP-XX-XX-DS-ST-00001

WTS-WSP-XX-XX-DS-ST-00001

WTS-WSP-XX-XX-DS-ST-00003

5000

A

5
WTS-WSP-XX-XX-DS-ST-00001

2

8

WTS-WSP-XX-XX-DS-ST-00001

WTS-WSP-XX-XX-DS-ST-00003

RAMP

B

1
6000

WTS-WSP-XX-XX-DS-ST-00001

PLANT ROOM

5000

C

5000

7.2

7

7.1

WTS-WSP-XX-XX-DS-ST-00002

WTS-WSP-XX-XX-DS-ST-00002

6000

E

WTS-WSP-XX-XX-DS-ST-00002

11
WTS-WSP-XX-XX-DS-ST-00003

F

9
WTS-WSP-XX-XX-DS-ST-00003

5000

141

D

RAMP

G
STAIRS TO
ARCHITECTS DETAILS

FOR LIFT & STAIR INFORMATION
REFER TO ARCHITECTS DRAWING
WTS-HGP-SGN-ZZ-DE-PL-00005

REV

DATE

BY

DRAWING STATUS:

NATIONAL RAIL BOUNDARY
LEVEL 01 PROPOSED PLAN
1 : 250

DESCRIPTION

CHK

APP

PLANNING

2 London Square, Cross Lanes, Guildford, Surrey, GU1 1UN
T: +44 1483 528 400
http://www.wsp.com
CLIENT:

WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL

ARCHITECT:

HGP ARCHITECTS
PROJECT:

WINNERSH TRIANGLE STATION SCHEME
TITLE:

LEVEL 01 PROPOSED PLAN
SCALE @ A1:

CHECKED:

1:250
PROJECT NUMBER:

70062449

APPROVED:

TD
DESIGNED:

CM

TD

DRAWN:

DATE:

CM

DRAWING No:

NOTE: THIS DRAWING HAS BEEN PRODUCED WITH
THE INTENTION OF BEING VIEWED IN A COLOUR
FORMAT FOR THE PURPOSE OF CLARITY.
DO NOT COPY OR PRINT TO BLACK AND WHITE.

15/01/2020
REV:

WTS-WSP-XX-01-DR-ST-00001

© WSP UK Ltd

P01

This page is intentionally left blank

NOTES:
1. THIS DRAWING IS TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH ALL RELEVANT
ARCHITECTS, SERVICES AND ENGINEERS DRAWINGS TOGETHER
WITH RELEVANT SPECIFICATIONS.
2. DIMENSIONS ARE NOT TO BE SCALED FROM THIS DRAWING.
3. CAR PARK DECK TO BE CONSTRUCTED IN STRUCTURAL STEELWORK.
DECK TO BE PRE-CAST CONCRETE UNITS.

10

9

8

7500

7

7500

6

7500

5

7500

4

7500

3

7500

7500

C
5000

BIM 360://UK - Project - Winnersh Triangle Schemes/WTS-WSP-XX-XX-M3-ST-00001_chris.mager.rvt 24/03/2020 09:52:22

DO NOT SCALE

5000

D

E
MOVEMENT JOINT

LEVEL 02 PLAN EAST
1 : 100

143
7500

7500

7500

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

7500

7500

7500

PLANT ROOM

C

REV

DATE

BY

5000

DRAWING STATUS:

5000

5000

5000

5000

5000

5000

5000

5000

5000

DESCRIPTION

CHK

APP

PLANNING

5000

D
5000

2 London Square, Cross Lanes, Guildford, Surrey, GU1 1UN
T: +44 1483 528 400
http://www.wsp.com
CLIENT:

WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL

ARCHITECT:

E

HGP ARCHITECTS
PROJECT:

WINNERSH TRIANGLE STATION SCHEME

LEVEL 02 PLAN WEST
1 : 100
TITLE:

CANOPY PLAN
SCALE @ A1:

CHECKED:

1:100
PROJECT NUMBER:

70062449

APPROVED:

TD
DESIGNED:

CM

TD

DRAWN:

DATE:

CM

DRAWING No:

NOTE: THIS DRAWING HAS BEEN PRODUCED WITH
THE INTENTION OF BEING VIEWED IN A COLOUR
FORMAT FOR THE PURPOSE OF CLARITY.
DO NOT COPY OR PRINT TO BLACK AND WHITE.

15/01/2020
REV:

WTS-WSP-XX-02-DR-ST-00001

© WSP UK Ltd

P01

This page is intentionally left blank

10m

20m

30m

WSP Project Number: 70062449

ã Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100048755.

0m

Attenuation Tank

Six number tarmac parking
areas to be installed over
gravel bays to allow for future
conversion to four number
disabled bays

ARGING

ICLE C
H

Parking area for Network Rail

Proposed lift

PARK AND RIDE

For pavement details please refer to Drawing
Number WTS-ASA-ELS-PR-DR-LA-0002

Bin store (Bottle banks)

B

Existing footpath to be diverted

Hatched area to allow for temporary parking
of bin loading and off loading vehicle

Relocated motorcycle
parking (6nos)

Increased allowance for disabled
bays outside footprint of the
proposed parking deck. Disabled
spaces to be located on tarmac
surface, over existing gravel bays

Attenuation Tank

Ground floor layout adjusted to tie into
'straight' first floor steel structure

New primary signal head

B

Heavy duty pavement
construction for crossing
vehicles to reverse into
emergency access / bin
collection area.

NO E
NTRY

Ramp up to first floor

B

B

B

B

B

B

B

B

B
B

C

B

C

C

C

AY
ST
AT
IO
N

C

C

C

B

C

C

B

B

Two Sheffield stands to
remain as per existing
arrangements

RA
ILW

B

C

Relocated sign

Local carriageway widening

BUS STOP

10m

Scale 1:500

Ramp down from the first floor

Existing transformer to be removed

Area in front of substation to be kept
clear for service vehicles

New electrical substation

IC VEH

ELECTR

36No Proposed
passive EV parking
bays [blue]

PAY
DIS &
P

8 No Proposed active
EV parking bays [red]

ER

Extents of car park
first floor footprint

B

US
SH
EL
T

New single storey steel framework
parking deck to be erected over the
existing surface car park

PAY
DIS &
P

BIN

Proposed staircase

PAY
DIS &
P

PAY
DIS &
P

4
P
VE ROP
ND OS
ING ED
M
AC TICK
HIN ET
ES
BIN
BIN

STO
P
BUS

4No Existing active EV parking bays

TAXIS

Confidential

MOTO

ARKIN
G
RCYC
LE P

G
ARGIN
CLE CH
ELECTR
IC VEH
I

145

TER
BUS SHEL

B

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

B

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

B
B

Relocated Sheffield
cycle stands (4 nos)

Raised 60mm table

Tactile paving

EXISTING
PEDESTRIAN
BRIDGE

Proposed fourth arm directly off
roundabout with new signals

Existing box junction hatch to be extended

New secondary signal head

Existing right turn bus
lane to be removed

PD
PAY &
DISP

Date

26/03/20

1:500

Scale @ A1

Drawing Title

Description

AV

Check

Suitable for Planning

WE

Drawn

General Arrangement

SE

Approved

Winnersh Triangle Schemes

wsp.com

WTS-WSP-GEN-SWI-DP-ZX-00001

Status

26/03/20

Date

Drawing Number

S9

First Revision

Iway bg22 + b514 + b512
LED bollard
6.4w 161lm 3000k cri80 - 360° distribution
electronic control gear
fixed with b512 counter plate

--Disc'
Ch'k

Iway bw85 + b513 + x024 + b511
LED bollard for p3 lighting class
24.5w 788lm 3000k cri80 - 180° distribution
electronic control gear
fixed with b513 counter plate

Existing lighting unit to be removed

Indicative 6m illuminated finial decorative
column (station frontage).

Indicative 12m lighting column with single LED
luminaire (highway).Philips Luma to WBC
specification.

Indicative 8m lighting column with single LED
luminaire (station access). Philips Luma to
WBC specification.

Indicative lighting unit mounted to car park
structure with single LED luminaire (parking
deck). Philips Luma to WBC specification.

Indicative lighting unit mounted to car park
structure with twin led luminaires at 8m above
ground level (park & ride, parking deck). Philips
Luma to WBC specification.

Indicative 8m lighting column with twin LED
luminaires (park & ride). Philips Luma to WBC
specification.

8m lighting column with single LED luminaire
(park & ride). Philips Luma to WBC
specification.

LIGHTING KEY:

Existing gravel car park
surfacing

Highway Tarmac flexible

Hot rolled asphalt

Grasscrete

S192 boundary: Proposed works
within the highway

Planning application Area Boundary

Bus flag

Existing cycle shelter comprising
20 cycle parking spaces

Recycling bins

Pay and display cabinet
(600mm x 600mm)

KEY:

App'd

---

3
P01.2

Revision

Stage

GH

Authorised

2 London Square, Cross Lanes, Guildford GU1 1UN, UK
T+ 44 (0)14 83 528 400

B

A

C

BIN

Suitability

NOTES :
All dimensions shown in meters unless otherwise stated.
Do not scale from this drawing.
For landscape details, both hard and soft landscaping,
please refer to drawings WTS-ASA-ELS-PR-LA-00001 to
00004.

BIN

Project Title

Client

Rev.

P01.1

1.
2.
3.

BIN

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9.
200985

Expiry Date

Parish

Ward

23/07/2020

Wokingham

Norreys

Applicant
Site Address
Proposal

Type
PS Category
Officer
Reason for
determination by
committee

WBC
Cantley Park Recreation Ground
Full application for the proposed construction of a new 3G
Artificial Grass Pitch (AGP) with floodlights; refurbishment of
existing pavilion to provide new changing facilities, viewing
balcony and ancillary café; improvements to existing grass
pitches and associated works; provision of an additional 39 no.
parking spaces in existing car park.
Full
1
Sophie Morris
Major application
Applicant is WBC

FOR CONSIDERATION BY
REPORT PREPARED BY

Planning Committee on Wednesday, 8 July 2020
Assistant Director – Place

SUMMARY
The application site is located in Cantley Park, North Wokingham, part of which lies
within the North Wokingham Strategic Development Location (SDL) and is used for
recreation and leisure purposes. Cantley Park is set within twenty nine hectares of
parkland off Twyford Road. The existing facilities on the site include full size and junior
football pitches, a floodlit artificial hockey pitch, twelve tennis courts, a play area, events
field, and ancillary buildings which provide changing facilities and public toilets.
The proposals are for an Artificial Grass Pitch (AGP), together with improvements to the
existing natural turf pitches, through the provision of a new drainage system.
Refurbishment works are also proposed to the existing pavilion building to provide new
changing room facilities and ancillary cafe, along with a first floor balcony viewing area.
An additional 39 parking spaces are proposed as an extension to the existing car park,
and would provide a further 39 car parking spaces, (including 4 larger spaces to
accommodate minibuses). This would bring the total parking on site to 164 spaces.
Whilst these proposals relate specifically to the provision of an AGP and pavilion
refurbishment works, the proposals form part of a wider plan to improve existing
facilities in Cantley Park, and plans are anticipated for proposals relating to the
replacement of the existing play area to become a destination play facility. Such
proposals would be the subject of a separate planning application.
The proposals form part of the Council’s strategic objectives for new and improved
sports provision within Wokingham. The proposals are considered acceptable in the
context of their location within a park used for sport and recreation purposes, and would
result in significant improvements over the existing facilities which are outdated and in
poor condition, comprising an improved sports pitch provision on site together with
refurbished ancillary facilities. Appropriate mitigation is proposed to overcome impacts,
where necessary, and the proposals would not result in significant harm to existing

147

surrounding residential amenity. The application is considered to comply with
Development Plan polices and is therefore being recommended for approval.

PLANNING STATUS
 North Wokingham Strategic Development Location (in part)
 Countryside
 Public Open Space
 Special Protection Area – 5 and 7 km
 Groundwater protection zone
 Landfill consultation zone
 Minerals consultation zone
 Contaminated land consultation zone
RECOMMENDATION
That the committee authorise the GRANT OF PLANNING PERMISSION subject to
the following:
A. Conditions and informatives:
Conditions:
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three
years from the date of this permission.
Reason: In pursuance of s.91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended by s.51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).
2. This permission is in respect of the following submitted application plans and
drawings:
Proposed Site Plan 205-060-1002 Rev B; Proposed Car Park 205-060-1003 Rev
B; Proposed Landscape Plan 205-060-1011 Rev B; Proposed AGP details 205060-1009; Proposed floor plans/elevations 205-060-1005; Proposed balcony
details 205-060-1007; Proposed floodlighting HLS012; Proposed floodlighting
Column detail E01HD; Lighting design calculations report 1167 dated 04.06.20;
Halliday Lighting Pitch Floodlighting Lighting Impact Study/Overspill Readings
report 1167 dated 04.06.20; Proposed layout (Horizontal Lux) HLS011; Lighting
setting out HLS1167; Luminaire details Philips Lighting Data Sheet dated June
2020; Proposed Site Drainage Layout 205-060-3010 Rev B; BS 5837:2012 Tree
Survey, Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Arboricultural Method Statement,
by Ecus Ltd, report ref: 14644 dated March 2020 Revision V1.1 (22.05.20);
Sustainability statement dated April 2020;
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is
carried out in accordance with the application form and associated details hereby
approved.

148

Hours of Construction
3. No work relating to the construction of development hereby approved, including
works of ground clearance or preparation prior to commencement of construction
operations shall take place other than between the hours of 08:00 and 18:00
hours Monday to Friday and 08:00 to 13:00 hours on Saturdays and at no time
on Sundays or Bank or National Holidays.
Reason: To protect the occupiers of neighbouring properties from noise and
disturbance outside the permitted hours during the construction period. Relevant
policy: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3 and Managing Development Delivery
Local Plan policy CC06.
External materials
4. Before the development hereby permitted is commenced (other than internal
works to the pavilion building), samples and details of the materials to be used in
the construction of the external surfaces of the building/s shall have first been
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
Development shall not be carried out other than in accordance with the soapproved details.
Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the building is satisfactory.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3
Boundary treatments
5. Before the first use of the development hereby permitted, details of all boundary
treatment(s) including the Artificial Grass Pitch fencing details shall first be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The
approved scheme shall be implemented prior to the first use of the development
or phased as agreed in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme shall
be maintained in the approved form for so long as the development remains on
the site.
Reason: In the interests of amenity and safety. Relevant policy: Core Strategy
policies CP1, CP3 and CP6
Lighting spill
6. The AGP hereby permitted shall be artificially illuminated only in accordance with
the flood light lighting specification and as set out within the above referenced
approved lighting plans. The artificial light spill associated with the development
shall not exceed that as set out in the approved plans.
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies
CP1, CP3 and CP6 and MDD Policy TB23
7. The Artifical Grass Pitch and associated floodlights hereby permitted shall not be
used other than between the hours of 08:00 to 22:00.
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies
CP1, CP3 and CP6

149

Public Address System
8. No sound amplifying equipment to be used in connection with the development
hereby approved, shall be installed at the premises.
Reason: To safeguard the residential amenities of nearby residents and the area
generally from noise and disturbance. Relevant policy: NPPF Section 15
(Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment), Core Strategy policies
CP1 and CP3 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC06.
Trees and Landscaping:
9. Prior to the commencement of the development, full details of both hard and soft
landscape proposals shall be agreed in writing by the local planning authority.
These details shall include, as appropriate, proposed finished floor levels or
contours, means of enclosure, car parking layouts, other vehicle and pedestrian
access and circulation areas, hard surfacing materials and minor artefacts and
structure (e.g. furniture, play equipment, refuse or other storage units, signs,
lighting, external services, etc). Soft landscaping details shall include planting
plan, specification (including cultivation and other operations associated with
plant and grass establishment), schedules of plants, noting species, planting
sizes and proposed numbers/densities where appropriate, and implementation
timetable.
All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details prior to the occupation of any part of the development or in
accordance with a timetable approved in writing by the local planning authority.
Any trees or plants which, within a period of five years after planting, are
removed, die or become seriously damaged or defective, shall be replaced in the
next planting season with others of species, size and number as originally
approved and permanently retained.
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy
CP3 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21
Protection of trees:
10. a) No development or other operations shall take place except in complete
accordance with the BS 5837:2012 Tree Survey, Arboricultural Impact
Assessment and Arboricultural Method Statement, by Ecus Ltd. dated March
2020 Revision 1.1 (22.05.20) (thereinafter referred to as the Approved Scheme).
b) No operations shall commence on site in connection with development hereby
approved (including any tree felling, tree pruning, demolition works, soil moving,
temporary access construction and or widening or any other operation involving
use of motorised vehicles or construction machinery) until the tree protection
works required by the Approved Scheme are in place on site.
c) No excavations for services, storage of materials or machinery, parking of
vehicles, deposit or excavation of soil or rubble, lighting of fires or disposal of
liquids shall take place within an area designated as being fenced off or
otherwise protected in the Approved Scheme.
d) The fencing or other works which are part of the Approved Scheme shall not
be moved or removed, temporarily or otherwise, until all works including external
works have been completed and all equipment, machinery and surplus materials
removed from the site, unless the prior approval in writing of the local planning
authority has first been sought and obtained.

150

Reason: To secure the protection throughout the time that the development is
being carried out of trees shrubs or hedges growing within or adjacent to the site
which are of amenity value to the area, and to allow for verification by the local
planning authority that the necessary measures are in place before development
and other works commence Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21
Construction Method Statement
11. No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a
Construction Method Statement has been submitted to, and approved in writing
by, the local planning authority. The approved Statement shall be adhered to
throughout the construction period. The Statement shall provide for:
i) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors,
ii) loading and unloading of plant and materials,
iii) storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development,
iv) the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative displays
and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate,
v) wheel washing facilities,
vi) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction,
vii) a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and
construction works
viii) Relevant ecological mitigation measures for protected species
Reason: In the interests of highway safety & convenience and neighbour
amenities. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP3 & CP6 and MDD Policy
TB23.
Parking Management Strategy
12. Prior to the first use of the AGP, a Parking Management Strategy for the
management of the parking arrangements shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority. The submitted Parking Management
Strategy shall include details of the management of all parking spaces and the
monitoring and the delivery of additional electric vehicle charging spaces when
required. The management of the parking within the site shall be in accordance
with the approved details thereafter
Reason: to ensure satisfactory development in the interests of amenity and
highway safety in accordance with Wokingham Borough Core Strategy Policies
CP1, CP6 and CP21.
Parking spaces
13. The AGP hereby permitted shall not be used until the additional parking spaces
as indicated on the approved plans have been provided in accordance with the
approved plans. The vehicle parking spaces shall be retained and maintained in
accordance with the approved details and shall remain available for the parking
of vehicles at all times.
Reason: To provide adequate off-street vehicle parking and turning space and to
allow vehicles to enter and leave the site in a forward gear in the interests of road
safety and convenience and providing a functional, accessible and safe
development and in the interests of amenity. Relevant policy: Core Strategy

151

policies CP3 & CP6 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy
CC07.
Electric Vehicle Charging
14. The AGP hereby permitted shall not be used until details for the Electric Vehicle
Charging points serving the development have been submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Electric Vehicle Charging points
shall be implemented in accordance with such approved details before first use
of the AGP hereby permitted, and shall be permanently retained in the approved
form for the charging of electric vehicles and used for no other purpose.
Reason: In order to ensure that secure electric vehicle charging facilities are
provided so as to encourage the use of sustainable modes of travel. Relevant
policy: Core Strategy policies CP1, CP3 & CP6 and Managing Development
Delivery Local Plan policy CC07.
Cycle Parking
15. Prior to the first use of the AGP hereby permitted, further details of the enclosure
for the proposed cycle parking for the site shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Council. The cycle parking/storage shall be implemented in
accordance with the approved details prior to first use of the AGP and
permanently so-retained for the parking of bicycles and used for no other
purposes.
Reason: In order to ensure that secure weather-proof bicycle parking facilities
are provided so as to encourage the use of sustainable modes of travel in
accordance with NPPF Section 9 (Sustainable Transport), Core Strategy Policies
CP1, CP3 and CP6, Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC07,
and the North Wokingham Strategic Development Location Supplementary
Planning Document (October 2011).
Flood Risk and Drainage:
16. No development other than those works relating to the refurbishment of the
pavilion building shall take place until full details of the drainage system for the
site have been submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA. The details shall
include:
1. Calculations indicating the Greenfield runoff rate from the site;
2. Full calculations demonstrating the capacity of attenuation features to cater for 1
in 100 year flood event with a 40% allowance for climate change and runoff
controlled at Greenfield rates, or preferably better;
3. Details demonstrating how any SuDS for this development would be managed
throughout the lifespan of the development and who will be responsible for
maintenance.
Reason: To prevent increased flood risk from surface water run-off. Relevant
policy: NPPF Section 10 (Meeting the Challenge of Climate Change, Flooding
and Coastal Change), Core Strategy policy CP1 and Managing Development
Delivery Local Plan policies CC09 and CC10.

152

Energy and Sustainability
17. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the
energy efficiency and renewable energy measures as set out within the above
referenced approved Sustainability Statement dated April 2020. The identified
measures shall be implemented prior to the occupation of the buildings.
Reason: In order to ensure the development contributes towards the goal of
achieving zero carbon development by including on-site renewable energy
features and minimising energy and water consumption. Relevant Policy: Core
Strategy Policy CP1, MDDLP policies CC04 and CC05; Sustainable Design and
Construction Supplementary Planning Document (May 2010).
Biodiversity Impact Assessment
18. The AGP hereby permitted shall not be used until a Biodiversity Impact
Assessment calculation for the application site using the most up to date (at the
time of the submission of the application to discharge this condition) Defra
Biodiversity Metric, with supporting documentation, to demonstrate that there will
be a 10% net increase in Habitat and Hedgerow Biodiversity Units, has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the council and shall be implemented
prior to first use of the proposals hereby permitted.
The calculator shall be based upon the detailed landscaping scheme, approved
under Condition 9.
If the calculator shows that off-site habitat provision or enhancement is required
to demonstrate that there will be a 10% increase in biodiversity units, full details
of any off site habitat creation or enhancement, including its management in
perpetuity, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the council.
Reason: To ensure that a net gain in biodiversity is achieved in accordance with
paragraphs 170, 174 & 175 of the NPPF and MDD Policy TB23.
Informatives:
1. The applicant's attention is drawn to the comments made within the Crime
Prevention Design Advisor’s response which should be considered in conjunction
with details to be submitted under condition 9
2. The applicant is advised to apply to Environmental Health for ‘prior consent’
under s.61 of the Control of Pollution Act 1974 in relation to the control of
construction site noise.
3. Adequate precautions shall be taken during the construction period to prevent
the deposit of mud and similar debris on adjacent highways. For further
information contact the Highway Authority on tel.: 0118 9746000
4. The applicant is reminded that a Demolition Notice may be required to be served
on the Council in accordance with current Building Regulations and it is
recommended that the Building Control Section be contacted for further advice.

PLANNING HISTORY
Application Number Proposal
161123
Full application for proposed
construction of 3 new tennis
courts and pavilion including

153

Decision
Approved (implemented)

associated court lighting, fencing,
car park and access
F/2007/2722

05467

Improvements to pedestrian access, Approved (not
provision for car parking overspill
implemented)
facility, and siting of football pitch
with stand and floodlighting facilities.
28/10/1976 planning permission
Approved
granted for the change of use of
land to public playing fields.
Following subsequent applications
for changing facilities, tennis courts,
all weather football and hockey
pitches, ancillary facilities including
storage and floodlighting of the
tennis courts.

SUMMARY INFORMATION
Site Area
Existing land use(s)
Proposed use

Change in floorspace (+/-)
Existing parking spaces
Proposed parking spaces

CONSULTATION RESPONSES
Crime Prevention Design Officer
Royal Berkshire Fire and Rescue
Thames Water
Sport England
WBC Biodiversity
WBC Economic Prosperity and Place
(Community Infrastructure)
WBC Drainage
WBC Environmental Health
WBC Highways
WBC Tree & Landscape
WBC Cleaner & Greener (Waste
Services)
WBC Public Rights of Way

12ha (total park area 29ha)
Sport and recreation (grass playing
pitch)/ancillary pavilion building
Sport and recreation - Grass pitch to
Artifical Grass Pitch; Balcony to pavilion
building
Additional 36m2 to pavilion building through
provision of balcony
125
39 additional (164 in total)

No objection
No comments received
No objection
No objection
No objection subject to conditions
No comments received
No objection subject to conditions
No objection subject to conditions
No objection subject to conditions
No objection subject to conditions
No comments received
No comments received

REPRESENTATIONS
Over 400 consultation letters were sent to neighbouring properties around the
vicinity of the park.

154

Responses:
Local Members: No comments received
Wokingham Town Council: Largely supportive of the application and supports the
promotion of sporting facilities that encourage sport and leisure within the community.
The changing rooms being equally split between male and female was seen as a
positive. The following further comments made:
 Missed opportunity to include solar panels on the roof of the building; Officer
response: The proposals do include solar panels on the south facing roof of the
building.
 Concern over the effect of light pollution on bat roosting arising from the
floodlights; Officer response: The floodlighting has been designed in order to
minimise impact upon the adjacent tree corridor – report para 24 refers.
 Bus service to the site is not adequate, particularly at weekends when the facility
will mostly be used. Officer response; Bus services in the area are being
improved as part of wider SDL supporting infrastructure (para28 refers)
 Inadequate provision for cyclists as only 12 spaces are proposed; Officer
response; 12 sheffield cycle stands are proposed which will accommodate 24
bicycles which meets WBC standards.
 Not clear on the plans what trees are to be removed. If mature trees are removed
these should be replaced like for like; Officer response: One Lime tree and a
small section of hedge is proposed to be removed and suitable mitigation
planting is proposed; paras 19-21 refer.
 Height of the external fencing of 4.5m seems excessive and will be an eyesore;
Officer response: The height of the fencing is a Football Federation/ Football
Association requirement for a pitch of this nature. The fence material is not solid
and would enable light and views through, the details of which are required to be
provided under condition 5.
 Pathway is too narrow and if possible should be 2metres wide; Officer response:
The path proposed to the north of the new parking spaces has been increased to
2m in line with WBC Highways comments.
 Seems to have been a missed opportunity to use the existing gravel area on the
site for a car park; Officer response: The parking proposals are considered
acceptable and in line with WBC standards. There is an existing area on site
(although outside of the red boundary line) which is used as an overspill car park
on occasions when large events take place. It is anticipated that this area will
continue to be used for this purpose.
Neighbours:
Objecting: 2 responses received summarised as follows:
 Object to the grass areas being built over and the extension to the car park;
there is already an all weather pitch and why should more space be given over
to cars; Cantley park has already been decimated with awful tennis courts with
lighting, numerous green areas now blighted with footpaths and more lighting.
Officer response: The proposals are considered to represent acceptable
improvements to the existing sport and recreational facilities provided within the
park and are in accordance with Council objectives.
 How much rebate will we get this year on the council tax due to the reduced
services? Officer response: This is not a material planning consideration for the
purposes of this application

155



When there was a Wokingham town football and cricket pitch it was deemed no
longer necessary and they were covered in concrete. Now there is seemingly a
need according to this planning application. Officer response: Every application
must be assessed on its individual merits, and in this case, the provision of the
AGP is considered acceptable against relevant local and national planning
policies.
 Flooding in the area seems to be of no consequence except to the people living
in the surrounding area. Incredibly bright flood lights are apparently of no
consequence except to those living in the area and the wildlife of which there is
less and less with all this construction. Car parking spaces will never be enough
and the overflow will continue to block roads and residential streets.
Officer response: The application is accompanied with supporting documentation
relating to flooding, drainage, floodlighting and parking, all of which have been
taken into consideration in the assessment of the application and considered
acceptable in each respect.
In Support: 4 responses received – comments summarised as follows:
Wokingham Theatre:
 Generally supportive of the proposed application but would like the following to
be noted and taken into consideration; The theatre have not been formally
consulted as part of the noise survey and would be concerned at any proposals
to allow a public address system; we are pleased that the parking arrangements
have been significantly improved but all spaces should remain available to the
general public at all times; Officer Comment: Condition 8 restricts the provision of
a public address system and a parking management strategy is required under
condition 12 to ensure appropriate management of the on-site parking spaces
Wokingham Society:
 Generally welcomes the proposal for a new 3G pitch and refurbishment of the
pavilion but concerned about the narrowness of the service road and path
running past the front of the pavilion which is already considered too narrow;
Officer response: The proposals would not directly affect the current use of this
area as the additional parking is proposed in the main car park. The access road
referred to serves the car park area associated with the tennis courts and there
are existing traffic calming measures in this location. Amendments to this existing
path are not sought as part of the application, and are not considered necessary
to render the application acceptable.
Neighbour responses in support:
 Well it is about time! Having used these substandard sports facilities for the last
20 years that I have been resident in Wokingham, we finally have plans to invest.
Football is by far the most underfunded activity in the borough when you account
for the numbers of people who play the sport. Well done WBC! Looking forward
to seeing this through as soon as possible.
 Would like to support this application while highlighting the need for sufficient car
parking. Football and charity events attract a lot of cars, some of which are
parked out on the road. There should be more disabled parking bays, and
disabled access to the facilities. Floodlighting can cause a lot of light pollution for
the surrounding area, this should be taken into account. Officer response: The
parking proposals accord with WBC parking standards, and condition 12 is
proposed requiring the submission of a parking management strategy. Two
additional disabled parking spaces have been provided next to the pavilion
building where the changing and ancillary facilities will be located. The proposed

156

floodlights have been designed to minimise external lightspill and impact upon
surrounding area, including the adjacent tree corridor.
Comment: 2 responses received - summarised as follows:Bowmen of Burleigh (users of the archery range adjacent to the playing pitches): Could the drainage work to improve the football pitches be extended to include
the archery range which has always suffered with water logging? Officer
response: The current proposals do not relate to or include the provision of a new
drainage system for the archery field and does not form part of this application.
Discussions regarding this comment would need to be held between the club and
WBC as a separate matter.
 Bowmen of Burleigh would need assurances that the existing vehicular and
disabled access to their archery range will not be restricted and will still be
available when they return to shooting and using the range for the summer and
autumn season. Officer response: the applicant has advised that the gate access
to the archery range area would remain available through the project
construction. Details of how this will be achieved would be expected under the
submission of the construction method statement required under condition 11.
 There is a stile at one end of the playing fields which is used to enter the field
archery area. This is situated at the opposite end to the Ashridge Rooms. This
causes some of the users of the playing fields difficulty this can be players,
supporters and other users, especially when equipment needs to be lifted over.
Within the plans for the restructure would it be possible to change this stile for a
gate of some description to ensure safe passage for all those using the playing
fields? Officer response: The submitted plans indicate that the existing stile will
be replaced with a gate. Further details relating to this would be required to be
submitted under 5 relating to boundary treatments.
Cllr Anna Box:
 Impact on bats; how many flood lights and where? Any late night events as noise
report did not add to this; Café – the council should stipulate certain amount of
healthy type foods. Officer response:- there would be 6 flood lights positioned
around the perimeter of the pitch; condition 7 restricts their hours of use and they
have been designed so the lighting level and outward spill would be acceptable
in the context of the bat commuting/foraging route; the noise report relates to use
of the playing pitch only, as the pavilion building is not seeking permission for a
change of use and has an existing established use as an ancillary facility to the
recreation ground. The type of food being served in the proposed café is not a
material planning consideration for the purposes of this application.
Comments received within the two further responses are summarised as follows: Not enough electric vehicle charging points; number of people requiring electric
charging facilities is likely to rapidly increase; building a pitch is not a sustainable
use of land; floodlights should not be permitted on the basis of causing light
pollution which could have negative impact on biodiversity Café use will lead to
additional energy use, solar panels should be installed. Officer response:
Electric Vehicle charging provision has increased to 4 spaces to be in
accordance with WBC emerging policy; the parking management plan secured
under 12 will require mechanism for review of EV charging space demand and
provision; floodlights are designed to minimise light pollution impact upon
ecology; solar panels are proposed to be installed

157













Due to limited bus services in the vicinity of the site, access to the site is
restricted to travel by car, other than for local residents; Officer response: The
local bus service is being improved as part of the wider SDL infrastructure
improvements (para 29 refers)
The proposed parking provision will be inadequate at busy times; parking issues
in the locality when the theatre hire out their facilities for third party events.
Overspill parking is only mentioned briefly with no further details provided. Officer
response: The proposals have been assessed as acceptable by WBC Highways,
Condition 12 requires the submission of a parking management strategy which
will need to detail arrangements for when events are organised by shared users
of the site. There is an area within the site which is used for event overspill
parking and such details would be expected to be provided as part of the parking
management strategy submission in connection with the use of the AGP.
The AGP is not replacing an existing grass pitch, the proposals will provide 5
pitches plus the AGP, where there are only currently 4 pitches and 2 extras
pitches are to be sites on the currently unused north eastern section of the site;
Drainage is to be installed for all the grass pitches making them more available
for use; Officer response:- the applicant’s drainage strategy advises that there is
an existing drainage system on site which is outdated and in need of
replacement; the result of which has meant some of the pitches previously used
had to cease due to issues concerning flooding; these will be reinstated following
the new drainage system being installed.
Disabled access: would the three spaces be better located in the car park
adjacent to the tennis courts; no disabled access to the western end of the field.
Officer response: The additional disabled parking spaces are considered
appropriate to be sited next to the pavilion building where the changing and other
facilities are located; Submitted details indicate that the existing stile at the
western end of the site will be replaced with a gate in conjunction with the fencing
to be installed along the boundary of the additional car park. Further details are
secured under condition 5.
The proposals have been billed as improvements to Cantley Park, they are
confined to improvements in the football pitches and associated facilities with no
consideration given to other sports or users. The cricket wicket and destination
play area that were part of the original proposal have disappeared. Officer
response:- These particular proposals do relate solely to the provision of football
facilities, following the assessment of borough wide pitch provision within the
Council’s Playing Pitch Strategy, however the pavilion refurbishment will be of
wider benefit to users of other facilities in the park; proposals for a destination
play area have not been abandoned, and will be the subject of a separate
application in due course. The Council are still looking to provide the Cricket
wicket once the pitch improvements have been carried out.
The scheme may well have an impact on the accessibility of the archery range;
Officer response; the proposals will not restrict the existing access arrangements
for the use of the archery field, however the construction method statement
would be expected to demonstrate how access to the field will be maintained
through construction.

PLANNING POLICY
National Policy
Adopted Core Strategy DPD 2010

NPPF
CP1
CP2

National Planning Policy Framework
Sustainable Development
Inclusive Communities

158

CP3
CP4
CP6
CP7
CP8
CP9
CP11

Adopted Managing Development
Delivery Local Plan 2014

CP15
CC01
CC02
CC03
CC04
CC05
CC06
CC07
CC09
CC10
TB12
TB21
TB23

Supplementary Planning
Documents
(SPD)

General Principles for Development
Infrastructure Requirements
Managing Travel Demand
Biodiversity
Thames Basin Heaths Special
Protection Area
Scale and Location of Development
Proposals
Proposals outside development limits
(including countryside)
Employment Development
Presumption in Favour of Sustainable
Development
Development Limits
Green Infrastructure, Trees and
Landscaping
Sustainable Design and Construction
Renewable energy and decentralised
energy networks
Noise
Parking
Development and Flood Risk (from all
sources)
Sustainable Drainage
Employment Skills Plan
Landscape Character
Biodiversity and Development
North Wokingham Strategic
Development Location SPD.

PLANNING ISSUES
Application site and surroundings:
1. The application site relates to Cantley Park recreation ground, which is located in
north Wokingham. Vehicular access to the site is obtained off Twyford Road
(A321) at the western side of the site, and pedestrians and cyclists can also
access the site by foot or cycle paths located off various surrounding roads such
as Bell Foundry Lane, Wiltshire Road and Milton Road. Existing facilities in
Cantley Park include the Wokingham theatre, a hockey pitch, tennis courts, an
archery range, a play area, a hotel, and various different grass pitches and areas
for leisure and recreation activities, along with an ancillary pavilion building which
has changing facilities and toilets.
2. The site does not lie within a Conservation Area, and there are no listed buildings
or heritage assets within curtilage of the site. The site is located in the
countryside, and part of which falls within the North Wokingham Strategic
Development Location (SDL), the southern boundary of which crosses the site
along the existing grass pitches located in the north end of the park. The wider
grounds of the park are bound to the north and east by Bell Foundry Lane, to the
west by Twyford Road, and Milton Road to the south. The southern part of the

159

park (outside the application boundary has recently been designated a Local
Wildlife Site for its veteran trees.
Description of Development:
3. This application seeks planning permission for the installation of a floodlit artificial
grass pitch (AGP), improvements to the existing natural turf pitches, involving the
installation of a new drainage system, along with refurbishment works to the
existing pavilion building to provide new changing room facilities and ancillary
cafe, and a first floor balcony viewing area. An additional 39 parking spaces are
proposed as an extension to the existing car park, and would provide a further 39
car parking spaces, (including 4 larger spaces to accommodate minibuses).
4. As background information relating to the application, the proposals have come
forward following an assessment of need and demand under the Council’s
Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS) 2019-2036 which identified a shortfall in the
provision of artificial grass pitches across the borough. The PPS was adopted in
2019 and provides a framework for future provision and management of sports
pitches to serve existing and new communities across the borough. Information
provided within the applicant’s Design and Access Statement advises that the
overarching priorities of the PPS are to improve grass pitches and supporting
infrastructure at key sites and to increase the stock of 3G artificial grass pitches.
The PPS assessment rated the existing grass pitches at Cantley Park as being
poor quality, and the proposals have therefore been informed by these results.
5. In addition to the PPS, the Wokingham Local Football Facility Plan (LFFP) has
been prepared with support from the Football Foundation, Wokingham Borough
Council, Berkshire & Buckinghamshire FA, Get Berkshire Active, and Reading
FC Football Trust. The purpose of the Plan is to identify priority projects to enable
investment in football facilities to be accurately targeted. The LFFP builds on
local evidence and strategic plans and adopts relevant actions from the
Wokingham Borough Council Playing Pitch Strategy. The Cantley Park proposals
which are the subject of this application are identified in the LFFP as one of six
priority investment projects to deliver the shortfall in artificial playing pitches
across the borough.
6. Although not a material planning consideration, should planning permission be
forthcoming for the proposals, the council will be submitting an application to the
Football Foundation seeking to secure funding towards the cost of the project
and as such, has been developed in line with relevant sporting guidelines and
requirements.
Principle of Development:
7. The National Planning Policy Framework has an underlying presumption in
favour of sustainable development which is carried through to the local
Development Plan. Of particular relevance to this application, paragraph 73 of
the NPPF notes that "access to high quality open spaces and opportunities for
sport and recreation can make an important contribution to the health and wellbeing of communities." Paragraph 74 states "Existing open space, sports and
recreational buildings and land, including playing fields, should not be built on
unless:
 an assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown the open
space, buildings or land to be surplus to requirements; or

160




the loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by
equivalent or better provision in terms of quantity and quality in a suitable
location; or
the development is for alternative sports and recreational provision, the
needs for which clearly outweigh the loss."

8. The Managing Development Delivery Local Plan (MDD) Policy CC01 states that
planning applications that accord with the policies in the Development Plan for
Wokingham Borough will be approved without delay, unless material
considerations indicate otherwise. As the site is located in the Countryside,
Policy CP11 (Proposals outside Development Limits) applies, and is a restrictive
policy designed to prevent spread of development into the Countryside, but does,
however, establish the principle for outdoor sport or countryside recreation
providing the scale, form, design and character are appropriate to the location. In
reality, the site sits within Wokingham and is surrounded by development and as
such significant weight needs to be given to this.
9. It is also of note that Sport England considers the principle of the development to
meet exception criteria 5 of their playing field policy which states: 'The proposed
development is for an indoor or outdoor facility for sport, the provision of which
would be of sufficient benefit to the development of sport as to outweigh the
detriment caused by the loss, or prejudice to the use, of the area of playing field.'
Their response on the application refers to their consultation with the Football
Foundation and the Football Association on the proposals, who responded that
“The site is identified in the Local Football Facility Plan and seen as a priority site
for Football Foundation funding. The Project fully complies with our technical
guidance. We are strongly supportive of this application”
10. As the site is already in recreational use and the proposal is to improve such
facilities through the introduction of an artificial grass pitch, and associated
improvements to the pavilion building, the principle of the development proposed
is considered acceptable in this case.
Layout, Design and Appearance:
11. Core Strategy Policies CP1 (Sustainable Development) and CP3 (General
Principles for Development) requires high quality design that respects its context.
This requirement is amplified by MDD LP Policies CC03 (Green Infrastructure,
Trees and Landscaping) and TB21 (Landscape Character) and the North
Wokingham SDL SPD. The Government has also recently released a National
Design Guide; Planning practice guidance for beautiful, enduring and successful
places in October 2019.
12. The proposed artificial grass pitch would be positioned on part of the existing
field area located to the north of the existing pavilion building, and would be
positioned in place of an existing grass pitch. The pitch would measure 100m x
64m, and would be marked out so it could be used as either one full sized pitch
or 4 smaller pitches. The pitch would be surrounded by a safety margin of 3m to
all sides, along with a 4.0m wide macadam spectator hardstanding located on
the north and southern sides. An equipment storage container would also be
located within the fenced area of the pitch. The fence surrounding the pitch would
be a powder coated welded mesh fence measuring 4.5m high (the height of

161

which is a Football Foundation/Football Association requirement). This type of
fencing is commonly used for a pitch of this nature, allowing light and
transparency through. A total of 6 x15m high floodlighting columns would be
positioned around the edge of the pitch (three on the north side and three on the
southern side).
13. The layout and design of the proposed pitch is considered acceptable and
appropriate for its intended use and is not considered to result in harm to
surrounding visual amenity, particularly given the context of its location within a
large park which has an established sport and recreational use.
14. The proposed refurbishment works to the existing pavilion building would
primarily include internal works, such as new changing rooms to provide
separate male and female changing facilities. Such works in themselves do not
require planning permission, however, the associated external alterations to the
façade do, but are considered to be minor in nature, and are necessary to
accommodate the internal reconfigurations i.e. removal of and provision of new
doors/windows. A viewing balcony is proposed at first floor level which would
overlook the playing pitches. This would protrude out from the building by 2m and
would span 18.5m in width. This is considered to be a compatible addition to the
building that would not be harmful to its character and appearance.
15. In conjunction with achieving sustainable design objectives, solar panels are also
proposed on the southern roofslope of the pavilion building. These would occupy
the majority of the roofslope, however, due to the orientation of the building, the
panels would not be highly visible from surrounding vantage points, other than
whilst walking/driving past along the access path to the rear. Their presence is
therefore considered acceptable and would not detract from the character and
appearance of the surrounding area.
16. Additional parking associated with the proposal would be provided as an
extension to the existing car park, and whilst this would involve the provision of
additional hardstanding area to accommodate the spaces, the accompanying
landscape details (discussed below) are considered to provide a softening effect
along this edge of the car park, which will be a visual benefit of the scheme. The
footpath proposed along the north edge of the newly created parking spaces has
been increased from 1m to 2m following comments from WBC Highways and
they now consider the parking layout to be acceptable. Two of the comments
received following the application consultation referred to the existing pedestrian
access at the western edge of the existing pitches which they consider as being
restrictive, as it is in the form of a ‘stile’ over the fence. However, the submitted
plans indicated that in conjunction with the provision of a new fence positioned
along the northern edge of the car park, this access would be replaced with a
gate. However, such details are required to be submitted for approval under
condition 5 relating to boundary details.
Landscape and Trees:
17. Core Strategy Policies CP1 and CP3 require a high quality design that respects
its context. This requirement is amplified by MDDLP Policies CC03 and TB21
which require development proposals to protect and enhance the Borough’s
Green Infrastructure, retaining existing trees, hedges and other landscape
features wherever possible and incorporating high quality - ideally native –

162

planting as an integral part of any scheme, within the context of the Council’s
Landscape Character Assessment.
18. As part of the Local Plan update, the SULV’s (Sites of Urban Landscape Value)
are being reviewed and the whole of Cantley Park is being proposed to be
included in the SULV designation for landscape, recreational, amenity and
ecological reasons. There are a number of large mature / veteran Oaks within or
adjacent to the application site which are significant features within the
landscape.
19. It is proposed that a small section of hedgerow and one tree is removed in
conjunction with the proposals. The tree to be removed is a Lime tree and is
positioned in an area which would serve as a footpath route from the pavilion
building to the pitch. WBC Trees and Landscape officer raises no objection to its
removal, due to its existing proximity to the pavilion building, recognising that it
will not be sustainable or viable to retain in the long term.
20. However, as compensation for the loss of the tree, and in conjunction with the
proposals, a landscape strategy is proposed, which would involve the provision
of new trees and hedge planting located along the northern boundary of the car
park, adjacent to where the new spaces would be provided. The landscape
strategy indicates that this area would accommodate 21 new trees, a hedgerow,
and a wild seed mix on the newly graded embankment of the field, along with
other locations of species rich grassland planting to provide ecological
enhancements to the site. These proposed mitigation measures are therefore
considered to satisfactorily demonstrate that the loss of the tree and small area
of hedgerow will be replaced with a significant and acceptable amount of
mitigation planting. The landscape proposals are therefore considered
acceptable in the context of the proposed development, and will provide a
softening effect to the edge of the car park, and will also be of ecological benefit,
as referred to below.
21. Further details and planting specifications relating to the landscape strategy are
proposed to be secured by condition 9. Therefore, subject to the implementation
of such agreed details, the landscape proposals for the scheme are considered
acceptable.
Ecology:
22. Core Strategy Policy CP7, carried forward by MDD LP Policy TB23, requires
appropriate protection of species and habitats of conservation value. Design
Principle 1b (i-ii) is concerned with protection of ecological habitat and
biodiversity features, together with mitigation of any impacts that do arise.
23. A Preliminary Ecological Assessment was submitted with the application, which
has been reviewed by WBC Ecology Officer. The assessment concluded that the
protected species of bats could potentially be impacted by the proposals, as
locations on the pavilion building and some trees were identified as having bat
roost potential. Therefore, in order to establish presence or otherwise, dawn and
dusk bat surveys were subsequently undertaken. However, these did not reveal
any evidence of bat roosting activity within the pavilion building. On this basis,
WBC ecologist is satisfied that the surveys indicate that a high conservation
status roost is unlikely to be present in the pavilion building. Notwithstanding this,

163

condition 11 requires the incorporation of relevant ecological mitigation measures
for protected species, in the event that any further evidence of bat roosts are
discovered during the scheme implementation.
24. As mentioned previously, the AGP would be lit when necessary through the
provision of 6 floodlighting columns. The lighting levels associated with these has
been amended since the initial submission following concerns raised by WBC
ecologist regarding the outward spill levels upon the adjacent bat commuting and
foraging corridor running through the site. The amendments include baffles being
installed on the light fittings, and a different lighting spectrum which has reduced
the degree of outward lightspill. The revised details are considered acceptable
with regards to light sensitive species and condition 6 requires their installation in
accordance with such approved details. With these measures, the local planning
authority can be confident that the proposal will maintain the favourable
conservation status of protected species that have been identified as using the
site.
Net gain for biodiversity
25. The NPPF para 170 (d) requires development to provide net gains for
biodiversity where possible. A biodiversity net gain plan has been submitted as
part of the proposed landscape strategy plan which is considered to demonstrate
that biodiversity net gain would be achieved in accordance with the NPPF and
MDD Policy TB23.
26. However, whilst not currently mandatory, there is emerging national policy
relating to the introduction of a Biodiversity Net Gain mandatory requirement of
10% and it is considered that such provision could be achieved on this site in
conjunction with the landscaping proposals. However, it is not expected that the
full details of such provision can be understood until such time that the detailed
landscaping plans required under condition 9 are submitted for approval. As
such, condition 18 is recommended to require the provision of such details.
Therefore, subject to the approval of details relating to the above referenced
conditions, it is considered that the proposals are acceptable in ecological terms.
Access and Movement:
27. In line with Core Strategy Policy CP6 – Managing Travel Demand and MDDLP
Policy CC07 – Parking, additional on-site parking is proposed in conjunction with
the proposals.
Parking and sustainability
28. A Transport Statement accompanied the application and has been reviewed by
WBC Highways. As previously mentioned, the proposals include the provision of
an additional 39 parking spaces, four of which would be large enough to
accommodate mini-buses. This would bring the total level of parking across the
site to 164 spaces. WBC Highways are satisfied with the proposed level and
layout of the parking provision for the proposals.
29. Notwithstanding this, some of the comments received at the application
consultation stage referred to the limited bus services to the site, and therefore
do not consider the site to be sustainably accessible other than to local residents
or people travelling by car. However, due to the location of the park being
partially in the North Wokingham Strategic Development Location, it is

164

considered that non-vehicle modes of access to the park will improve as part of
the wider SDL sustainable travel infrastructure measures i.e. the site can be
accessed from the adjacent Northern Distributor Road which includes a 3m wide
pedestrian/cycle path. Some of the new sections of this route connecting Coppid
Beach roundabout with the Reading road are already open, including the Bell
Foundry Lane section which runs along the northern boundary of the site. A new
bus stop is also being installed on Twyford Road, close to the main entrance to
the park, in conjunction with improved local bus service in the area. Such
improvements have been secured in conjunction with the SDL developments in
the area. In addition to this pedestrian / cycle connectivity is being improved in
the local area and to the town centre as part of the wider developments. As such
the site is considered to be well connected. It is also considered likely that for
sporting events, such as competitions or leagues, participants are likely to travel
by private minibus which will also limit impacts on the network.
30. As the car park is shared between a number of uses on site, the Transport
Statement submission included a parking utilisation exercise, the results of which
are considered to have satisfactorily demonstrated that the level of parking
provision can acceptably accommodate the day to day on-site parking demands.
Notwithstanding this, WBC Highways have recommended a condition is imposed
requiring a parking management strategy for the site, in order to ensure that the
car park is appropriately managed to ensure there is no overlap between any
large scale events proposed by other users of the car park and/or the users of
the pitches (condition 12).
31. At present, there are no electric vehicle charging points on site, and therefore in
accordance with existing Policy CC07 and emerging guidance, four of the
existing parking spaces located next to the pavilion building would be designed
for this purpose, the details for which would be secured by condition 14. The
original submission proposed two such spaces, and has therefore been
increased to 4 spaces following comments from WBC Highways. Also in line with
Highways comments, a further two spaces next to the pavilion building will be
designated for users with disabilities, in order to bring this provision in line with
WBC parking standards. An area has also now been incorporated in the layout
for the parking of motorcycles as well as a covered cycle stand to accommodate
12 stands (24 bicycles). This would be positioned close to the west end of
pavilion building. The originally proposed location on the southern side of the car
park was not considered suitable by both the Crime Prevention Design Advisor
as well as WBC Highways, and as such has been moved to an area where it will
benefit from natural surveillance from the pitches as well as from the pavilion
building. The revised proposed location is therefore now considered acceptable.
Details of the cycle store enclosure is secured by condition 15.
32. The proposal originally included a 1m wide footpath behind the new parking area.
Whilst this was welcomed, in line with Highway comments this has been
increased to 2m wide and will be required to be constructed with appropriate
dropped kerbs and tactile paving. Such details would be secured under the hard
and soft landscaping details required under condition 9.
Highway Safety and Traffic Impact
33. As the proposals do not include any proposed changes to the nature of
the existing uses on site, the proposals do not give rise to concerns

165

relating to Highway safety or Traffic Impact in accordance with MDD Policy CP6.
Any potential construction related traffic issues should be satisfactorily dealt with
through the submission of a Construction Method Statement as required by
condition 11.
Flooding and Drainage:
34. Core Strategy Policy CP1 and MDDLP Policies CC09 and CC10 establish that
new development should avoid increasing and where possible reduce flood risk
(from all sources) by first developing in areas with lowest flood risk, carrying out a
Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) where required and managing surface water in a
sustainable manner.
35. The application site falls within Flood Zone 1 where the risk of flooding is low.
The application is, however, supported by a Flood Risk Assessment along with a
Drainage Strategy. The existing drainage system for the playing pitches comprise
a series of main and carrier drains which run to an open drainage ditch on the
Bell Foundry Lane boundary, then connect to a culvert under the highway to
outfall in the Ashridge Stream. This system is considered outdated and is
proposed to be replaced, and although will continue to drain to the same outfall
location, this would be at controlled rates, in agreement with WBC as the Lead
Local Flood Authority (LLFA). The newly proposed drainage system for the grass
pitches will also incorporate the drainage system for the AGP, whilst surface
water associated with the additional car parking area will be directed via road
gullies into the main highway drainage. The improved drainage for the pitches
will improve water run off over the existing situation.
36. WBC Flood Risk and Drainage Officer has reviewed the submitted
documentation and considers the proposed drainage strategy to be acceptable
subject to further details (secured under condition 16) relating to calculations
indicating the greenfield runoff rate from the site; full calculations relating to the
capacity of attenuation features to cater for 1 in 100 year flood event with a 40%
allowance for climate change and runoff controlled at Greenfield rates, (or
preferably better), along with details demonstrating how any SuDS for this
development would be managed and maintained throughout the lifespan of the
development.
Environmental Health and Residential Amenity:
37. Core Strategy Policy CP3 requires that new development should be of a high
quality of design that does not cause significant detriment to the amenities of
adjoining land users and their quality of life. MDD Policy CC06 proposals must
demonstrate how they have addressed noise impacts to protect noise sensitive
receptors.
38. The proposals are not introducing new development in terms of the land use,
however, the provision of the AGP will enable its use all year round and later into
the evenings through the provision of the surface material associated lighting. As
such, an acoustic report has been submitted with the application which has been
reviewed by WBC scientific officer. The noise assessment measured predicted
noise levels arising from the use of the AGP on the nearest noise sensitive
receptors i.e. the three residential properties located to the west of the proposed
pitch, which are located inside the vehicular entrance to the park. The nearest of

166

these properties is located approximately 94 metres from the nearest boundary
of the proposed pitch.
39. However, the acoustic report concludes that the predicted noise levels
associated with the use of the AGP would be comfortably within noise guidelines
and as such no noise mitigation measures are considered necessary in this
instance. Notwithstanding this, a condition is recommended in relation to the
hours of use of the pitch as well as a condition restricting the provision of a public
address system in order to ensure suitable restrictions in respect of protecting
existing residential amenities. Conditions (6 &7) are therefore recommended in
this respect.
40. A floodlighting impact assessment has also been submitted which has been
designed to comply with the Institution of Lighting Professionals guidelines, which
WBC Scientific officer also raises no objection to. As referred to earlier in the
report, the lighting has also been designed in order to minimise outwards
lightspill in order to ensure their operation would not have a detrimental impact
upon the bat commuting/foraging route along the existing trees adjacent to the
pitch.
Archaeology:
41. MDD Policy TB25 states that in areas of high archaeological potential, applicants
will be required to provide a detailed assessment of the impact on archaeological
remains. If development is likely to affect an area of high archaeological potential
or an area which is likely to contain archaeological remains, the presumption is
that appropriate measures shall be taken to protect remains by preservation in
situ. Where this is not practical, applicants shall provide for excavation, recording
and archiving of the remains.
42. However, the application site is not located within an area identified as being of
high archaeological importance, and as such a detailed assessment is not
required in this instance. This is acknowledged within the response received from
Berkshire Archaeology’s response which advised that there are no known
heritage assets within the area of Cantley Park Recreation Ground. Their
response advised that as the development proposal will generally involve
superficial ground works or deeper works of very modest area, it would not be
proportionate in this case to seek archaeological investigation, should the
application be permitted. They therefore advised that no further action is required
in relation to the application with regards to archaeological matters.
Sustainable Design/Construction:
43. Core Strategy Policy CP1 requires development to contribute towards the goal of
achieving zero carbon development by including on-site renewable energy
features and minimising energy and water consumption. This is amplified by
MDDLP policies CC04: Sustainable design and construction and CC05:
Renewable energy and decentralised energy networks and the Sustainable
Design and Construction Supplementary Planning Document (May 2010).
44. A sustainability report has been submitted in support of the application, which
sets out the various measures which were considered and are proposed in the
refurbishment of the existing pavilion building in order to contribute to reducing
energy demand on site, and as such, reduce CO2 emissions. Such measures the

167

provision of new insulation into the existing cavity walls where possible, as the
existing cavity wall construction contains basic insulation levels due to the age of
the building. It is also proposed that the existing roof insulation will be replaced
with new insulation above ceiling level.
45. The proposed refurbishment works to the building will also include the provision
of a new energy efficient boiler plant and LED light fittings in conjunction with the
replacement of the buildings’ mechanical and electrical services. A rainwater
harvesting system is also provided to collect the roof water from the pavilion
building to a holding tank in order to provide a water supply for pitch irrigation
during the dry periods of the year, thereby reducing water consumption on site.
46. Externally, it is proposed that the AGP flood lights will have low-energy LED light
fittings. Photovoltaic solar panels are also proposed to be incorporated on the
south side of the roof of the pavilion building, serving as a renewable energy
measure which will contribute to a reduction in CO2 emissions in accordance
with the aims of Policy CC05. However, as the proposals relate to the
refurbishment of an existing building and would not be creating over 1000sqm of
floorspace, the requirement to demonstrate that the proposals would deliver a
minimum 10% reduction in carbon emissions through renewable energy or low
carbon technology do not apply in this instance. The proposals nonetheless
incorporate sustainable design measures which will contribute to reducing energy
demand on site, and as such, reduce CO2 emissions.
47. Therefore, subject to the implementation of the energy efficiency and renewable
energy measures as proposed (required under condition 17), the development is
considered to be acceptable in respect of contributing towards the goal of
achieving zero carbon developments.
Waste and Recycling
48. MDDLP Policy CC04 requires all development to incorporate suitable waste
management facilities including on-site recycling. The Design and Access
statement advises that there is existing onsite provision for accommodating
waste and recycling. This area is located close to the pavilion building, and
is proposed to be continued for this purpose to accommodate the additional
waste and recycling that the café may generate. This arrangement is considered
acceptable in accordance with policy CC04.
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL), Special Protection Area (SPA)
Community Infrastructure Levy:
49. The nature of the proposed development is not CIL liable.
Special Protection Area
50. Due to the nature of the proposals being for the development of a recreational
nature, they would not give rise to issues concerning possible impacts up on
the SPA.
Employment Skills:
51. Policy TB12 of the Wokingham Borough Council MDD, requires planning
applications for all major development (both commercial and residential) in
Wokingham Borough to submit an employment skills plan (ESP) with a

168

supporting method statement. However, in this instance WBC Economic
Prosperity and Place team advice that an ESP would not be required in this
instance due to the nature of the proposals which would not provide new
floorspace in excess of 1000sq.m.

The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010)
In determining this application the Council is required to have due regard to its
obligations under the Equality Act 2010. The key equalities protected characteristics
include age, disability, gender, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership,
pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief. There is no indication or evidence
(including from consultation on the application) that the protected groups identified by
the Act have or will have different needs, experiences, issues and priorities in relation to
this particular planning application and there would be no significant adverse impacts
upon protected groups as a result of the development.
CONCLUSION
It is considered that the proposals are acceptable in planning terms as they would result
in an improved sports pitch provision on site together with refurbished and improved
ancillary facilities which will also benefit users of other facilities within the park.
Appropriate mitigation is proposed to overcome impacts, where necessary and the
proposals would not result in significant harm to existing surrounding residential
amenity. The application is considered to comply with Development Plan polices and
can therefore be recommended for approval
Encs. Existing site layout; proposed site layout plan; proposed car park plan; proposed
landscape strategy; existing floorplans and elevations; proposed floorplans and elevations;
proposed AGP details

169

This page is intentionally left blank

171

This page is intentionally left blank

173

This page is intentionally left blank

175

This page is intentionally left blank

177

This page is intentionally left blank

179

This page is intentionally left blank

181

This page is intentionally left blank

183

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10.
Application
Number
201050

Expiry Date

Parish

Ward

10/07/2020

Wokingham

Wescott

Applicant
Site Address

Wokingham Borough Council
Spin Bar, Alexandra House, Alexandra Court, Wokingham, RG40
2LD
Full planning application for the change of use of night club on the
ground floor of Alexandra House to a flexible mixed use comprising
A1 (Retail), A2 (Financial and Professional Services), A3 (Cafes
and Restaurants), A4 (Drinking Establishments), and/or A5 (Hot
Food Takeaways) and B1(a) (Office) plus changes to fenestration
at ground floor. Part retrospective.
Full
20
Natalie Jarman
for Applicant is Wokingham Borough Council
by

Proposal

Type
PS Category
Officer
Reason
determination
committee

FOR CONSIDERATION BY
REPORT PREPARED BY

Planning Committee on Wednesday, 10 June 2020
Assistant Director – Place

SUMMARY
This planning application is before the planning committee as the application is made and
the land is owned by Wokingham Borough Council and involves an increase in staff
numbers.
This is a proposal for change of use to a flexible mixed use comprising A1 (Retail), A2
(Financial and Professional Services), A3 (Cafes and Restaurants), A4 (Drinking
Establishments), and/or A5 (Hot Food Takeaways) and B1a (Office) plus changes to
fenestration at ground floor. Part retrospective.
Members may recall considering an application at the building in May 2019 for change of
use of the ground floor from ‘Spin and Night club’ to a mixed use comprising retail (use
class A1) and Business (use class B1a), plus changes to fenestration to ground floor.
The proposal would provide 264 square metres of additional office floor space and four
retail (A1/A2/A3/A4 and/or A5) units ranging between 46 to 47 square metres. The
proposed office and retail use classes are considered acceptable given the site’s town
centre location. The proposal would not result in the loss of any Use Class B floor space.
The proposed external changes would respect the character and appearance of the
application building and the surrounding Conservation Area, subject to a condition being
secured requiring the external finishes to match those on the building. The proposed
change of use would not cause undue harm upon the amenities enjoyed by neighbouring
occupiers.
This planning application does not provide any allocated parking. However, given its town
centre location and close proximity to Elms Road Car Park, this arrangement is
considered acceptable and is unlikely to cause parking stress on the surrounding streets.

185

The proposal would comply with development plan policy and is recommended for
approval, subject to conditions.

PLANNING STATUS
 Major Development Location: Wokingham
 Town Centre
 Primary Shopping Area
 Conservation Area
 Archaeological Site
 Wokingham Borough Council owned land
 Nitrate Vulnerable Zones Groundwater and Surfacewater: Emmbrook
 Bat Roost Habitat Suitability
 SSSI Impact Risk Zone
 Thames Basin Heath: Special Protection Zone (7km)
 Aerodrome Safeguarding: Heathrow
 Submitted Site Local Plan Update
 Affordable Housing Thresholds
RECOMMENDATION
That the committee authorise the GRANT OF PLANNING PERMISSION subject to
the following conditions and informatives:
Conditions:
1.

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three
years from the date of this permission.

Reason: In pursuance of s.91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended
by s.51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).
2.

This permission is in respect of the submitted application plans and drawings
numbered Floor Plans (existing) (4075.1002 PL1), Elevations (proposed) (4075.2001
PL1), Floor Plans (proposed) (4075.1003 PL1), Elevations (proposed) 4075.2002
PL1), Location and Site Plans (4075.9001 PL2), Design and Access Statement
prepared by David Smith 28/04/20 and Planning Statement prepared by David Smith
28/04/20 received by the local planning authority on 29th April 2020. The development
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details unless other minor
variations are agreed in writing after the date of this permission and before
implementation with the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is carried out in
accordance with the application form and associated details hereby approved.
3.

The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the
development hereby permitted shall be of a similar appearance to those used in the
existing building unless other minor variations are agreed in writing after the date of
this permission and before implementation with the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the building is satisfactory. Relevant
policy: Policies CP1 and CP3 of the adopted Wokingham Borough Core Strategy (2010).

186

4.

Restriction of use - Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning,
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) (or any Order
revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without modification), the units as shown
on the approved proposed ground floor plan shall only be used for A1/A2/A3/A4
and/or A5 and the remainder of the ground floor as B1(a) office purposes as defined
by the Town and Country Planning [Use Classes] Order 1987 (as amended) or in any
provision equivalent to that Class in any statutory instrument revoking and reenacting that Order with or without modification.

Reason: In granting this permission the local planning authority has had regard to the
special circumstances of this case and wishes to have the opportunity of exercising
control over any subsequent alternative use in the interests of the amenities of the area.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1, CP3 & CP13, and Managing Development
Delivery Local Plan policy TB15.
5.

No customer shall be permitted on any Class A3 restaurant and cafe, A4 drinking
establishments or A5 hot food takeaways premises hereby permitted outside the
hours of 07:00 and 24:00.

Reason: To safeguard residential amenities Relevant Policies: Core Strategy policies
CP1, CP3 and CP14 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC06.
6. The sound rating level (established in accordance with BS4142:2014) of any
plant, machinery and equipment installed or operated in connection with this
permission shall not exceed, at any time, the prevailing background sound level
at the nearest residential or noise sensitive property. If the plant, machinery or
equipment is to be enclosed details of the enclosure shall be sent to the local
planning authority for their approval before the use of the unit commences.
Reason: To protect the occupants of nearby residential properties from noise.
7.

Prior to the installation of any fume extraction, mechanical ventilation or filtration
equipment which may be required as part of the use hereby approved, details
including the height, position, design and materials of such equipment shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The equipment
shall thereafter be retained, operated and maintained in its approved form and in
accordance with the manufacturer’s recommendations for so long as the use hereby
permitted remains on site.

Reason: In order to safeguard the amenities of adjoining properties and to ensure the
satisfactory appearance of any mechanical equipment. Relevant policy: Core Strategy
policy CP3.
8.

Prior to the commencement of any A3/A4/A5 use, a scheme of works to minimise the
emission of cooking odours shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for
written approval. The permitted use shall not commence until the odour mitigation
measures, as set out in the approved scheme, have been implemented. The odour
mitigation measures shall be maintained and retained for the duration of the
development.

Reason: In the interests of the amenities of neighbouring occupiers. Relevant policy:
Core Strategy policy CP3.

187

Informatives:
1. The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this
application by assessing the proposal against all material considerations, including
planning policies and any representations that may have been received. This planning
application has been the subject of positive and proactive discussions with the applicant.
The decision to grant planning permission in accordance with the presumption in favour
of sustainable development as set out in the NPPF is considered to be a positive outcome
of these discussions.
2. This permission does not convey or imply any approval or consent that may be required
for the display of advertisements on the site for which a separate Advertisement Consent
application may be required. You should be aware that the display of advertisements
without the necessary consent is a criminal offence liable to criminal prosecution
proceedings through the courts.

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
Application Number Proposal
Decision
192004
Full application for the proposed Approved
on
erection of a single storey rear October 2019.
extension to form a boiler room,
following the demolition of existing
smoking shelter at Alexandria
House.

22nd

190395

Full planning application for the Approved on 08th May
proposed change of use of ground 2019
floor from ‘Spin and Night club’ to
mixed use comprising retail (use
class A1) and Business (use class
B1a), plus changes to fenestration to
ground floor.

170695

Full planning application for the part Not proceeded with
change of ground floor night club
from A5 back to Sui Generis.

121789

Application for the proposed part Approved on 5th April
change of use of ground floor 2013.
nightclub to A5 takeaway to serve
internal and external customers.

VAR/2010/0984

Application for variation of Condition Approved on 22nd July
1 of appeal planning consent 2010
F/2008/1976 to extend opening
hours from 02.30 to 03.30 daily (at
Spin Bar Exa House).

188

Refused
on
4th
September
2008
Allowed at appeal on 29th
April 2009

F/2008/1976

Proposed change of use from A4
(drinking establishments) to Sui
Generis
(nightclub)
including
extension of hours (at Exa House).

VAR/2008/1257

Proposed variation to condition 9 of Withdrawn
consent F/2002/4915 to extend
opening hours for the supply of food
and drink from 9:00-23:20 to 9.00 to
2.30 (at Exa House)

VAR/2007/1073

Application for variation to condition Refused on 11th June
9 of approval F/2002/4915 to extend 2007.
opening hours for the supply or
consumption of food or drink from
09:00 - 23.20 on any day to 09:00 02:30 on any day.

F/2005/4915

Proposed extension to office building Approved
on
(B1a) and change of use of ground December 2005.
floor from B1a office use to A1, A2,
A3 & A4 (shops, financial and
professional service, restaurants and
pub/bar) use (at Exa House).

F/2001/3437

Proposed three storey extension to Withdrawn
office building for (B1) office use (at
Exa House).

SUMMARY INFORMATION
For Commercial
Site Area
Previous land use(s) and floorspace(s)
Proposed floorspace of each use
Change in floorspace (+/-)
Number of jobs created/lost
Existing parking spaces
Proposed parking spaces

14th

887m²
Sui Generis (418m²) and Office Entrance
(41m²)
Office (264m²) and (195m²)
No increase in floor space
10 full time jobs created
None
None

189

CONSULTATION RESPONSES
WBC Environmental Health

Recommend
conditions.

approval

with

WBC Drainage

Recommend approval with no
conditions.

WBC Highways

Recommend approval with no
conditions.

WBC Growth & Delivery

Broadly supported by the town
centre development plan policies,
particularly CP14 of the Core
Strategy and TB15 of the MDD.

WBC Cleaner & Greener (Waste
Services)

No comments received.

WBC Conservation
Recommend approval with no
conditions.
REPRESENTATIONS
Town/Parish Council: Wokingham Town Council: If one or more the units is a restaurant
/ bar Wokingham Town Council would not support anything opening later than the
Giggling Squid.
Officer Comment: The Giggling Squid has planning permission to be open 09:00-23:20
(LPA ref: VAR/2002/6859). It should also be noted that the previous occupier of the
building, Spin Bar had permission to 03.30.
Local Members: No comments received
Neighbours: No comments received

APPLICANTS POINTS
 Application supported by a Planning Statement and Design and Access Statement.
 Works commenced 21st October 2019.
 Substantially implemented planning permission granted in May 2019 (LPA ref:
190395).
 Physical works as approved.
 Parking area to the west.
 Elms Field planning permission (LPA ref: 153125) included use of units A3-A5 and
included a condition restricting hours of operation, applicant willing to accept the
same with this proposal.

190

PLANNING POLICY
National Policy

NPPF

National Planning Policy Framework

Adopted Core Strategy DPD 2010

CP1

Sustainable Development

CP2

Inclusive Communities

CP3

General Principles for Development

CP6

Managing Travel Demand

CP7

Biodiversity

CP8

Thames Basin Heaths Special
Protection Area

CP9

Scale and Location of Development
Proposals

CP13

Town Centres and Shopping

CP14

Growth and Renaissance of
Wokingham Town Centre

CP15

Employment Development

CC01

Presumption in Favour of Sustainable
Development

CC02

Development Limits

CC03

Green Infrastructure, Trees and
Landscaping

CC04

Sustainable Design and Construction

CC05

Renewable energy and decentralised
energy networks

CC06

Noise

CC07

Parking

CC09

Development and Flood Risk (from all
sources)

CC10

Sustainable Drainage

TB15

Major Town, and Small Town/District
Centre Development

TB16

Development for Town Centre Uses

TB20

Service Arrangements and Deliveries
for Employment and Retail Use

TB21

Landscape Character

TB23

Biodiversity and Development

TB24

Designated Heritage Assets

BDG

Borough Design Guide – Section 4

Adopted Managing Development
Delivery Local Plan 2014

Supplementary Planning
Documents
(SPD)

191

PLANNING ISSUES
Site and Surroundings:
1. The application site comprises a three storey building known as Alexandra House.
The building is currently being refurbished, prior to that the building was occupied by
Spin Club and Night Club (sui generis use) on the ground floor and office space on
the first and second floor.
2. The building is located within Wokingham Town Centre and Primary Shopping Area.
The property is located within Wokingham Town Centre Conservation Area.
3. The application site is located within Alexandra Court where there are other
commercial units including a Hairdressers, Restaurant and Public House.
Description of Development:
4. Full planning permission is sought for the change of use of the night club located on
the ground floor of Alexandra House to a flexible mixed use comprising A1 (Retail),
A2 (Financial and Professional Services), A3 (Cafes and Restaurants), A4 (Drinking
Establishments), and/or A5 (Hot Food Takeaways) and Business B1(a) (Office) plus
changes to fenestration at ground floor. The application is part retrospective as the
changes to the fenestration have already taken place.
5. The proposal intends a dual-use permission (granted under permitted development
Class V of Part 3 of Schedule 2 of the General Permitted Development (England)
Order (2015) (Changes of Use) whereby planning permission for separate uses that
can be used flexibly and interchanged over a 10 year period can be applied for.
Whichever use is in operation at the end of that 10 year period becomes the
established lawful use of the property.
6. The proposed office space at the rear of the ground floor measures 264 square
metres to serve as a reception area, meeting rooms, kitchenette and store room. Four
retail units are proposed measuring between 46 and 47 square metres with flexible
mixed use comprising A1 (Retail), A2 (Financial and Professional Services), A3
(Cafes and Restaurants), A4 (Drinking Establishments), and/or A5 (Hot Food
Takeaways) is sought.
7. Access to the retail units would be from the northern elevation facing the courtyard.
There would be a separate entrance to the office accommodation at the eastern end
of the building. Changes to the fenestration and door arrangements are proposed in
order to facilitate the proposed new access points to the building.
8. The proposal would create 10 full-time job opportunities.
Planning History :
9. Planning permission was granted in May 2019 for change of use of ground floor from
‘Spin and Night club’ to mixed use comprising retail (use class A1) and Business (use
class B1a), plus changes to fenestration to ground floor. The proposed office space
measured 264 square metres to serve as a reception area, meeting rooms,
kitchenette and store room. Four A1 retail units were proposed measuring between
46 and 47 square metres.

192

10. Planning permission was granted at appeal in April 2009 for change of use from A4
(drinking establishments) to Sui Generis (Night Club) including extension of hours.
11. In considering the May 2019 application the view was taken that the ground floor of
Alexandra House was sui generis.
Principle of Development:
12. On the 23rd March 2020 the Chief Planning Officer gave initial advice on the
implications for local planning authorities, including to support pubs and restaurants
and ensure access to food during the emergency period. There are new national
permitted development rights that will enable pubs, restaurants and cafes to operate
temporarily as hot food takeaways (A5 use class). To give greater flexibility, the
permitted development rights will also seek to cover cold and pre prepared food and
will allow for takeaway and delivery. The pub, restaurant or café will remain in its
current use class during this period. The permitted development rights will be time
limited to 12 months. Beyond this time, a planning application would be required for
continued use as a takeaway.
13. The National Planning Policy Framework has an underlying presumption in favour of
sustainable development which is carried through to the local Development Plan. The
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan (MDD) Policy CC01 states that planning
applications that accord with the policies in the Development Plan for Wokingham
Borough will be approved without delay, unless material considerations indicate
otherwise.
14. Policy CC02 of the MDD sets out the development limits for each settlement as
defined on the policies map and therefore replaces the proposals map adopted
through the Core Strategy, as per the requirement of policy CP9. Policy CP9 sets out
that development proposals located within development limits will be acceptable in
principle, having regard to the service provisions associated with the major, modest
and limited categories. As the site is within a major development location, the
proposal is acceptable in principle.
15. Policy CP13 of the Core Strategy states that Wokingham town centre, in conjunction
with other town centres, district centres and village centres within the Borough are
suitable in principle to accommodate town centre uses. The supporting text defines
town centre uses as retailing, entertainment, arts and culture, indoor recreation,
leisure, health, community and office uses. Policy CP14 of the Core Strategy states
that Wokingham, as a major town centre in Berkshire, is considered suitable for
growth.
16. Policy TB15 of the MDD establishes that proposals for main town centre uses (as
defined in the NPPF) should demonstrate that they are “of a scale and form that is
compatible with the retail character of the centre and its role in the hierarchy of retail
centres”. They should also demonstrate that “they contribute to the provision of day
and evening/night-time uses” and are compatible with other uses and “enhance
vitality and viability”. The property is not designated as Primary or Secondary
Shopping Frontage. The policy also supports the provision of office uses in vacant or
under used units above ground-floor town centre uses where a suitable/appropriate
level of amenity for occupants can be provided.

193

17. The proposed use of the ground floor space for retail (use class A1, A2, A3, A4 and/or
A5) and office (use class B1a) purposes would provide an appropriate town centre
use within a building that is situated in a town centre location. Prior to the building
being refurbished the building was last in use as a night club, a sui generis use,
however, the nightclub was not in operation and the building had been vacant for a
period of time. Planning permission has been granted for change of use to A1, this
use has not yet been implemented. Notwithstanding the planning permission for use
of the ground in A1 has been implemented through the alterations to the ground floor
fenestrations. The May 2019 permission also granted permission for the office use at
the rear of the building, similar to the current proposal.
18. There are no policies set out in the Development Plan which seeks the protection of
nightclubs, and it should be noted that there is an existing Public House in close
proximity to the application site (i.e. The Gig House). It is therefore considered that
the proposed office and retail uses would complement the surrounding context,
particularly noting the strategic mixed use scheme currently being constructed to the
south of the application site at ‘Land between Wellington Road and Shute End (Elms
Field and Paddocks Car Park)’.
19. The proposed office accommodation is proposed to be located to the rear of the
building and the proposed access to the existing office accommodation has already
been established. The proposed retail units are considered to be of a scale and form
that is compatible with the retail character of the centre. The proposal is for flexible
mixed use comprising A1 (Retail), A2 (Financial and Professional Services), A3
(Cafes and Restaurants), A4 (Drinking Establishments), and/or A5 (Hot Food
Takeaways) which would contribute to the provision of day and evening/night time
uses. The proposal would introduce retail floor space into floor space which was
formerly a night club, a sui generis use enhancing the vitality and viability of the area.
20. The applicant seeks flexible planning permission to allow the site to be occupied
within five ‘A’ uses to secure occupiers for the four units. Given that the use would fall
within class ‘A’, it is considered this would be of an appropriate scale and form in
relation to the wider Wokingham town centre which benefits from retail units of varying
types and scales. Whilst the application site does have permission to be in A1 use,
the use has not yet been implemented and the previous use was sui generis as a
Night Club. The flexibility of the permission could be controlled by condition.
21. Uses including A3/A4/A5 can satisfactorily contribute to day and night-time
economies. Furthermore, the units would still encourage visits to the site which may
lead to linked trips in order to visit other units. The proposal includes the provision of
A1 with a flexibility that would allow the site to be occupied even when there is a lack
of interest for A1 retail use, it is considered that it would enhance the vitality and
viability of the town centre.
22. Given the above, it is considered that the principle of the proposed change of use
is acceptable in planning policy terms.

194

Character of the Area:
23. Policy CP1 of the Core Strategy states that planning permission will be granted for
development proposals that maintain or enhance the high quality of the environment.
Policy CP3 of the Core Strategy states planning permission will be granted if
development is of an appropriate scale of activity, mass, layout, built form, height,
materials and character to the area together with a high quality of design without
detriment to the amenities of adjoining land users including open spaces or occupiers
and their quality of life.
24. Policy TB24 of the Managing Development Delivery Local Plan (MDD) states that the
Borough Council will conserve and seek the enhancement of designated heritage
assets in the Borough and their setting.
25. Alexandra House is not a designated heritage asset, but it is located within the
Wokingham Town Centre Conservation Area. It is noted that the site is also located
near to a number of neighbouring listed buildings. The subject building is a modern
building set back from Denmark Street to the rear of a block of listed buildings. The
proposed changes involves new door openings and fenestration changes along the
northern and eastern elevations. It is considered that the proposed external changes
would be in-keeping with the architectural style of the application building, and would
respect the overall character and appearance of the Conservation Area.
26. The Council’s Conservation Officer has raised no objection to this application. The
previously recommended condition requiring the materials to match those on the
building has been carried forward.
27. The Conservation Officer did note that further consideration perhaps needs be given
to the fenestration form of the retail units to accommodate an expected need for
signage for each retail unit. The Conservation Officer raised concern that the
proposals do not cater for signage to be incorporated into the frontages or be housed
in a defined space over. Concern is raised by the Conservation Officer expected need
for signage it may end up as an ad hoc approach to the form size and location of
signage that could be to the diminishment of the overall appearance of Alexandra
House. However, these are the proposals submitted and the units take a similar form
to those within the Elms Field development and these elements already have
permission in May 2019. Signage proposals would be considered on their own merit.
An informative is recommended advising of a need for the need to obtain
Advertisement Consent for signage. The subject site is located within a modern retail
development and the proposed aluminium shopfront is considered to be in keeping
with the character of the Alexandra Court. As such, it is considered that the proposal
would not have a harmful impact upon the character and appearance of the building
or surrounding Conservation Area. This would be compliant with policies CP1 and
CP3 of the Core Strategy and Policy TB24 of the MDD.
28. The proposed change of use to flexible A1/2/3/4/5 is not considered to have any
additional impact on the character of the town centre since other ground floor units
are of mixed retail use including banks, restaurants and takeaways. As such, the
proposal is considered to be in keeping with the general retail character of the area.

195

Residential Amenities:
29. Policy CP3 of the Core Strategy aims to ensure that there is no detrimental impact
upon neighbour amenity. Policy CC06 of the MDD states that the noise impact of the
development must be assessed. The application site prior to being refurbished was
a Night Club, a Sui Generis use. It is also noted that the site is within close proximity
to other commercial units and business premises, notably a Public House,
hairdressers, offices and restaurants.
30. The nearest residential development are the flats located at The Plaza and Regent
Court. However, given the surrounding context and the previous occupier of the
application site, it is considered that the proposed mixed retail (A1/2/3/4/5) and office
(use class B1a) uses would not result in an unacceptable impact upon the living
conditions of neighbouring occupiers in terms of noise and disturbance, and would
be reflective of the other uses nearby.
31. If approved, a condition would be secured restricting the hours of operation of the
proposed retail units.
32. The only physical changes to the building is to the accesses to the building, it is not
considered that these changes would have any harmful impact on residential amenity
in terms of loss of light, overbearing or overlooking.
33. There is the potential for all of the units to be occupied by restaurant / take-away
premises which may have greater potential for adverse impact than the permitted A1
use. However, arguably the proposed used are less likely to impact local residents
than the previous use as a bar and nightclub. The Environmental Health Officer has
been consulted on the application who has recommended a restriction on hours of
operation in line with nearby building recently consented to prevent operation
between 00:00 and 07:00 hours to minimise potential impacts. The condition is
suggested in the applicant’s accompanying planning statement.
34. The Environmental Health Officer also recommends a condition that the sound rating
level (established in accordance with BS4142:2010) of any plant, machinery and
equipment installed or operated in connection with this permission shall not exceed,
at any time, the prevailing background sound level at the nearest residential or noise
sensitive property. If the plant, machinery or equipment is to be enclosed details of
the enclosure shall be sent to the local planning authority for their approval before the
development commences, to protect occupants of nearby residential properties from
noise.
35. In addition it is recommended that a conditions requiring details of any fume
extraction, mechanical ventilation or filtration equipment be submitted and agreed nd
a scheme of works to minimise the emission of cooking odours for any units in A3/A4
or A5 use.
36. Overall, it is considered that the proposal would not cause undue harm upon the living
conditions of neighbouring occupiers, in accordance with policy CP3 of the Core
Strategy and Policy CC06 of the MDD.

196

Access and Movement:
37. Policy CP6 of the Core Strategy seeks to manage travel demand with sustainable
travel modes, appropriate vehicle parking and minimisation of traffic impacts. Policy
CC07 and Appendix 2 of the MDD sets out the minimum parking requirements for
development proposals.
38. It is acknowledged that no parking provision would be provided as part of this planning
application. However, consideration must be given to the location of the site.
39. The site is located in the town centre meaning that potential customers of the
proposed retail units and users of the office space would have good access to public
transport, and would not necessarily be reliant upon driving. For those customers or
employees who wish to drive, it is noted that ‘Elms Road Car Park’ is within a relatively
short walking distance to the site. With regards to servicing, there is an existing
vehicular access point along Elms Road that other commercial units currently use for
deliveries and servicing.
40. The Council’s Highway Officer has raised no objection to this application on parking
or highway grounds.
41. On this basis, it is considered that proposal would not result in unacceptable parking
pressures on surrounding streets or prejudice highway safety.
Flooding and Drainage:
42. The existing building is within flood zone 1 with no increase in the existing building
footprint. The application has been reviewed by the Council’s Drainage Engineer who
has no objection to the principle of the development, as proposed.
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL), Special Protection Area (SPA) & Affordable
Housing:
43. Community Infrastructure Levy: As the proposal is for the change of use and there is
no additional floorspace proposed, the development is not CIL liable in accordance
with the adopted CIL charging schedule.
44. Special Protection Area: The Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area (SPA)
was designated under European Directive due to its importance for heathland bird
species. Policy CP8 of the Core Strategy specifies proposals that provide 50 or more
residential units within 7km (linear) will be individually assessed for whether a
significant effect upon the SPA is likely to occur in this regard, the site is within the
7km buffer of the Thames Basin Heath Special Protection Area but given the nature
of the development, the proposal does not trigger further mitigation or assessment.

197

The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010)
In determining this application the Council is required to have due regard to its obligations
under the Equality Act 2010. The key equalities protected characteristics include age,
disability, gender, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and
maternity, race, religion or belief. There is no indication or evidence (including from
consultation on the application) that the protected groups identified by the Act have or will
have different needs, experiences, issues and priorities in relation to this particular
planning application and there would be no significant adverse impacts upon protected
groups as a result of the development.
The proposed retail units and office space would be accessible to wheelchair users from
the ramp on Denmark Road or the relatively flat pavement on Elms Road. The proposed
door entrances would be at least 1.5 metres wide, which would provide sufficient
clearance for wheel chairs. Furthermore, there is a lift on the ground floor level of the
building for those requiring its service to the first and second floor offices.

CONCLUSION
The proposal complies with the relevant development plan policies and is consistent with
the provisions of the NPPF specifically in relation to promoting sustainable development,
conserving the environment, protecting neighbouring amenity and highway safety. In the
absence of any material considerations of sufficient weight, it is recommended that the
proposal be approved subject to conditions.

198

Proposed new entrance doors
to retail outlets

Proposed new entrance doors
to retail outlets

Proposed new principal
entrance doors to offices

SHOP UNIT 4
46.5m²

SHOP UNIT 3
47.2m²

SHOP UNIT 2
47.2m²

SHOP UNIT 1
46.4m²

LIFT

Entrance

Ex. Service Duct

Board Room

Server Room
Meeting
Room

Kitchenette
and dining
room

Store Room

Reception
Office

Scale 1:100

Scale 1:100

MD Office
LIFT

LIFT

Kitchenette Area

Meeting
Room

Kitchenette Area

199

ROOF PLAN

GROUND FLOOR PLAN

Meeting
Room

Wokingham Borough Council
Civic Offices
Wokingham
RG40 1BN
Refurbishment of Alexandra House
Denmark Street
Wokingham
RG40 2SL

Floor Plans (proposed)

FIRST FLOOR PLAN
Scale 1:100

SECOND FLOOR PLAN
Scale 1:100

Psa

1:100

January 2019

4075.1003 PL1

This page is intentionally left blank

201
Proposed new principal
entrance doors to offices

Proposed new entrance doors
to retail outlets

Proposed new entrance doors
to retail outlets

Wokingham Borough Council
Civic Offices
Wokingham
RG40 1BN
Refurbishment of Alexandra House
Denmark Street
Wokingham
RG40 2SL

Elevations (proposed)

Psa

1:100

January 2019

4075.2002 PL1

This page is intentionally left blank

Proposed new entrance doors
to retail outlets

Proposed new entrance doors
to retail outlets

Proposed new principal
entrance doors to offices

SHOP UNIT 4
46.5m²

SHOP UNIT 3
47.2m²

SHOP UNIT 2
47.2m²

SHOP UNIT 1
46.4m²

LIFT

Entrance

Ex. Service Duct

Board Room

Server Room
Meeting
Room

Kitchenette
and dining
room

Store Room

Reception
Office

Scale 1:100

Scale 1:100

MD Office
LIFT

LIFT

Kitchenette Area

Meeting
Room

Kitchenette Area

203

ROOF PLAN

GROUND FLOOR PLAN

Meeting
Room

Wokingham Borough Council
Civic Offices
Wokingham
RG40 1BN
Refurbishment of Alexandra House
Denmark Street
Wokingham
RG40 2SL

Floor Plans (proposed)

FIRST FLOOR PLAN
Scale 1:100

SECOND FLOOR PLAN
Scale 1:100

Psa

1:100

January 2019

4075.1003 PL1

This page is intentionally left blank

